REFINITIV

DELTA REPORT
10-K

CWCO - CONSOLIDATED WATER CO. LT
10-K - DECEMBER 31, 2023 COMPARED TO 10-K - DECEMBER 31, 2022

The following comparison report has been automatically generated

TOTAL DELTAS 12615

CHANGES 408
DELETIONS 796
ADDITIONS 11411

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 1/133

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies. <


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

Table of Contents

UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, DC 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark One)

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 2023

OR

O  TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the i ition period from to

Commission File Number: 0-25248

CONSOLIDATED WATER CO. LTD.

(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its charter)

CAYMAN ISLANDS 98-0619652

(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

incorporation or organization)

Regatta Office Park
Windward Three, 4th Floor, West Bay Road
P.O. Box 1114

Grand Cayman, KY1-1102, Cayman Islands N/A

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (345) 945-4277

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class: Trading Symbol Name of each exchange on which registered

Common Stock, $0.60 Par Value Trading Symbol CWCO Name of each exchange on which registered

Common Stock, $0.60 Par Value Ccwco The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC (NASDAQ Global Select Market)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.
YesOo NoX
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act.
YesO NoX

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such

shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.
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YesXI NoO

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (Sec. 232.405 of this chapter)
during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files).

YesX NoO

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large filer, an filer, a non-: filer, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of

“large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company,” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer 0 Accelerated filer O Non-accelerated filer (XI Smaller reporting company

Emerging growth company O

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards

provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management’s assessment of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting under Section 404(b)

of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C. 7262(b)) by the registered public accounting firm that prepared or issued its audit report. [

If securities are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act, indicate by check mark whether the financial statements of the registrant included in the filing reflect the correction of an error to

previously issued financial statements. CJ

Indicate by check mark whether any of those error corrections are restatements that required a recovery analysis of incentive-based compensation received by any of the registrant’s executive officers

during the relevant recovery period pursuant to §240.10D-1(b). O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).

Yes O No X1

The aggregate market value of common stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant, based on the closing sales price for the registrant's common shares, as reported on the NASDAQ Global Select

Market on June 30, 2022 June 30, 2023, was $209,109,778. $360,491,856.

As of March 24, 2023 March 20, 2024, 15,722,244 15,802,187 shares of the registrant's common shares were outstanding.
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE:

Portions of the registrant's Proxy Statement related to its 2023 2024 Annual Shareholders’ Meeting will be subsequently filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and are incorporated by

reference into Part Il of this Form 10-K.
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995, including but not limited to, statements regarding our future revenue, future plans, objectives, expectations and events, assumptions

and estimates. Forward-looking statements can be identified by use of the words or phrases “will,” “will likely result,” “are expected to,” “will

continue,” “estimate,” “project,” “potential,” “believe,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “expect,” “intend,” or similar expressions and variations of such
words. Statements that are not historical facts are based on our current expectations, beliefs, assumptions, estimates, forecasts and

projections for our business and the industry and markets related to our business.

The forward-looking statements contained in this report are not guarantees of future performance and involve assumptions and certain risks
and uncertainties which are difficult to predict. Actual outcomes and results may differ materially from what is expressed in such forward-

looking statements. Important factors which may affect these actual outcomes and results include, without limitation:
e tourism and weather conditions in the areas we serve;

e the economic, political and social conditions of each country in which we conduct or plan to conduct business;
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our relationships with the government entities and other customers we serve;

regulatory matters, including resolution of the negotiations for the renewal of our retail license on Grand Cayman;
our ability to successfully enter new markets; and

other factors, including those “Risk Factors” set forth under Part I, Item 1A. “Risk Factors” in this Annual Report.

The forward-looking statements in this Annual Report speak as of its date. We expressly disclaim any obligation or undertaking to update or
revise any forward-looking statement contained in this Annual Report to reflect any change in our expectations with regard thereto or any
change in events, conditions or circumstances on which any forward-looking statement is based, except as may be required by law.
References herein to “we,” “our,” “ours” and “us” refer to Consolidated Water Co. Ltd. and its subsidiaries.

Note Regarding Currency and Exchange Rates

Unless otherwise indicated, all references to “$” or “US$” are to United States dollars.

The exchange rate for conversion of Cayman Island dollars (CI$) into US$, as determined by the Cayman Islands Monetary Authority, has
been fixed since April 1974 at US$1.20 per CI$1.00.

The exchange rate for conversion of Bahamas dollars (B$) into US$, as determined by the Central Bank of The Bahamas, has been fixed
since 1973 at US$1.00 per B$1.00.

The official currency of the British Virgin Islands is the US$.
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PART |

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Overview

Through our subsidiaries and affiliate, we provide the following services to our customers in the Cayman Islands, The Bahamas, the United
States and the British Virgin Islands:

e Retail Water Operations. We produce potable water from seawater utilizing reverse osmosis technology and supply this water to
end-users, including residential, commercial and government customers in the Cayman Islands under an exclusive retail license
issued by the Cayman Islands government to provide water in two of the three most populated areas on Grand Cayman. In
2022, 2023, our retail water operations generated approximately 27% 17% of our consolidated revenue.

e Bulk Water Operations. We produce potable water from seawater utilizing reverse osmosis technology and supply this water to
government-owned distributors in the Cayman Islands and The Bahamas. In 2022,2023, our bulk water operations generated
approximately 35% 19% of our consolidated revenue.

e Services Operations. We design, construct and sell water production and water treatment plants, and we manage and operate water
production plants, and water treatment and reuse infrastructure for third parties. We also provide water related consulting services.
In 2022, 2023, our services operations generated approximately 31% 54% of our consolidated revenue.

e Manufacturing Operations. We manufacture and service a wide range of specialized and custom water-related products and
systems applicable to commercial, municipal and industrial water production, supply and treatment. In 2022,2023, our
manufacturing operations generated approximately 7% 10% of our consolidated revenue.
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e Affiliate Operations. We own 50% of the voting rights and 43.53% of the equity rights of Ocean Conversion (BVI) Ltd., which
produces and supplies bulk water to the British Virgin Islands Water and Sewerage Department.

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, the number of water production and water treatment plants we and our affiliate operated in

each country, and the production capacities of these plants, were as follows:

Water Production Plant Location Plants Capacity(1) Plants Capacity(1)
Cayman Islands 7 9.9 6 9.3
Bahamas 2 14.8 2 14.8
British Virgin Islands 2 0.8 2 0.8
Total 11 255 10 24.9
1) In millions of gallons per day.

Water Treatment Plant Location Plants Capacity(1) Plants Capacity(1)
United States 27 52.5 31 59.7
1) In estimated millions of gallons per day.

As of December 31, 2023, Ramey Environmental Compliance, Inc. performed operations, maintenance, and monitoring services for 72
wastewater and water treatment plants located in the Rocky Mountain and Eastern Plains Regions of Colorado.
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Strategy

We are a comprehensive water solutions company that serves a variety of customers through multiple product and service offerings.

Presently, we:

e produce and sell potable water through the development design, construction and operation of water infrastructure that employs reverse
osmosis technology to produce potable water from seawater;

e develop, design, construct, sell, operate and manage water production, water treatment and water reuse system infrastructure that meets
regulatory, environmental and commercial needs and requirements;

e fabricate/manufacture specialized and custom equipment and products employed in the production and treatment of water for municipal,
commercial and industrial purposes; and

e provide water-related management and consulting services.

We expect to continue to expand and diversify our products, services and markets to meet the ever-expanding global demand for water.

Key elements of our strategy include:

Market expansion. We continue to seek to expand our existing operations in the markets we believe have significant unfulfilled demands for
desalinated potable water, water treatment and reuse systems and our other products and services. These markets include the United States

and the Caribbean. We may also pursue business in other markets where we believe we can be successful.

Complementary products, services and businesses. We continue to pursue acquisitions or joint ventures that (i) complement and enhance

our existing businesses; (ii) expand our product and service offerings and markets; and (i) support our objective to be a comprehensive
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water solutions provider.

Our Company

We conduct our operations in the Cayman Islands, The Bahamas, the United States, and the British Virgin Islands through our subsidiaries

and our affiliate. Our corporate organizational structure as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 is as follows:

Lo Graphic
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Retail Segment

Cayman Water Company Limited (“Cayman Water”). Cayman Water operates under an exclusive retail license granted by the Cayman
Islands government to provide water to customers within a prescribed service area on Grand Cayman that includes the Seven Mile Beach
and West Bay areas, two of the three most populated areas in the Cayman Islands. Cayman

Table of Contents

Water owns and operates four seawater reverse osmosis desalination plants. Cayman Water and the Water Authority-Cayman (“WAC"), a
government-owned utility and regulatory agency, are Grand Cayman’s only water utilities.

Aquilex, Inc. (“Aquilex”). Aquilex, a U.S. company located in Coral Springs, Florida, provides financial, engineering, information technology,
administrative and supply chain management support services to our subsidiaries and affiliate. We include Aquilex in our retail segment for

financial segment reporting purposes; however, it provides services to all four of our business segments.
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Bulk Segment

Consolidated Water (Bahamas) Limited (“CW-Bahamas”). We own 90.9% of CW-Bahamas, which provides bulk water under long-term
contracts to the Water and Sewerage Corporation of The Bahamas (“WSC”), a government agency. CW-Bahamas owns and operates our

largest desalination plant and one other desalination plant.

Ocean Conversion (Cayman) Limited (“OC-Cayman”). OC-Cayman provides bulk water under long-term contracts to the WAC, which
distributes the water to properties located outside our exclusive retail license service area on Grand Cayman. OC-Cayman built, sold and

operates three seawater reverse osmosis desalination plants owned by the WAC.

Services Segment

PERC Water Corporation (“PERC”). In October 2019, we purchased, through our wholly-owned U.S. subsidiary, Consolidated Water U.S.
Holdings, Inc. (“CW-Holdings”), 51% of the equity in PERC, a U.S. company headquartered in Fountain Valley, California. In August 2020,
we purchased an additional 10% ownership interest of PERC, increasing our ownership of this subsidiary to 61%. In January 2023, we
acquired the remaining 39% ownership interest in PERC. PERC designs, constructs, sells, operates and manages water, wastewater and

water reuse infrastructure.

Ramey Environmental Compliance, Inc. (‘REC”). Effective October 1, 2023, we purchased, through our wholly-owned subsidiary PERC, a
100% ownership interest in REC, a Colorado company headquartered in Frederick, Colorado. REC operates and maintains water and
wastewater treatment facilities and provides technical services to clients throughout the Rocky Mountain and Eastern Plains Regions of
Colorado.

DesalCo Limited (“DesalCo”). A Cayman Islands company, DesalCo provides design, management, engineering and construction services
for desalination projects as well as management and engineering services relating to municipal water distribution and treatment. Serving as a
subcontractor to OC-Cayman, DesalCo designed and constructed the three reverse osmosis plants that OC-Cayman currently operates for

(and previously sold to) the WAC and is presently constructing the new Red Gate plant for the WAC.

PERC Kalaeloa Desalco LLC (“Kalaeloa Desalco”). In September 2021, Kalaeloa Desalco was formed to pursue a project encompassing the
design, construction, operations and maintenance of a seawater reverse osmosis desalination plant in Oahu, Hawaii. In June 2023, Kalaeloa
Desalco signed a definitive agreement with the Honolulu Board of Water Corporation (‘PERC"). On October 24, 2019, we purchased,
through our wholly-owned U.S. subsidiary, Consolidated Water U.S. Holdings, Inc. (“CW-Holdings”), 51% of the equity Supply to design,
build, operate and maintain a 1.7 million gallons per day seawater reverse osmosis desalination plant in PERC, a U.S. company
headquartered in Fountain Valley, California. PERC develops, builds, sells, operates and manages water, wastewater and water reuse
infrastructure. In August 2020, we purchased an additional 10% ownership interest of PERC, increasing our ownership of this subsidiary
to 61%. In January 2023, we acquired the remaining 39% ownership interest in PERC.

Oahu, Hawaii.
Manufacturing_Segment

Aerex Industries, Inc. (“Aerex”). Aerex, a U.S. company located in Fort Pierce, Florida, is an original equipment manufacturer of a wide range
of specialized and custom products and systems applicable to desalination, municipal water treatment and industrial water and wastewater

treatment. Aerex’s products include reverse osmosis desalination
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equipment, membrane separation equipment, filtration equipment, piping systems, vessels and custom fabricated components. Aerex also

offers engineering, design, consulting, inspection, training and equipment maintenance services to its customers.
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Affiliate

Ocean Conversion (BVI) Ltd. (‘OC-BVI”). We own 50% of the voting stock of OC-BVI, a British Virgin Islands company, which sells bulk
water to the Government of the British Virgin Islands Water and Sewerage Department. We own an overall 43.53% equity interest in OC-
BVI's profits and certain profit-sharing rights that raise our effective interest in OC-BVI's profits to approximately 45%. OC-BVI also pays our
subsidiary, DesalCo, fees for certain engineering and administrative services. We account for our investment in OC-BVI under the equity
method of accounting.

Discontinued Operations - Mexico Project Development

Consolidated Water Cooperatief, U.A. (“CW-Cooperatief’), N.S.C. Agua, S.A. de C.V. (“NSC”) and Aguas de Rosarito S.A.PI. de C.V.
("AdR”). CW-Cooperatief is a wholly-owned Netherlands subsidiary incorporated in 2010. CW-Cooperatief owns 99.9% of NSC, a Mexican
company. NSC was formed to pursue a project encompassing the design, construction, ownership and operation of a 100 million gallon per

day seawater reverse osmosis desalination plant which
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was to be located in northern Baja California, Mexico and accompanying pipeline to deliver water to the Mexican potable water system (the

“Project”).

On August 22, 2016, In August 2016, the Public Private Partnership Agreement for the Project (the “APP Contract”) was executed between
AdR, the Comisién Estatal del Agua de Baja California (“CEA"), the Government of Baja California as represented by the Secretary of
Planning and Finance and the Public Utilities Commission of Tijuana (“CESPT”).

On June 29, 2020, In June 2020, the Director General of CEA and the Director General of CESPT terminated the APP Contract. As a result
of the cancellation of the APP Contract, we discontinued all development activities associated with the Project and commenced active
marketing efforts to sell the land NSC purchased for the Project. Accordingly, the assets and liabilities of CW-Cooperatief, NSC and AdR, as
well as all expenses we incur in connection with our on-going international arbitration with the Mexico government to obtain reimbursement

for the costs we incurred in connection with the Project are reported as discontinued operations in our consolidated financial statements.
Our Operations

For fiscal year 2022, 2023, our retail water, bulk water, services and manufacturing segments generated approximately 27% 17%, 835% 19%,
31% 54% and 7% 10%, respectively, of our consolidated revenue. For additional information about our business segments and geographical
information about our operating revenue and long-lived assets, see Note 14 to our consolidated financial statements at ITEM 8 of this Annual

Report.
Retail Water Operations

For fiscal years 2022 2023 and 2021, 2022, our retail water operations accounted for approximately 27% 17%, and 33% 27%, respectively, of
our consolidated revenue. This business produces and supplies potable water to end-users, including residential, commercial and

government customers in the Cayman Islands.

We sell water through our retail operations under a license issued in July 1990 by the Cayman Islands government (the “1990 license”) that
granted Cayman Water the exclusive right to provide potable water to customers within its licensed service area. Although the 1990 license
was has not been expressly extended after January 2018, we continue to supply water under the terms of the 1990 license, as discussed in

the following paragraphs. Pursuant to the 1990 license, Cayman Water has the exclusive right to produce potable water and distribute it by
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pipeline to its licensed service area, which consists of two of the three most populated areas of Grand Cayman: Seven Mile Beach and West
Bay.

The 1990 license was originally scheduled to expire in July 2010 but was extended several times by the Cayman Islands government in

order to provide the parties with additional time to negotiate the terms of a new license agreement. The

Table of Contents

most recent express extension of the license expired on January 31, 2018. We continue to operate under the terms of the 1990 license,
providing water services to the level and quality specified in the 1990 license and in accordance with our understanding of its legal
obligations, treating those obligations set forth in the 1990 license as operative notwithstanding the expiration of the express extension. We

continue to pay the royalty of 7.5% of revenue we collect required under the 1990 license.

In October 2016, the Government of the Cayman Islands passed legislation which created a new utilities regulation and competition office
(“OfReg”). OfReg is an independent and accountable regulatory body with a view of protecting the rights of consumers, encouraging
affordable utility services and promoting competition. OfReg, which began operations in January 2017, has the ability to supervise, monitor
and regulate multiple utility undertakings and markets. Supplemental legislation was passed by the Government of the Cayman Islands in
April 2017, which transferred responsibility for economic regulation of the water utility sector and the negotiations with us for a new retail
license from the WAC to OfReg in May 2017. We began license negotiations with OfReg in July 2017 and such negotiations are ongoing. We
have been informed during our retail license negotiations, both by OfReg and its predecessor in these negotiations, that the Cayman Islands
government seeks to restructure the terms of our license in a manner that could significantly reduce the operating income and cash flows we

have historically generated from our retail license.

Table of Contents

See also ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS and ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS - Material Commitments, Expenditures and Contingencies - Cayman Water Retail License.

Our retail operations in the Cayman Islands produce potable water at fourthree seawater reverse osmosis desalination plants in Grand
Cayman located at our Abel Castillo Water Works (“ACWW?”), Britannia and West Bay sites. We own the land for our ACWW and West Bay
plants and have entered into a lease for the land for our Britannia plant that expires January 1, 2027.plants. The current aggregate
production capacity of the two plants located at ACWW is 3.0 million gallons of water per day. The production capacity of the Britannia plant

is 715,000 gallons of water per day. The production capacity of the West Bay plant is 885,000 1,000,000 gallons of water per day.

Electricity to our plants is supplied by Caribbean Utilities Co. Ltd., a publicly traded utility company. We maintain diesel engine-driven standby
generators at all three retail plant sites with sufficient capacity to operate our distribution pumps and other essential equipment during any
temporary interruptions in electricity supply. Standby generation capacity is available at our ACWW plants and West Bay plant to operate a

portion of the water production capacity as well.
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Our distribution system is connected to the distribution system of the WAC. In prior years, during emergencies, we have purchased water

from the WAC for brief periods of time and have also sold potable water to the WAC from our retail plants.

Our pipeline system on Grand Cayman covers the Seven Mile Beach and West Bay areas and consists of approximately 100 miles of
potable water pipeline. We extend our distribution system periodically as demand warrants. We have a main pipe loop covering the Seven
Mile Beach and West Bay areas. We place extensions of smaller diameter pipe off our main pipe to service new developments in our service
area. This system of building branches from the main pipe keeps construction costs low and allows us to provide service to new areas in a
timely manner. Developers are responsible for laying the pipeline within their developments at their own cost, but in accordance with our

specifications. When a development is completed, the developer then transfers operation and maintenance of the pipeline to us.

We bill our customers on a monthly basis based on metered consumption and bills are typically collected within 30 to 45 days after the billing
date. Receivables not collected within 45 days subject the customer to disconnection from water service. Bad debts have The provision for
credit losses has historically represented less than 1% of our total annual retail sales. In addition to their past due invoice balance, customers

that have had their service disconnected must pay re-connection charges.

Historically, demand on our water production and pipeline distribution has varied throughout the year. Demand depends upon various factors,
most notably rainfall amounts and the number of tourists during any particular time of the year. In general, the majority of tourists come from
the United States during the winter which is also the dry season in the Cayman Islands. The COVID-19 pandemic and the resulting cessation
of tourism to the Cayman Islands significantly reduced demand for our water. In August 2022, the Cayman Islands government lifted the

COVID-19 pandemic related travel restrictions that had eliminated tourist travel to the Cayman Islands since March 2020.
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Bulk Water Operations

For fiscal years 20222023 and 2021, 2022, our bulk water operations accounted for approximately 35% 19%, and 40% 35%, respectively, of
our consolidated revenue. These operations produce potable water from seawater and sell this water to government-owned utilities in the
Cayman Islands and The Bahamas, which then distribute the water to end users.

Bulk Water Operations in the Cayman Islands

Through our wholly-owned subsidiary OC-Cayman we provide bulk water to the WAC, a government-owned utility and regulatory agency,

under two agreements. The WAC in turn distributes that water to properties in Grand Cayman outside of our retail license area.

The water we provide to the WAC is produced at three seawater reverse osmosis desalination plants in Grand Cayman owned by the WAC
but designed and built by DesalCo and operated by OC-Cayman: the North Sound, Red Gate and North Side Water
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Works (“NSWW") plants, which have production capacities of approximately 1.6 million, 1.3 million and 2.4 million gallons of water per day,

respectively. The plants we operate for the WAC are located on land owned by the WAC.

Our agreement with the WAC for the North Sound and Red Gate NSWW plants expires expire in 2024.2026. Our agreement with the WAC
for the NSWW Red Gate plant expires in 2026. 2034.

Bulk Water Operations in The Bahamas

We sell bulk water in The Bahamas through our majority-owned subsidiary, CW-Bahamas, to the WSC, which distributes the water through

its own pipeline system to residential, commercial and tourist properties on the Island of New Providence.

We supply bulk water in The Bahamas from our Windsor and Blue Hills plants.

Our water supply agreement with the WSC for our Windsor plant, which has a capacity of 2.8 million gallons per day, expires in August 2033

and requires us to deliver and requires the WSC to purchase a minimum of 16.8 million gallons per week.

We supply water from the Blue Hills plant, our largest seawater reverse osmosis desalination facility with a capacity of 12.0 million gallons
per day, under the terms of a water supply agreement with the WSC that expires in March 2032 that requires us to deliver and requires the
WSC to purchase a minimum of 63.0 million gallons of water each week.

The high-pressure pumps at our Windsor and Blue Hills plants in The Bahamas are diesel engine-driven. Electricity for the remainder of our
plant operations is supplied by Bahamas Power and Light Company (“BPL”"). We maintain a standby generator with sufficient capacity to
operate essential equipment at our Windsor and Blue Hills plants and are able to produce 100% of the production capacity with these plants

during temporary interruptions in the electricity supply from BPL.

Services Operations

For fiscal years 2022 2023 and 2021, 2022, our services operations accounted for approximately 31% 54% and 21% 31%, respectively, of our

consolidated revenue.

We provide design, engineering and construction services for desalination infrastructure projects through DesalCo, an original equipment
manufacturer of seawater reverse osmosis desalination plants. DesalCo also provides management and procurement services for
desalination plants and engineering services relating to municipal water production, distribution and treatment. DesalCo also conducts
research and development. DesalCo sometimes tests new components and technology offered by suppliers in our business and, at times,
collaborates with suppliers in the development of their
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products. Presently, DesalCo is providing management and purchasing services to our affiliate OC-BVI in the British Virgin Islands. In the
past, DesalCo has provided consulting services to the WSC and constructed and sold the desalination plants sold by OC-Cayman to the
WAC, and WAC. Serving as a contractor to OC-Cayman, DesalCo is presently constructing the new Red Gate desalination plant for the
WAC.

On October 24, 2019, In October 2019, we acquired 51% of the common stock of PERC, a U.S. company headquartered in Fountain Valley,
California, which commenced operations in 1998. In August 2020, we acquired an additional 10% of PERC, increasing our ownership of this
subsidiary to 61%. In January 2023, we acquired the remaining 39% ownership interest in PERC. PERC develops, builds, designs,

constructs and sells wastewater and water reuse infrastructure. PERC also provides management services for wastewater and water reuse
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infrastructure under long-term operations and maintenance contracts. PERC’s primary markets are California and the Southwest U.S., but it
conducts business in other areas of the U.S. In January 2023,

Effective October 1, 2023, we acquired the remaining 39% purchased, through our wholly-owned subsidiary PERC, a 100% ownership
interest in PERC. REC, a Colorado company headquartered in Frederick, Colorado. REC operates and maintains water and wastewater

treatment facilities and provides technical services to clients throughout the Rocky Mountain and Eastern Plains Regions of Colorado.
Manufacturing Operations
For fiscal years 2022 2023 and 2021, 2022, our manufacturing operations accounted for approximately 7% 10% and 6% 7%, respectively, of

our consolidated revenue. Our manufacturing operations consist of Aerex, an original equipment manufacturer and service provider of a wide

range of specialized and custom products applicable to desalination, municipal water treatment and
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industrial water and wastewater treatment. Aerex’s products include reverse osmosis desalination equipment, membrane separation
equipment, filtration equipment, piping systems, vessels and custom fabricated components. Aerex’s manufacturing facility and headquarters

are located in Fort Pierce, Florida and substantially all of its customers are U.S. companies.
Affiliate Operations

Our affiliate, OC-BVI, sells water to the Government of the British Virgin Islands Water and Sewerage Department (“BVIW&S”"). We own 50%
of the voting shares of OC-BVI and have an overall 43.53% equity interest in the profits of OC-BVI. We also own separate profit-sharing
rights in OC-BVI that raise our effective interest in OC-BVI's profits from 43.53% to approximately 45%. Sage Water Holdings (BVI) Limited
(“Sage”) owns the remaining 50% of the voting shares of OC-BVI and the remaining 55% interest in its profits. Under the Articles of
Association of OC-BVI, we have the right to appoint three of the six Directors of OC-BVI. Sage is entitled to appoint the remaining three
Directors. In the event of a tied vote of the Directors, the President of the Caribbean Water and Wastewater Association, a regional trade

association comprised primarily of government representatives, is entitled to appoint a junior director to cast a deciding vote.

Through DesalCo, we provide certain engineering and administrative services to OC-BVI for a monthly fee and a bonus arrangement which

provides for payment of 4% of the net operating income of OC-BVI.
We account for our investment in OC-BVI using the equity method of accounting.

OC-BVI sells bulk water to BVIW&S, which distributes the water through its own pipeline system to residential, commercial and tourist

properties on the islands of Tortola and Jost Van Dyke in the British Virgin Islands.

OC-BVI owns and operates a desalination plant located at Bar Bay, Tortola with a capacity of 720,000 gallons per day. Pursuant to a water
supply agreement with the BVI government, OC-BVI is required to supply up to 600,000 gallons per day to the BVI government. This water
supply agreement expires March 2031.

OC-BVI purchases electrical power to operate this plant from the BVI Electric Co. Electricity Corporation and operates diesel engine-driven
emergency power generators which can produce 100% of the plant’s production capacity when the BVI Electric Co. Electricity Corporation is

unable to provide power to the plant.

10

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 13/133
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I ‘

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

Table of Contents

OC-BVI's plant on the island of Jost Van Dyke has a capacity of 60,000 gallons per day. This plant operates under a 10-year contract with
the BVI government that expired July 8, 2013. Pursuant to the contract, OC-BVI is operating the plant on a year-to-year basis until the BVI
government informs OC-BVI of its intention to extend the existing contract or enter into a new agreement. We purchase electrical power to
operate this plant from the BVI Electric Co. Electricity Corporation.

Reverse Osmosis Technology

The conversion of seawater to potable water is called desalination. The primary method of seawater desalination used throughout the world
is reverse osmosis. Reverse osmosis is a fluid separation process in which the saline water (i.e. seawater) is pressurized and the fresh water
is separated from the saline water by passing through a semi-permeable membrane which rejects the salts. The saline water is first passed
through a pretreatment system, which generally consists of fine filtration and, if required, treatment chemicals, if required. chemicals. Pre-
treatment removes suspended solids and organics which could cause fouling of the membrane surface. Next, a high-pressure pump
pressurizes the saline water thus enabling approximately 40% conversion of the saline water to fresh water as it passes through the
membrane, while more than 99% of the dissolved salts are rejected and remain in the now concentrated saline water. This concentrate is
discharged without passing through the membrane, and the remaining hydraulic energy in the concentrate is transferred to the initial saline
feed water with an energy recovery device thus reducing the total energy requirement for the reverse osmosis system. The final step is post-
treatment, which consists of stabilizing the produced fresh water and/or removing undesirable dissolved gases, adjusting the pH and (if

necessary) the mineral content, and providing chlorination to prepare it for distribution.

We use reverse osmosis technology to convert seawater to potable water at all of the desalination plants we construct and operate. We
believe that this technology is the most effective and efficient conversion process for our markets. However,
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we are always seeking ways to maximize efficiencies in our current processes and investigating new, more efficient processes to convert
seawater to potable water. The equipment at our desalination plants is among the most energy efficient available and we monitor and
maintain the equipment in an efficient manner. As a result of our decades of experience in seawater desalination, we believe our expertise
and experience with respect to the development and operation of desalination plants and similar facilities is easily transferable to locations
outside of our current operating areas.

Wastewater Treatment Technology

Our approach to wastewater treatment comprises various integrates advanced technologies which rely onand processes to ensure high-
quality water reuse while addressing environmental and operational concerns. Typical technology uses include that of micro and ultra
filtration, reverse osmosis, and ultraviolet advanced oxidation systems, often with sodium hypochlorite or hydrogen peroxide as oxidizers, to
meet the action of microorganisms to treat wastewater. The sequential batch reactor (“SBR”) technology we typically use stringent water
quality parameters set by California. This is a conventional, proven method which has been used to treat organic wastewater particularly
relevant for many years. More than 1,000 SBR treatment facilities applications like Title 22 reuse and Indirect Potable Reuse, where safety
and quality are in use in the United States ranging in size from 10,000 gallons per day to 22 million gallons per day. Increasingly,

we paramount.
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We utilize membrane bioreactor Membrane Bioreactor (“MBR”) technology, which utilizesis a wastewater treatment process that has been
used for several decades to produce high quality recycled water for non-potable reuse. MBR technology, which integrates micro or ultra-
filtration membranes to enhance with biological wastewater treatment. The improvements offered by MBR technology treatment processes,
offers several advantages. These include a reduced physical footprint, forwhich is crucial in areas where space is at a premium, and the
facility, production of higher quality treated effluent, which is vital for ensuring the safety and the ability reliability of water reuse. Additionally,

MBR's capability to treathandle more challenging influent. influent makes it a versatile solution for a variety of wastewater treatment needs.

PERC has improved upon We employ various methods to improve the standard SBR aesthetic and MBR processes environmental integration
of our clients’ facilities. We conceal equipment and whenever possible locates its equipment housing technologies in concealed areas and
inbuildings that are both aesthetically pleasing buildings that minimize foul odors. and odor friendly, thereby addressing two of the common
challenges in wastewater treatment facilities: odor and visual impact. This not only enhances the quality of life for nearby residents but also

demonstrates a commitment to environmental stewardship.
Furthermore, the vertical integration of technology within our operations constitutes a strategic approach to improving efficiency in
construction and operational phases. We believe this integration leads to cost savings, faster project completion times, reduction of raw

material usage, and smoother operational processes.

Overall, our strategies and technologies reflect a holistic approach to wastewater treatment, emphasizing efficiency, environmental
sensitivity, and the production of high-quality treated water for various reuse applications.
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Raw Materials and Sources of Supply

All materials, parts and supplies essential to our business operations are obtained from multiple sources and we use the latest industry
technology. Prior to our acquisition of Aerex, we did not manufacture any parts or components for equipment essential to our business. Aerex
has manufactured key components for some of our desalination plants and we expect Aerex to continue to do so from time to time, however,

our other businesses are not dependent on Aerex.

Our access to seawater for processing into potable water is granted through our licenses and contracts with governments of the various

jurisdictions in which we operate.
Seasonal Variations in Our Business

Demand for our water in the Cayman Islands, The Bahamas and the British Virgin Islands is affected by variations in the level of tourism and
rainfall. Tourism in our service areas is affected by the economies of the tourists’ home countries, primarily the United States and Europe,
terrorist activity and perceived threats thereof, global health concerns such as COVID-19, and increased costs of fuel and airfare. In the
Cayman Islands, we normally sell more water during the first and second quarters of the year, when the number of tourists is greater and
local rainfall is less than in the third and fourth quarters. The COVID-19 pandemic and the resulting cessation of tourism to the Cayman
Islands significantly reduced demand for our water in 2021. In August 2022, the Cayman Islands government lifted the COVID-19 pandemic
related travel restrictions that had eliminated tourist travel to the Cayman Islands since March 2020. Demand in The Bahamas was not

affected to the same degree by the drop in tourism resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic.
The business conducted by Aerex and PERC is generally not subject to seasonal variations.

Government Regulations, Custom Duties and Taxes
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Our operations and activities are subject to the governmental regulations and taxes of the countries in which we operate. The following
summary of regulatory developments and legislation does not purport to describe all present and proposed regulation and legislation that
may affect our businesses. Legislative or regulatory requirements currently applicable to our businesses may change in the future. Any such
changes could impose new obligations on us that may adversely affect our businesses and operating results. The following paragraphs set
forth some of the key governmental regulations in the jurisdictions in which we operate outside of the United States.
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Cayman Islands

The Cayman Islands are a British Overseas Territory with a stable political climate since 1670, when the Treaty of Madrid ceded the Cayman
Islands to England. The King of England appoints the Governor of the Cayman Islands to make laws with the advice and consent of the
Parliament of the Cayman Islands. The Parliament of the Cayman Islands consists of 19 elected members and two members appointed by
the Governor from the Civil Service. The Cabinet is responsible for day-to-day government operations. The Cabinet consists of the Premier
and six other ministers who are chosen by the Premier from its 19 popularly elected members, and the two Civil Service members. The
elected members choose from among themselves a leader, who is designated the Premier, and is in effect the leader of the elected
government. The Governor has reserved powers and the United Kingdom retains full control over foreign affairs and defense. The Cayman
Islands are a common law jurisdiction and have adopted a legal system similar to that of the United Kingdom.

The Cayman Islands have no taxes on profits, income, distributions, capital gains or appreciation. We have exemptions from, or receive
concessionary rates of customs duties on, certain capital expenditures for plant and major consumable spare parts and supplies imported
into the Cayman Islands under our retail water license. We do not pay import duty or taxes on reverse osmosis membranes, electric pumps
and motors, and chemicals, but we do pay duty at the rate of 10% of the cost, including insurance and transportation to the Cayman Islands,
of other plant and associated materials and equipment to manufacture or supply water in the Seven Mile Beach or West Bay areas. We have
been advised by the Government of the Cayman Islands that we will not receive any duty concessions in any new retail water license signed

with the government.

The Bahamas

The Commonwealth of The Bahamas is an independent nation and a constitutional parliamentary democracy with the King of England as the
constitutional head of state. The basis of the Bahamian law and legal system is the English common law tradition with a Supreme Court,

Court of Appeals, and a Magistrates court.

Under the current laws of the Commonwealth of The Bahamas, no income, corporation, capital gains or similar taxes are payable by us. We
are required to pay an annual business license fee (the calculation of which is based on our preceding year’s financial statements) which to
date has not been material to the results of our Bahamas operations. We are also required to pay a value added tax on materials and

services we purchase.
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British Virgin Islands
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The British Virgin Islands (“BVI")_is a British Overseas Territory, with the KingTable of England as the Head of State and His Majesty’s

Since 1967, the BVI has held responsibility for its own internal affairs. Contents

The BVI Constitution provides for the people of the BVI to be represented by a ministerial system of government, led by an elected Premier,
a Cabinet of Ministers and the House of Assembly. The House of Assembly consists of 13 elected representatives, the Attorney General, and
the Speaker.

The judicial system, based on English law, is under the direction of the Eastern Caribbean Supreme Court, which includes the High Court of
Justice and the Court of Appeal. The ultimate appellate court is the Privy Council in London.

Markets and Service Areas

We operate in the Cayman Islands, The Bahamas, the United States and the British Virgin Islands. We believe that potential new markets for
us include (i) any location where a need for potable water exists and reverse osmosis desalination of seawater or brackish water is an
economically viable means of meeting such need; (ii) any location with a need for the water treatment and water reuse infrastructure
development and management services we provide; and (iii) those new customers that require specialized water production and treatment
products and systems such as those we manufacture.

12
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Cayman Islands. The Cayman Islands government, through the WAC, supplies water to the areas of Grand Cayman that are not within our
licensed area, as well as to Cayman Brac. We operate all but one of the reverse osmosis desalination plants owned by the WAC on Grand
Cayman and supply water under two agreements held by OC-Cayman with the WAC.

According to the most recent information published by the Economics and Statistics Office of the Cayman Islands Government, the
population of the Cayman Islands was estimated in 20212022 to be 71,10581,546 after the 2021 census count. According to the figures
published by the Department of Tourism Statistics Information Center, in 20222023 as compared to 2021, 2022, tourist air arrivals increased
over 1000%50% to approximately 284,000429,000 and tourist cruise ship arrivals increased from zero70% to approximately
743,000. 1,270,000.

We believe that our water sales in the Cayman Islands are more positively impacted by stay-over tourists that arrive by air than by those
arriving by cruise ship, since cruise ship tourists generally only visit the island for one day or less and do not remain on the island overnight.

Our water sales in the Cayman Islands are also greatly impacted by rainfall patterns and amounts on Grand Cayman.

The Bahamas. The Bahamas government, through the WSC, supplies all of the piped water on the island of New Providence, Bahamas,
which includes Nassau, the largest city, political capital and commercial hub of The Bahamas. We supply water to the WSC through the
water supply agreements for our Blue Hills and Windsor plants, which are located in Nassau. New Providence is the most populous island in
The Bahamas, with more than 70% of the country’s population. A 20102022 census placed the population of New Providence at
approximately 246,000; more recent estimates suggest it is approximately 275,000.297,000. According to statistics published by the
Bahamas Ministry of Tourism, in 2023 as compared to 2022, the number of air arrivals increased 17% to approximately 1,327,000 and cruise
ship arrival and air arrival tourists arrivals increased 46% to New Providence were approximately 590,000 and 320,000, respectively, in 2020
and were approximately 465,000 and 650,000, respectively, in 2021. The most current data published by the Bahamas Ministry of Tourism
for 2022 shows that the number of cruise ship arrival and air arrival tourists were approximately 2,136,000 and 1,137,000,
respectively. 3,114,000.
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British Virgin Islands. The British Virgin Islands are a British Overseas Territory and are situated east of Puerto Rico. They consist of 16
inhabited and more than 20 uninhabited islands, of which Tortola is the largest and most populated. The British Virgin Islands serve as a hub
for many large yacht-chartering businesses.

Competition

Cayman Islands. Pursuant to our license granted by the Cayman Islands government, we have the exclusive right to provide potable, piped
water within our licensed service area on Grand Cayman. The last express extension of this license expired on January 31, 2018. However,
we continue to operate under the terms of this license, providing water services to the level and quality specified in the 1990 license and in
accordance with its legal obligations, treating those obligations set forth in the license as operative notwithstanding the expiration of the

express extension. Negotiations for a new license are on-going.

We are the only non-government-owned public water utility on Grand Cayman. The Cayman Islands government, through the WAC, supplies
water to parts of Grand Cayman located outside of our licensed service area. Although we have no competition within our exclusive retail
license service area for potable water, our ability to expand our service area is at the discretion of the Cayman Islands government. We have
competed with such companies as SUEZ/Veolia, IDE Technologies and small local contractors for bulk water supply contracts with the WAC

and expect to compete with these and other companies for any new water supply contracts awarded by the WAC.
The Bahamas. We have competed with companies such as SUEZ/Veolia, IDE Technologies, and TSG for the contracts with The Bahamas

government to build and operate seawater desalination plants in the past. We expect to compete with these companies and others for any

future water supply contracts in The Bahamas.
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British Virgin Islands. In the British Virgin Islands, SUEZ/Veolia operates seawater reverse osmosis desalination plants in West End, Tortola,
and on Virgin Gorda and generally bids against OC-BVI for projects. Seven Seas Water owns and operates a 2.75 million gallon per day

desalination plant in Parakeeta Bay, Tortola for the British Virgin Islands

13

Table of Contents

government. We expect that OC-BVI will be required to compete against SUEZ/Veolia, Seven Seas Water, TSG and other parties for any

future business opportunities that may arise in the British Virgin Islands.

United States. Aerex competes in the highly fragmented industry for manufactured water production and treatment equipment and systems

against a large number of manufacturers, fabricators and service providers, many of which have greater resources than Aerex.

Similar to Aerex, PERC competesand REC compete in the highly fragmented industry for water treatment and water reuse infrastructure

development and management against a large number of companies, many of which have greater resources than PERC. PERC and REC.

Environmental and Health Regulatory Matters
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Cayman Islands. With respect to our Cayman Islands operations, we operate our water plants in accordance with Cayman Islands laws and
regulations. We are licensed by the WAC to extract seawater from wells and discharge concentrated seawater, which is a byproduct of our

desalination process, into deep disposal wells.

Our Cayman Islands retail water license and bulk water operating contracts require our potable water to meet the World Health

Organization’s Guidelines for Drinking Water Drinking-Water Quality and contain less than 200 mg/l of total dissolved solids.

The Bahamas and British Virgin Islands. With respect to our Bahamian operations and OC-BVI's British Virgin Islands operations, we and
OC-BVI are required by our water supply contracts to take all reasonable measures to prevent pollution of the environment. We are licensed
by the Bahamian government to discharge concentrated seawater, which is a by-product of our desalination process, into deep disposal

wells. OC-BVI is licensed by the British Virgin Islands government to discharge concentrated seawater into the sea.

At several of our locations, hydrogen sulfide gas is present in the seawater and we are contractually obligated to operate our plants in a

manner designed to prevent the emission of airborne gas into the environment.

United States. Consistent with other U.S. companies, Aerex, PERC, Kalaeloa Desalco and PERC REC must comply with various federal
laws and regulations, such as those administered by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency and the Occupational Safety and Health
Administration, as well as state and local laws and regulations.

We are not aware of any existing or pending environmental legislation which may negatively affect our operations. Presently, we do not have
any outstanding issues with any regulatory authority.

Human Capital

We are committed to a work environment that is welcoming, inclusive and encouraging. To achieve our plans and goals, it is imperative that
we attract and retain top talent. In order to do so, we aim to have a safe and encouraging workplace, with opportunities for our employees to
grow and develop professionally, supported by strong compensation, benefits, and other incentives. We have historically experienced low

employee turnover.

As of March 24, 2023 March 20, 2024, we employed a total of 223293 persons, 6263 in the Cayman Islands, 140209 in the United States,
19 in The Bahamas and two in The Netherlands. We also managed the five employees of OC-BVI in the British Virgin Islands. We have
1320 management employees and 4552 administrative and clerical employees. The remaining employees are engaged in engineering,
purchasing, plant maintenance and operations, pipe laying and repair, leak detection, new customer connections, meter reading and
laboratory analysis of water quality. We have no collective bargaining agreements with our employees, and none are represented by labor

unions. We consider our relationships with our employees to be very good.

During the COVID-19 pandemic, we implemented a number of significant safety measures based on current guidelines recommended by the

Centers for Disease Control for employees who work at our facilities.
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Available Information

Our website address is http://www.cwco.com. Information contained on our website is not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report,

and you should not consider information contained on our website as part of this Annual Report.
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We have adopted a written code of conduct and ethics that applies to all of our employees and Directors, including, but not limited to, our
principal executive officer, principal financial officer, and principal accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar functions. The
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, the charters of the Audit Committee, Compensation Committee, Nominations and Corporate
Governance Committee, Environmental and Social Governance Committee and the Corporate Governance Guidelines of our Board of

Directors are available at the Investors section of our website.

You may access, free of charge, our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, and current reports on Form 8-K, plus
amendments to such reports as filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, on
our website and on the website of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC") as soon as reasonably practicable after we
electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. In addition, paper copies of these documents may be obtained free of charge
by writing us at the following address: Consolidated Water Co. Ltd., Regatta Office Park, Windward Three, 4th Floor, West Bay Road,
P.O. Box 1114, Grand Cayman, KY1-1102, Cayman Islands, Attention: Investor Relations; or by calling us at (345) 945-4277.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Investing in our common stock involves risks. Before investing in our common stock, you should consider carefully the factors discussed
below and the information contained in this Annual Report. Each of these risks, as well as other risks and uncertainties not presently known
to us or that we currently deem immaterial, could adversely affect our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition, and
cause the value of our common stock to decline, which may result in the loss of part, or all, of your investment.

Our exclusive license to provide water to retail customers in the Cayman Islands has not been expressly extended and we are
presently unable to predict the outcome of our on-going negotiations relating to this license.

We sell water through our retail operations under a license issued in July 1990 by the Cayman Islands government (the “1990 license”) that
granted Cayman Water the exclusive right to provide potable water to customers within its licensed service area. Although the 1990 license
was has not been expressly extended after January 2018, we continue to supply water under the terms of the 1990 license, as discussed in
the following paragraphs. Pursuant to the 1990 license, Cayman Water has the exclusive right to produce potable water and distribute it by
pipeline to its licensed service area, which consists of two of the three most populated areas of Grand Cayman Island: Seven Mile Beach
and West Bay. In 2022 2023 and 2021, 2022, we generated approximately 27% 17% and 33% 27%, respectively, of our consolidated revenue
and 44% 26% and 47% 44%, respectively, of our consolidated gross profit from the retail water operations conducted under the 1990 license.

The 1990 license was originally scheduled to expire in July 2010 but was extended several times by the Cayman Islands government in
order to provide the parties with additional time to negotiate the terms of a new license agreement. The most recent express extension of the
license expired on January 31, 2018. We continue to operate under the terms of the 1990 license, providing water services to the level and
quality specified in the 1990 license and in accordance with our understanding of its legal obligations, treating those obligations set forth in
the 1990 license as operative notwithstanding the expiration of the express extension. We continue to pay thea royalty of 7.5% of the

revenue we collect as required under the 1990 license.

In October 2016, the Government of the Cayman Islands passed legislation which created a new utilities regulation and competition office
(“OfReg”). OfReg is an independent and accountable regulatory body with a view of protecting the rights of consumers, encouraging
affordable utility services, and promoting competition. OfReg, which began operations in January 2017, has the ability to supervise, monitor
and regulate multiple utility undertakings and markets. Supplemental legislation was passed by the Government of the Cayman Islands in
April 2017, which transferred responsibility for economic regulation of the water utility sector and the negotiations with us for a new retail
license from the WAC to OfReg
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in May 2017. We began license negotiations with OfReg in July 2017 and such negotiations are ongoing. We have been informed during our
retail license negotiations, both by OfReg and its predecessor in these negotiations, that the Cayman Islands government seeks to
restructure the terms of our license in a manner that could significantly reduce the operating income and cash flows we have historically

generated from our retail license.

We are presently unable to determine what impact the resolution of our retail license negotiations will have on our cash flows, financial
condition or results of operations but such resolution could result in a material reduction (or the loss) of the operating income and cash flows
we have historically generated from our retail operations and could require us to record impairment losses to reduce the carrying values of
our retail segment assets. Such impairment losses could have a material adverse impact on our consolidated financial condition and results

of operations.

Periodically, our Bahamas subsidiary experiences substantial delays in the collection of its accounts receivable. As a result, our
Bahamas subsidiary could have insufficient liquidity to continue operations, and our consolidated financial results of operations

could be materially adversely affected.

CW-Bahamas' accounts receivable balances (which include accrued interest) due from the WSC amounted to $16.3 million $26.9 million as
of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023. Approximately 65% 80% of this December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 accounts receivable
balance was delinquent as of that date. The delay in collecting these accounts receivable has adversely impacted the liquidity of this
subsidiary.

From time to time (including presently), CW-Bahamas has experienced delays in collecting its accounts receivable from the WSC. When
these delays occur, we hold discussions and meetings with representatives of the WSC and The Bahamas government, and as a result,
payment schedules are developed for WSC's delinquent accounts receivable. All previous delinquent accounts receivable from the WSC,
including accrued interest thereon, were eventually paid in full. Based upon this payment history, CW-Bahamas has never been required to
provide an allowance for doubtful accounts for any of its accounts receivable, despite the periodic accumulation of significant delinquent
balances. As of December 31, 2022, we have not provided anfor a material allowance for doubtful accounts credit losses for CW-Bahamas'
accounts receivable from the WSC. WSC as of December 31, 2023.

In its latesta report dated October 6, 2022, Moody’s Investor Services (“Moody’s”) downgraded the Government of The Bahamas’ long-term
issuer and senior unsecured ratings to B1 from Ba3. Moody's also lowered The Bahamas'’ local currency ceiling to Baa3 from Baa2 and its

foreign currency ceiling to Bal from Baa3. Moody’s iterated these ratings in April and October 2023, noting that such ratings are “stable.”

If CW-Bahamas is unable to collect a significant portion of its delinquent accounts receivable, one or more of the following events may occur:
(i) CW-Bahamas may not have sufficient liquidity to meet its obligations; (ii) we may be required to cease the recognition of revenue on CW-
Bahamas’ water supply agreements with the WSC; and (iii) we may be required to provide ana material allowance for doubtful
accounts credit losses for CW-Bahamas’ accounts receivable. Any of these events could have a material adverse impact on our consolidated

financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.

Most of our services segment revenue is generated under short-term contracts. An inability to obtain extensions of these contracts
or to obtain new contracts to replace the revenue that is lost from contracts that are not extended could adversely impact our
financial results.

PERC, our principal services segment subsidiary, generates most of its revenue from contracts (“O&M contracts”) to operate and maintain
water treatment and reuse facilities owned by third parties. For 2022, we generated revenue of approximately $13.7 million under these O&M
contracts. PERC's O&M contracts have terms ranging from one to ten years, with varying renewal options exercisable solely at the discretion
of the customer. Approximately 16% of PERC's revenue for 2022 was generated under O&M contracts that expire at various dates through
December 31, 2023. If we are unable to obtain extensions of these expiring O&M contracts or are unable to replace the revenue lost from
contracts that expire with revenue from new O&M contracts, our consolidated financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows would
be adversely affected.
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If the future financial performance of Aerex falls short of our most recent financial projections for this subsidiary, we may be
required to record impairment losses to reduce the carrying values of the goodwill and intangible assets of our manufacturing

segment.

Approximately 80% of Aerex’s revenue, and 89% of Aerex’s gross profit, for the year ended December 31, 2020 were generated from sales
to one customer. While Aerex sells various products to this customer, Aerex’s revenue from this customer has historically been derived
primarily from one specialized product. In October 2020, this customer informed Aerex that, for inventory management purposes, it was
suspending its purchases of the specialized product from Aerex following 2020 for a period of approximately one year. This customer
informed Aerex at that time that it expected to recommence its purchases of the specialized product from Aerex beginning with the first
quarter of 2022. As a result of this anticipated loss of revenue for Aerex, we updated our projections for our manufacturing reporting unit's
future cash flows. Such projections assumed, in part, that Aerex’s major customer would recommence its purchases from Aerex in 2022 but
at a reduced aggregate amount, as compared to 2020. Based upon these updated projections, we tested our manufacturing reporting unit's
goodwill for possible impairment as of December 31, 2020 using the discounted cash flow and guideline public company methods, with a
weighting of 80% and 20% applied to these two methods, respectively. As a result of these impairment tests, we determined that the
estimated fair value of our manufacturing reporting unit exceeded its carrying value by approximately 31% as of December 31, 2020.

In late July 2021, this former major customer communicated to Aerex that it expected to recommence its purchases of the specialized
product from Aerex in 2022 and subsequent years, but informed Aerex that such purchases would be at substantially reduced annual
amounts, as compared to the amounts it had purchased from Aerex in 2020 and prior years. Our updated sales estimate for this customer
based on this new information was substantially below the anticipated sales to this customer for 2022 and subsequent years that we used in
the discounted cash flow projections we prepared for purposes of testing our manufacturing reporting unit's goodwill for possible impairment
as of December 31, 2020. Furthermore, Aerex’s efforts to replace the revenue previously generated from this customer with revenue from
existing and new customers were adversely impacted by the negative economic conditions (caused in part by the COVID-19 pandemic).
These negative economic conditions also increased Aerex’s raw material costs, resulted in raw material shortages and extended delivery
times for such materials, and adversely affected the overall financial condition of Aerex's current and prospective customer base.
Accordingly, in light of this new information from Aerex’s former major customer and the on-going weak economic conditions that we believed
would continue through 2022, we updated our projections of future cash flows for the manufacturing reporting unit and tested its goodwill for
possible impairment as of June 30, 2021 using the discounted cash flow and guideline public company methods, with a weighting of 80%
and 20% applied to these two methods, respectively. Based upon this testing, we determined that the carrying value of our manufacturing
reporting unit exceeded its fair value by $2.9 million, and we recorded an impairment loss to reduce our manufacturing segment’s goodwill by
this amount for the three months ended June 30, 2021.

The accounting estimates and assumptions we employ to estimate the fair values of our manufacturing and reporting units constitute “critical

accounting estimates” for us because:

e the nature of these estimates or assumptions is material due to the levels of subjectivity and judgment necessary to account for highly
uncertain matters or the susceptibility of such matters to change (for example, should interest rates rise significantly in the future we
would likely be required to increase the discount rate we use under the discounted cash flow method we use to estimate the fair values
of our reporting units, and such increased discount rate in and of itself could decrease the estimated fair value of our reporting units
under the discounted cash flow method); and

e the impact of the estimates and assumptions on financial condition and results of operations is material.
We believe the inherent uncertainties associated with the accounting estimates and assumptions we use for our estimates of our reporting
units’ fair values have increased due to current, less predictable economic conditions, which have resulted in increasing raw material prices,

extended and unexpected delays in the procurement and delivery of our raw materials, and have also, we believe, adversely affected our

customers.

Based upon our estimation prepared as of December 31, 2022, the fair value of our manufacturing reporting unit exceeded its carrying value
by 63%. If we determine in the future that Aerex’s discounted future cash inflows will be less than our present expectations, we may be

required to record additional impairment losses to reduce the remaining carrying values
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of our manufacturing segment’s goodwill and its remaining unamortized intangible assets balances, which amounted to $1,985,211 and
$754,444, respectively, as of December 31, 2022. Any such impairment losses could have a material adverse impact on our consolidated
results of operations.

Current economic conditions are adversely impacting the supply chain for our operations and could have a material adverse
impact on our financial results.

As a result of the current economic conditions, we are experiencing issues with our supply chain for the raw materials, components,
chemicals, and capital expenditures used in our operations, including rapidly increasing prices, scarcities/shortages, and longer fulfillment
times and unexpected delays for our orders to suppliers. Should these economic conditions and issues continue, our operations could be

adversely affected, which could have a material adverse impact on our consolidated financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.

The profitability of our contracts is dependent upon our ability to accurately estimate construction and operating costs.

The cost estimates we prepare in connection with the construction and operation of our water plants, the water infrastructure we construct
and sell to third parties, and our manufacturing contracts, are subject to inherent uncertainties. Additionally, the terms of our water supply
contracts may require us to guarantee the price of water on a per unit basis, subject to certain annual inflation and monthly energy cost
adjustments, and to assume the risk that the costs associated with producing this water may be greater than anticipated. Because we base
our contract prices in part on our estimation of future construction, manufacturing and operating costs, the profitability of our plants and our
manufacturing and management operations and maintenance contracts is dependent on our ability to estimate these costs accurately. The
cost of materials and services and the cost of the delivery of such services may increase significantly after we submit our bid for contract,
which could cause the gross profit for a contract to be less than we anticipated when the bid was made. The profit margins we initially expect
to generate from a managementan operations and maintenance contract could be further reduced if future operating costs for that contract
exceed our estimates of such costs. Any construction, manufacturing, and operating costs for our contracts that significantly exceed our

initial estimates could have a material adverse impact our consolidated financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.
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Certain of PERC’s contracts with its customers may be terminated at any time at the customer’s convenience or with relatively
short advance notice. The termination of any of these contracts prior to their full performance may result in us realizing less than

the full consideration payable under the contract and may negatively impact our financial results.

Certain of PERC's contracts with its customers, and substantially all of its contracts with governments or municipalities, may be terminated at
any time at the customer’s convenience with no or relatively short advance notice. Our business is highly dependent on the purchase of our
products and services by government and municipalities, and we believe that contracts with similar termination provisions will continue to be
a source of a substantial portion of our revenue for the foreseeable future.

If a customer terminates one of our contracts for convenience, we generally may recover, at most, our incurred or committed costs,
settlement expenses, and payment for on work completed or products delivered prior to the termination. As such, the termination of any of
these contracts prior to their stated term may result in us realizing less than the full consideration payable under the contract. If any such

contract is terminated prior to us performing a substantial portion of the work to be performed or delivering a substantial portion of the
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products to be delivered, prior to the termination, such termination may have a material adverse impact on our consolidated results of

operations.

A significant portion of our consolidated revenue is derived from our water supply agreements with the WSC. The loss of the WSC

as a customer would adversely affect us.
One bulk water customer, the WSC, accounted for approximately 32% 17% of our consolidated revenue for 2022, 2023. If, for financial or

other reasons, the WSC does not comply with the terms of our water supply agreements our consolidated financial condition, results of

operations, and cash flows could be materially adversely affected.
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Our operations are affected by tourism and are subject to seasonal fluctuations and other factors beyond our control that could

affect the demand for our water.

Demand for our water in the Cayman Islands and The Bahamas is affected by variations in the level of tourism and local weather, primarily
rainfall. Tourism in our service areas is affected by the economies of the tourists’ home countries, primarily the United States and Europe,
terrorist activity and perceived threats thereof, global health concerns such as COVID-19, and increased costs of fuel and airfare. In the
Cayman Islands, we normally sell more water during the first and second quarters of the year, when the number of tourists is greater and
local rainfall is less than in the third and fourth quarters. A downturn in tourism or greater than expected rainfall in the locations we serve
could adversely impact our results of operations and cash flows. The During the COVID-19 pandemic, and the resulting cessation of tourism
to the Cayman Islands through August 2022 significantly reduced demand for our water. We are unable at this time to determine if or when
demand for our water in the Cayman Islands will return to pre-pandemic levels.

Performance shortfalls under any of our bulk supply contracts could result in penalties or cancellation of the contract.

Our bulk water supply agreements require us to meet specified minimum quality, quantity and energy consumption guarantees. Membrane
fouling or other technical problems could occur at any of our plants, and if we are unable to meet the guarantees due to such technical
problems, we could be in default of the supply agreement and subject to various adverse consequences, including financial penalties or

cancellation of the agreement.

Our operations could be harmed by natural disasters such as hurricanes or earthquakes.

A natural disaster could cause major damage to our equipment and properties and the properties of our customers, including the large tourist
properties in our areas of operation. For example, in January 2020, Grand Cayman experienced an earthquake which damaged three of our
eight storage tanks. Any future disaster could cause us to lose use of our equipment and properties and incur additional repair costs.
Damage to our customers’ properties and the adverse impact on tourism could result in a decrease in water demand. A natural disaster

could also disrupt the delivery of equipment and supplies,
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including electricity, necessary to our operations. These and other possible effects of natural disasters could have a material adverse impact
on our consolidated financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.

Contamination of our water may cause disruption in our services and adversely affect our revenue.

Our feed water and/or processed water may become contaminated by natural occurrences and by inadvertent or intentional human
interference, including acts of terrorism. If our feed water and/or processed water becomes contaminated, we may have to interrupt our
supply of desalinated potable water until we are able to install treatment equipment or substitute the flow of water from an uncontaminated
water source. In addition, we may incur significant costs in order to treat contaminated feed or processed water through expansion of our
current treatment facilities, or development of new treatment methods. An inability by us to substitute feed water from an uncontaminated
water source or to adequately treat the contaminated plant feed water or our processed water in a cost-effective manner may have a material

adverse impact on our consolidated financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.

Potential government decisions, actions and regulations could negatively affect our operations.

We are subject to the local regulations of the Cayman Islands, The Bahamas and the British Virgin Islands, countries in which we operate, all
of which are subject to change. Any government that regulates our operations may issue legislation or adopt new regulations, including but
not limited to:

restricting foreign ownership (by us);

providing for the expropriation of our assets by the government;
providing for nationalization of public utilities by the government;
providing for different water quality standards;

unilaterally changing or renegotiating our license and agreements;
restricting the transfer of U.S. currency; or
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e causing currency exchange fluctuations/devaluations or enacting changes in tax laws.

As new laws and regulations are issued, we may be required to modify our operations and business strategy, which we may be unable to do
in a cost-effective manner. Failure by us to comply with applicable regulations could result in the loss of our authorizations to operate, the
assessment of penalties or fines, or otherwise may have a material adverse impact on our consolidated financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows.

Unforeseen environmental costs could adversely affect our business and results of operations.

We are subject to various federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations concerning environmental protection, including laws
addressing water quality and contamination, the discharge of pollutants into the air and water, the management and disposal of hazardous
substances and wastes, and the cleanup of contaminated sites. In particular, we face increasing complexity in our operations as we adjust to
new and future requirements relating to water quality, the composition of our other products, their safe use, the energy consumption
associated with our operations, and climate change laws and regulations. If we were to violate or become liable under environmental laws or
if our products become non-compliant with environmental laws, we could incur substantial costs or face other sanctions, which may include
restrictions on operating in certain jurisdictions. Our potential exposure includes fines and civil or criminal sanctions, third-party property
damage, personal injury claims and clean-up costs. Further, liability under some environmental laws relating to contaminated sites can be
imposed retroactively on a joint and several basis, and without any finding of noncompliance or fault. The amount and timing of costs to
comply with environmental laws are difficult to predict. In addition, any complaints or lawsuits against us based on water quality and
contamination may receive negative publicity that can damage our reputation and adversely affect our business and trading price of our

common stock.
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If we fail to abide by laws, rules and regulations relating to human and workers’ rights, we could be subject to suitvarious actions
and our reputation, could be harmed, which could result in losses in our business and financial results. results could be adversely

affected.

We are subject to various federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations concerning human rights, including laws prohibiting
discrimination, harassment, and forced or child labor, and establishing wage and hour standards. If we were to violate or become liable under
human or workers’ laws, we could incur substantial costs or face other sanctions. Our potential exposure includes fines and civil or criminal
sanctions or liability. The amount and timing of costs to comply with human and workers’ rights laws are difficult to predict. Additionally, the
success of our business depends on earning and maintaining the trust and confidence of our customers, suppliers, stockholders and the
communities in which we operate, our ability to compete for future opportunities, and our reputation among existing and potential clients and
partners. Our reputation is critical to our business and could be impacted by events that may be difficult or impossible to control, and costly or
impossible to remediate. For example, alleged or actual failures by us or our employees to comply with applicable human or workers’ rights
laws, rules or regulations, expectations and perceptions of our employment and environmental, social and governance practices, threatened
or actual litigation against us or our employees, or the public announcement and potential publicity surrounding any of these issues, even if
inaccurate, satisfactorily addressed, or if no violation or wrongdoing actually occurred, could adversely impact our reputation and
relationships with customers, suppliers, stockholders and the communities in which we operate, and our ability to renew or negotiate new
agreements for projects. Any such failure or reputational harm could have an adverse effect on our consolidated financial condition, results of

operations and cash flows.

We rely on the efforts of key employees. Our failure to retain these employees could adversely affect our results of operations.

Our success depends upon the abilities of our Executive Officers. In particular, the loss of the services of Frederick W. McTaggart, our
President and Chief Executive Officer, could be detrimental to our operations and our continued success. Mr. McTaggart has an employment
agreement expiring on December 31, 2025 December 31, 2026. Each year, the term of this agreement may be extended for an additional
year. However, we cannot guarantee that Mr. McTaggart will continue to work for us during the term of his agreement or will extend his

employment agreement with us.
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Our business could be adversely affected by cyber threats or other interruptions in information technology, communications

networks and operations.

As part of our operations, we rely on computer systems to process transactions and communicate with our customers, suppliers and other
third parties. We rely on continued and unimpeded access to secure network connections to communicate between locations and on reliable
internet connections to communicate with external parties. We have physical, technical and procedural safeguards in place that are designed
to protect information and protect against security and data breaches as well as fraudulent transactions and other activities. Despite these
safeguards and our other security processes and protections, we cannot be assured that all our systems and processes are free from

vulnerability to evolving and increasingly sophisticated cyber-attacks, to other physical breaches or to inadvertent data disclosure by third
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parties or by us. A significant data security breach, including misappropriation of customer, supplier or confidential employee information,
could cause us to incur significant costs, which may include potential costs of investigations, legal, forensic and consulting fees and
expenses, costs and diversion of management attention required for investigation, remediation and litigation, substantial repair or
replacement costs. We could also experience data losses that would impair our ability to manage our business operations, including
accounting and project costs, manage our water and distribution systems or process transactions and have a negative impact on our
reputation and loss of confidence of our customers, suppliers and others, any of which could have a material adverse impact on our

consolidated financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows and our business in general.

We are exposed to credit risk through our relationships with several customers.

We are subject to credit risk posed by possible defaults in payment by our bulk water customers in the Cayman Islands, The Bahamas and
the British Virgin Islands. We are also subject to credit risk posed by possible defaults in payment by our customers in the United States.

Adverse economic conditions affecting, or financial difficulties of, those parties could impair their ability to pay us or cause them to delay

payment. We depend on these parties to pay us on a timely basis. Our
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outstanding accounts receivable are not covered by collateral or credit insurance. Any delay or default in payment could adversely affect our

consolidated financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.

We are exposed to the risk of variations in currency exchange rates.

Although we report our results in United States dollars, mosta significant portion of our revenue is earned in other currencies. These
currencies have been fixed to the United States dollar for more than 20 years. Consequently, we do not employ hedging strategies against
the foreign currency exchange rate risk associated with conducting business in foreign currencies while reporting in United States dollars. If
any of the existing fixed exchange rates for these other currencies becomes a floating exchange rate and any of these currencies depreciate
against the U.S. dollar, our consolidated financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows could be materially adversely affected.

We may not pay dividends in the future. If dividends are paid, they may be in lesser amounts than past dividends.

Our shareholders may receive dividends out of legally available funds if, and when, they are declared by our Board of Directors. We have
paid dividends in the past but may cease to do so at any time. We may incur increased operating or development expenses or capital
requirements or indebtedness in the future that may restrict our ability to pay dividends. We may also be restricted from paying dividends in
the future due to restrictions imposed by applicable corporate laws, our consolidated financial condition, results of operations and cash flows,
covenants contained in financing agreements, and other factors considered by our Board of Directors. We may not continue to pay dividends

in the future or, if dividends are paid, they may not be in amounts comparable to past dividends.

Service of process and enforcement of legal proceedings commenced against us in the United States may be difficult to obtain.

We are incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands and most of our assets are located outside of the United States. In addition, six of
our 14 Directors and Officers reside outside the United States. As a result, it may be difficult for investors to execute service of process within

the United States upon us and such other persons, or to enforce judgments obtained against such persons in United States courts, and bring

any action, including actions predicated upon the civil liability
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provisions of the United States securities laws. In addition, it may be difficult for investors to enforce, in original actions brought in courts or

jurisdictions located outside of the United States, rights predicated upon the United States securities laws.

Based on the advice of our Cayman Islands legal counsel, we believe no reciprocal statutory enforcement of foreign judgments exists
between the United States and the Cayman Islands, and that foreign judgments originating from the United States are not directly
enforceable in the Cayman Islands. A prevailing party in a United States proceeding against us or our Directors and Officers would have to
initiate a new proceeding in the Cayman Islands using the United States judgment as evidence of the party’s claim. A prevailing party could
rely on the summary judgment procedures available in the Cayman Islands, subject to available defenses in the Cayman Islands courts,
including, but not limited to, the lack of competent jurisdiction in the United States courts, lack of due service of process in the United States
proceeding and the possibility that enforcement or recognition of the United States judgment would be contrary to the public policy of the
Cayman Islands.

Depending on the nature of damages awarded, civil liabilities under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (or the Securities Act), or the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (or the Exchange Act), for original actions instituted outside the Cayman Islands may or may
not be enforceable. For example, a United States judgment awarding remedies unobtainable in any legal action in the courts of the Cayman

Islands, such as treble damages, would likely not be enforceable under any circumstances.
The relatively low trading volume of our stock may adversely impact the ability to sell our shares.
The average daily trading volume of our common stock in 20222023 was approximately 102,300 131,600 shares, a much lower trading

volume than that of many other companies listed on the NASDAQ Global Select Market. A public trading market having the desired
characteristics of depth, liquidity and orderliness depends on the presence in the market of willing buyers and
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sellers of our common stock at any given time. This presence in turn depends on the individual decisions of investors and general economic
and market conditions over which we have no control. Due to the limited volume of trading in our common stock, an investor in our stock may
have difficulty selling larger volumes of our common stock in the manner, or at the price, that might be attainable if our common stock were

more actively traded.
ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.

ITEM 1C. CYBERSECURITY
Cybersecurity Risk Management and Strategy

Our information technology (“IT”) and cybersecurity programs are crucial to maintaining secure operations, which enable us to deliver on our
promise to customers and maintain stakeholder trust. Our Vice President of Information Technology (“VP IT") is responsible for establishing,
implementing, and executing our cybersecurity program and strategy. Our VP IT has more than 25 years of IT, IT audit, and cybersecurity
experience, and is involved in assessing the latest developments in cybersecurity, including potential threats and innovative risk

management techniques. All IT staff are obliged to include cybersecurity as part of their everyday considerations and tasks.
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Our cybersecurity program is a critical component of our enterprise risk management process overseen by our Board of Directors, and we
have integrated cybersecurity-related risks into our overall enterprise risk management framework. Additionally, cybersecurity-related risks

are included in the risk universe that the risk management function evaluates to assess top risks to the enterprise on an annual basis.

Our IT department proactively identifies, manages, and mitigates cyber risk in a variety of ways, including but not limited to:
A formal enterprise-wide cybersecurity policy and related standards;

Cybersecurity training and employee phishing simulations;

Ongoing vulnerability assessment, identification, and remediation;

Cyber incident response, IT disaster recovery, and business continuity plans;

Identity and access management controls;

~ 0o o0 o @

Automated patch management and security updates;

Network isolation of key operations environments; and

J @

Email filtering with attachment inspection and targeted threat protection.

The standards set in our cybersecurity program include the implementation of controls that are aligned with industry guidelines and
applicable regulations to identify threats, deter attacks, and protect our information security assets. These standards are guided, in part, by
the relevant National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) and American Water Works Association (AWWA) frameworks and
guidance. We use various tools, security measures and technologies to aid in seeking to protect our network perimeter and internal systems
from unauthorized access, intrusion, or disruption. Assessments are conducted across our systems, networks, and data infrastructure to

identify potential cybersecurity threats and vulnerabilities.

We have policies and procedures in place for selecting and managing our relationships with third-party service providers and other business
partners, including monitoring compliance with our agreements and regulatory and legal requirements. We also actively engage with industry
participants and related communities as part of our continuing efforts to evaluate and enhance the effectiveness of our information security
policies and procedures. In addition, a monitoring and detection system has been implemented to help identify cybersecurity threats and
incidents. Our cybersecurity program also focuses on providing training and awareness to our employees and contractors on cybersecurity

best practices.
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Cybersecurity Governance

Our Board of Directors considers cybersecurity risk as part of its risk oversight function and has delegated to the Audit Committee oversight
of cybersecurity and other IT risks. The Audit Committee oversees management’s implementation of our cybersecurity risk management

program.

The Audit Committee oversees the management of our cybersecurity risk exposures and the steps management has taken to monitor and
control such exposures. At each quarterly meeting, the Audit Committee receives an update from our VP IT and other members of
management on relevant topics, including cybersecurity program maturity progress, new capabilities implemented, testing results, key cyber
risk metrics (e.g., simulated phishing testing and vulnerability management) and notable incidents or events should they occur. On an annual
basis, our Board of Directors meets with our VP IT and our third-party cybersecurity consultant to review our cybersecurity strategy. In
accordance with our cybersecurity incident response plan, our Board of Directors is promptly informed of potentially material cybersecurity
incidents, including with respect to our third-party service providers.

Although we have experienced cybersecurity incidents from time to time that have not had a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, or results of operations, there can be no assurance that a cyber-attack, security breach, or other cybersecurity incident

will not have a material adverse effect on us in the future.

Our management team supervises efforts to prevent, detect, mitigate, and remediate cybersecurity risks and incidents through various

means, which may include briefings from internal security personnel; threat intelligence and other information obtained from governmental,
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public or private sources, including external consultants engaged by us; and alerts and reports produced by security tools deployed in the IT

environment.

For a discussion regarding risks from cybersecurity threats that have or are reasonably likely to affect the company, see the risk factor titled
“Our business could be adversely affected by cyber threats or other interruptions to information technology, communications networks and
operations.” in Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Cayman Islands Properties

Abel Castillo Water Works

We own and operate our Abel Castillo Water Works, which is located in the Seven Mile Beach area and encompasses 12,812 square feet of
buildings, two seawater reverse osmosis desalination plants with an aggregate capacity of 3.0 million gallons per day, a high service
distribution pump house, warehouse space and three potable water storage tanks each with a capacity of 1.0 million gallons and one potable
water storage tank with a capacity of 2.0 million gallons with an aggregate storage capacity of 5.0 million gallons. The site is located on 4.2

acres, including 485 feet of waterfront.

West Bay Plant

We ownlIn 2023, we commissioned a new seawater reverse osmosis desalination plant in the West Bay area and operate our West
Bay decommissioned the previous plant located on 6.1 acres in West Bay. the same property. The new plant began operating in 1995, was
expanded over the years, and now has November 2023, with a production capacity of approximately 885,000 1,000,000 gallons per day and
is expandable to 2,000,000 gallons per day. On this This site we have contains a 2,600 5,000 square foot concrete building which houses our
water production facilities, facility, a 2,400 square foot building which houses the potable water distribution pumps, a water quality testing
laboratory, and office space and water storage capacity consisting of three potable water tanks each with a capacity of 1.0 million gallons
with an aggregate storage capacity of 3.0 million gallons.
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Britannia Plant
We Although we own our Britannia seawater reverse osmosis desalination plant which is located in the Seven Mile Beach area, this plant is

not currently operational. However, we still have and consists of a seawater reverse osmosis production plant with a capacity of 715,000

gallons of water per day, operate a potable water storage tank with a capacity
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of 840,000 gallons, potable water high service pumps, and various ancillary equipment. We have leased the site (comprised of 0.73 acres)

and steel frame building which houses the plant for a term that ends in 2027 at an annual rent of $1.00.

Distribution System

We own our Seven Mile Beach and West Bay potable water distribution systems in Grand Cayman which consist of potable water pipes,
valves, curb stops, meter boxes, and water meters. We have the legal right to maintain (and expand or contract as necessary) these systems

on public and private land within our licensed service area.

Corporate Office

We occupy approximately 5,700 square feet of office space at the Regatta Office Park, West Bay Road, Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands

under a lease that expires in April 2024. We expect to renew this lease.

Other Property

In October 2022, Cayman Water purchased for $2.94 million approximately 2.8 acres of land in the West Bay area of Grand
Cayman. Cayman Water expects to use this site for the construction of a new corporate headquarters, emergency operations center and
warehouse facility at some point in the future.

Bahamas Properties

Windsor Plant

Our Windsor water production facility, located in Nassau, New Providence, has a production capacity of 2.8 million gallons per day. The plant
is powered by a combination of diesel engine-driven high-pressure pumps and electrical power purchased from Bahamas Power and Light to
power all other loads in the plant. The plant is contained within a 12,000 sq. ft. steel building, and a warehouse, workshop and offices are
contained within a 2,600 sq. ft. concrete building. The buildings are located on land owned by the WSC and our water sales agreement gives
us a license to use the land throughout the term of that agreement, which expires in 2033. We also own and maintain a 5.0 million gallon
welded steel water storage tank that was constructed by us and is operated by the WSC.

Blue Hills Plant

Our Blue Hills plant in Nassau, New Providence consists of two production facilities. The first facility was completed in July 2006, has a
production capacity of 7.2 million gallons per day, and is powered by a combination of diesel engine-driven high-pressure pumps and
electrical power purchased from the Bahamas Power and Light to power all other loads in the plant. The plant is contained within a concrete
and steel building with a footprint of 16,000 square feet that also contains a warehouse, workshop and offices. It is located on land owned by

the WSC and our 20-year water sales agreement gives us a license to use the land throughout the term of that agreement.

The Blue Hills plant water supply agreement was amended in January 2011 and extended through 2032. Pursuant to this amendment, we
added a second production facility to increase the total production capacity of the Blue Hills plant to 12.0 million gallons per day. The second
facility was completed in March of 2012 and is powered by a combination of diesel engine-driven high-pressure pumps and electrical power
purchased from the Bahamas Power and Light to power all other loads in the plant. The second facility is contained within a steel building
with a footprint of 10,640 square feet located adjacent to the initial production facility on land owned by the WSC. We also own and maintain

a 1.0 million gallon welded steel elevated water storage tank that was constructed by us and is operated by the WSC.

23

Table of Contents

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 31/133
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I ‘

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

U.S. Properties

Aerex owns itsa 30,000 square foot manufacturing facility located on 6.4 acres of land in Fort Pierce, Florida and has approximately 6,000

square feet of office space in downtown Fort Pierce under a lease that expires on June 30, 2023 June 30, 2026.
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Our Aquilex warehouse consists of 4,100 square feet located in Sunrise, Florida that has been leased through September 2025. Our Aquilex

office consists of 6,500 square feet located in Coral Springs, Florida that has been leased through March 2026.

PERC leases approximately 4,100 square feet of office space in Fountain Valley, California that serves as its corporate headquarters. This

lease expired in August 2021 and is currently on a month-to-month basis.

RECleases approximately 7,500 square feet of office space in Frederick, Colorado that serves as its corporate headquarters under a lease
that expires on October 1, 2029.

Mexico Properties

NSC and AdR own 20.1 hectares and 0.18 hectares of land, respectively, in Rosarito Beach, Baja California, Mexico.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

None.Mexico Project litigation
a) EWG request of precautionary measures

In January 2018, EWG Water LLC (“EWG”) initiated an ordinary mercantile claim against, among others, N.S.C. Agua, S.A. de C.V. (“NSC”")
and Consolidated Water Cooperatief, U.A. (“CW-Cooperatief”) (with Aguas de Rosarito S.A.P.I. de C.V. (“AdR") being named as a third party
to be called to trial) before the Tenth Civil Judge in Tijuana, Baja California for Mercantile Matters (the “Tenth Civil Judge”).

In such claim, EWG challenged, among other things, the transactions contemplated under a certain option agreement (entered into in 2012),
and therefore, the capital investment transactions occurring in May 2013 that increased the ownership interest of CW-Cooperatief in NSC to
99.99%. On October 1, 2020, and following an order from a Federal Judge obtained by NSC, the Tenth Civil Judge resolved to (i) move the
claim of EWG to arbitration, and (ii) suspend the corresponding ordinary mercantile procedure. Within the above-mentioned claim, the Tenth

Civil Judge granted EWG certain preliminary measures against NSC, which were later overturned by an Upper Court.

In July 2023, EWG filed a motion before a local court in Playas de Rosarito, Baja California (the “Rosarito Court”) to obtain precautionary
measures consisting of the securing of assets owned by NSC (particularly real estate), as a procedure prior to the commencement of an
arbitration that allegedly would be initiated by EWG against NSC to claim the payment of an indemnification for damages derived from a so-
called simulation of legal acts. In the opinion of the Rosarito Court, such motion did not require notification to NSC or the presentation of
counterarguments by NSC to the motion prior to securing the assets of NSC.

On July 28, 2023, the Rosarito Court issued a resolution in which it: (i) granted the precautionary measures requested by EWG, subject to
the posting of a bond in the amount of MXN$1,500,000 (One Million Five Hundred Thousand Mexican Pesos), and (ii) ordered that once the
precautionary measures were executed, EWG would have three business days counted as from the posting of the bond, to initiate and prove
to the Rosarito Court that it initiated the arbitration. To the Company’s knowledge EWG has not posted the bond. Consequently, NSC has not

been summoned to an arbitration procedure.
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As EWG has apparently not posted the bond set by the Rosarito Court (i) the precautionary measures have not been enforced, (ii) no
securing or attachment has been registered against the real estate of NSC; and (iii) NSC has not been formally summoned to this procedure.

As stated previously, NSC is unaware of any arbitration commenced by EWG regarding this matter.
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b) NSC amparo lawsuit

On August 16, 2023, NSC filed an amparo suit (i.e. application for constitutional relief) before the Eleventh Federal District Court in Tijuana
(“Federal District Court in Tijuana”) against the precautionary measures granted to EWG by the Rosarito Court.

In its amparo suit, NSC also requested the Federal District Court in Tijuana to grant an order to put on hold said precautionary measures. A
preliminary order to stay was granted by the Federal District Court in Tijuana, followed by a definitive injunction, subject to the posting of a
guarantee. NSC has submitted the guarantee to the court.

NSC subsequently filed an extension of the amparo suit introducing new arguments aiming to strengthen NSC’s position. The amparo

extension was admitted through a resolution published on November 7, 2023.
The Federal District Court in Tijuana has not been able to summon EWG on this amparo suit, as it has not been able to determine nor obtain
information on an address where EWG can be summoned. As such, the Federal District Court in Tijuana has requested various authorities to

provide information on any domicile where EWG can be summoned.

The responses of some authorities are in process of being received by the Federal District Court in Tijuana. NSC is waiting until all the
authorities provide their official response to determine if there is a viable alternative for summoning EWG.

NSC offered certain evidence consisting of the docket of amparo file number 74/2020, which was processed by the Twelfth Civil District
Court in Tijuana. The Amparo Law provides that any documentary evidence offered by the parties shall be issued without any cost.
Therefore, NSC requested the Court to grant the expedition of said copies for free.

However, this request was denied by the Federal District Court in Tijuana. Therefore, NSC filed an appeal for review against said decision,
which was admitted by the Federal District Court in Tijuana and sent to the Second Collegiate Circuit Court in Tijuana, acting as Court of
Appeals, which confirmed the admission of the appeal remedy through a resolution published on January 26, 2024. The judgment is still
pending resolution.

We cannot presently determine what impact the resolution of this matter may have on our consolidated financial statements.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.

PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

Our Class A common stock is listed on the NASDAQ Global Select Market and trades under the symbol “CWCQO”.
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No trading market exists for our redeemable preferred stock, which is only issued to, or purchased by, long-term employees of our company.

On January 3, 2022 January 3, 2023, March 30, 2022 March 31, 2023 and January 3, 2023 January 2, 2024, we issued a total of
23,41125,986 shares, 18,41913,797 shares and 25,986 29,392 shares of our common stock, respectively, to Executive Officers under
the our 2008 Equity Incentive Plan. On December 9, 2022 December 12, 2023, we issued a total of 30,767 22,831 shares of our common
stock to our Directors under the our Non-Executive Directors’ Share Plan in consideration for their service on our Board of Directors and the
committees thereof. See “ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION”.
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Currently 2,023,850 Bahamian Depository Receipts (“BDRs”) that constitute ownership of 404,770 shares of our common stock are listed
and traded on the Bahamian International Stock Exchange. Our common shares that underlie these BDRs are held in a custodial account in
The Bahamas. The BDRs are entitled to dividend payments, when declared, on our common stock in proportion to the BDRS' relative value
to our common stock.

Holders

As of March 24, 2023 March 20, 2024, we had 718 706 holders of record of our common stock.
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Dividends

Our Board of Directors declares and approves any and all dividends.

We have paid dividends to owners of our common stock and redeemable preferred stock since we began declaring dividends in 1985.
However, the payment of any future cash dividends will depend upon our earnings, financial condition, cash flows, capital requirements and

other factors our Board of Directors deems relevant in determining the amount and timing of such dividends.

Listed below, for each quarter of the last two fiscal years, are the per share dividends declared on our issued and outstanding shares of

common shares and redeemable preferred stock.

2022 2021 2023 2022
First Quarter $ 0.085 $ 0.085 $0.085 $0.085
Second Quarter 0.085 0.085 0.085 0.085
Third Quarter 0.085 0.085 0.095 0.085
Fourth Quarter 0.085 0.085 0.095 0.085

$ 034 $ 034 $ 036 $ 0.34
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Exchange Controls and Other Limitations Affecting Security Holders
Our Company is not subject to any governmental laws, decrees or regulations in the Cayman Islands which restrict the export or import of
capital, or that affect the remittance of dividends, interest or other payments to non-resident holders of our securities. The Cayman Islands

does not impose any limitations on the right of non-resident owners to hold or vote our common stock. There are no exchange control

restrictions in the Cayman Islands.

The information required by Item 201(d) of Regulation S-K is provided under ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL
OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS of this Annual Report.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA [RESERVED]

Not applicable.
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ITEM7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overview

Our water production operations and activities, and those of our affiliate OC-BVI, are conducted at 1110 plants in three countries: the
Cayman Islands, The Bahamas, and the British Virgin Islands. The following table sets forth the comparative combined production capacity

of our retail and bulk segments and our affiliate as of December 31 of each year.

Compar
Operati
2022 2021
2023 2023 2022

Location Plants Capacity (1) Location Plants Capacity (1) Plants Capacity (1) Location Plants Capacity (1)

Cayman

Islands 7 9.9 Cayman Islands 7 9.9 6 9.3 Cayman Islands 7 9.9

Bahamas 2 14.8 Bahamas 2 14.8 2 14.8 Bahamas 2 14.8

British

Virgin

Islands 2 0.8  British Virgin Islands 2 0.8 2 0.8  British Virgin Islands 2 0.8

11 255 11 255 10 24.9 11 255
(1) In millions of gallons per day.
(1) 1n millions of gallons per day.
25
REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 35/133

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

Table Effective October 1, 2023, the Company purchased, _through its wholly-owned subsidiary PERC, a 100% ownership interest in Ramey,

Environmental Compliance,_Inc.,_a Colorado company_that operates and maintains water and wastewater treatment facilities and provides

technical services to clients throughout the Rocky Mountain and Eastern Plains Regions of Contents

Our water treatment Colorado. PERC acquired REC in November 2023 for approximately $4.1 million and reuse facilities are conducted at 27
plants in the United States. recorded goodwill and intangible assets of $2,436,391 and $1,108,390, respectively, as of October 1, 2023 as a
result of this acquisition.

The following table sets forth the comparative combined estimated production capacity of our services segment as of December 31 of each

year.
Comparative
Operations

2022 2021

2023 2023 2022

Location Plants Capacity (1) Location Plants Capacity (1) Plants Capacity (1) Location Plants Capacity (1)

United

States 27 52.5 United States 28 52.6 31 59.7  United States 27 52.5

(6]

(1) In estimated millions of gallons per day.

As of December 31, 2023, REC performed operations, maintenance, and monitoring services for 72 wastewater and water treatment plants

located in the Rocky Mountain and Eastern Plains Regions of Colorado.

Cayman Islands

We have been operating our business on Grand Cayman since 1973 and have been using reverse osmosis technology to convert seawater
to potable water since 1989. The Cayman Islands have a limited natural supply of fresh water. We have an exclusive license from the
Cayman Islands government to process potable water from seawater and then sell and distribute that water by pipeline to the Seven Mile
Beach and West Bay areas of Grand Cayman. This license expired in January 2018 but as discussed in the following paragraph we continue
to provide water under the terms of this license. Our Grand Cayman operations consist of fourthree company-owned seawater reverse
osmosis desalination plants which provide water to approximately 7,9508,095 retail residential and commercial connections within a
government licensed area and three government-owned seawater reverse osmosis plants which supply bulk water to the WAC. Our pipeline
system on Grand Cayman Island covers the Seven Mile Beach and West Bay areas of Grand Cayman and consists of approximately 100

miles of potable water pipe.
Our exclusive license from the Cayman Islands government was originally scheduled to expire in July 2010 but was extended several times

by the Cayman Islands government in order to provide the parties with additional time to negotiate the terms of a new license agreement.
The most recent express extension of the license expired on January 31, 2018. We
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continue to operate under the terms of the 1990 license, providing water services to the level and quality specified in the 1990 license and in
accordance with our understanding of its legal obligations, treating those obligations set forth in the 1990 license as operative
notwithstanding the expiration of the express extension. We continue to pay the royalty required under the 1990 license. We have been
informed during our retail license negotiations that the Cayman Islands government seeks to restructure the terms of our license in a manner

that could significantly reduce the operating income and cash flows we have historically generated from our retail license. Our retail license

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 36/133
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I ‘

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

negotiations have also been impacted by the passage of new legislation and the establishment of a new water regulatory body in the
Cayman lIslands. See further discussion of this matter at ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS -— Material Commitments, Expenditures and Contingencies -— Cayman Water Retail

License.

The Bahamas

CW-Bahamas produces potable water from two seawater reverse osmosis desalination plants. The Windsor plant and the Blue Hills plant are
located in Nassau, New Providence and have a total installed capacity of 14.8 million gallons per day. CW-Bahamas supplies water from
these plants to the Water and Sewerage Corporation of The Bahamas (“WSC”) under long-term supply agreements. During 2022, 2023, we
supplied approximately 4.6 billion 4.8 billion gallons of water to the WSC from these plants, as compared to 4.4 billion4.6 billion gallons
during 2021. 2022.

From time to time (including presently), CW-Bahamas has experienced delays in collecting its accounts receivable. Representatives of the
Bahamas government have informed us that their delays in paying our accounts receivables did/do not reflect any type of dispute with us
with respect to the amounts owed. To date, we have not been required to provide an allowance for any delinquent all amounts due from CW-
Bahamas accounts receivable as such amounts were eventually paid in full. Based upon our experience, full, and we believe that the present
accounts receivable from the WSC are fully collectible and therefore have not provided any allowance for possible non-payment of these
receivables. collectible. Such accounts receivable balances due from The Bahamas government amounted to $16.3 million $26.9 million as of
December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023. See further discussion of this matter at ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS - LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES - CW-Bahamas Liquidity.

26

Table of Contents

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our critical accounting policies relate to (i) the valuations of our goodwill, intangible assets and long-lived assets; and (ii) revenue recognition

on our construction and manufacturing contracts.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses

during the reporting period. Our actual results could differ significantly from such estimates and assumptions.

The application of our critical accounting policies involve involves estimates or assumptions that constitute “critical accounting estimates” for
us because:

e the nature of these estimates or assumptions is material due to the levels of subjectivity and judgment necessary to account for highly
uncertain matters or the susceptibility of such matters to change; and

e the impact of the estimates and assumptions on financial condition and results of operations is material.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess cost of an acquired business over the fair value of the assets and liabilities of the acquired
business. business as of the date of acquisition. Goodwill and intangible assets acquired inrecorded as a result of a business combination
and determined to have an indefinite useful life are not amortized but are tested for impairment annually or upon the identification of a
triggering event. Intangible assets with estimable useful lives are amortized over their respective estimated useful lives to their estimated
residual values and reviewed periodically for impairment. We evaluate the possible impairment of goodwill annually as part of our reporting

process for the fourth quarter of each fiscal year. Management
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identifies our reporting units for goodwill impairment testing purposes, which consist of Cayman Water, the bulk segment (which is comprised
of CW-Bahamas and OC-Cayman), PERC, and the manufacturing segment (i.e., Aerex), and determines the carrying value of each reporting
unit by assigning the assets and liabilities, including the existing goodwill and intangible assets, to those reporting units. We determine the
fair value of each reporting unit and compare these fair values to the carrying amounts of the reporting units. To the extent the carrying

amount of the a reporting unit exceeds the fair value of the reporting unit, an impairment loss is recorded.

For 2021, 2023, we estimated elected to assess qualitative factors to determine whether it was necessary to perform the quantitative goodwill
impairment testing we have conducted in prior years for our reporting units. We assessed the relevant events and circumstances to evaluate
whether it is more likely than not that the fair value values of our such reporting units by applying the discounted cash flow method, which
relied upon seven-year discrete projections of operating results, working capital are less than their carrying values. The events and capital
expenditures, along with a terminal value subsequent to the discrete period. These seven-year projections were based upon historical and
anticipated future results, general economic circumstances assessed for each reporting unit included macroeconomic conditions, industry
and market conditions, cost factors, overall financial performance, and considered the impact of planned business and operational strategies.
The discount rates for the calculations represented the estimated cost of capital for market participants at the time of each analysis.

We also estimated the fair value of each of our reporting units for 2021 by applying the guideline public company method.

We weighted other relevant events. Based upon this qualitative assessment, we determined that it is more likely than not that the fair values
estimated for each of our reporting units under each method and summed such weighted fair values to estimate the overall fair value for
each reporting unit. The respective weightings we applied to each method for 2021 were 80% to the discounted cash flow method and 20%
to the guideline public company method.

The fair values we estimated for our Cayman Water, bulk segment, PERC and manufacturing reporting units exceeded their carrying
amounts by 32%, 51%, 15% and 15%, respectively, values as of December 31, 2021 December 31, 2023.

For 2022, we elected to assess qualitative factors to determine whether it was necessary to perform the quantitative goodwill impairment
testing we have conducted in prior years for all goodwill reporting units other than the manufacturing unit. We assessed the relevant events
and circumstances to evaluate whether it is more likely than not that the fair values of such reporting units are less than their carrying values.

The events and circumstances assessed for each unit included
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macroeconomic conditions, industry and market conditions, cost factors, expected future results, overall financial performance, and other
relevant events. Based upon this qualitative assessment we determined that it is more likely than not that the fair values of our Cayman
Water and bulk segment reporting units exceeded their carrying values as of December 31, 2022. Based upon our negotiated, arms-length
purchase of the remaining 39% equity interest in PERC from its minority shareholders for $7.8 million in January 2023, the fair value of our
PERC reporting unit exceeded its carrying value by 79% as of December 31, 2022.
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Due to the factors discussed in the following paragraphs, we elected to test the goodwill associated with our manufacturing reporting unit for

possible impairment for 2022 using the quantitative tests applied in prior years.

In connection with our acquisition of Aerex in 2016, we recorded goodwill of $8,035,211. Aerex’s actual results of operations for 2016 fell
significantly short of the projected results that were included in the cash flow projections we utilized to determine the purchase price for
Aerex and the fair values of its assets and liabilities. Due to this shortfall in Aerex’s results of operations, we tested our manufacturing
segment’s goodwill for possible impairment and recorded an impairment loss of ($1,750,000) in 2016. As part of our annual impairment
testing of goodwill performed during the fourth quarter, in 2017 we updated our projections for Aerex’s future cash flows, determined that the
carrying value of our manufacturing reporting unit exceeded its fair value, and recorded an impairment loss of ($1,400,000) for December 31,

2017 to further reduce the carrying value of our manufacturing segment goodwill to $4,885,211.

Approximately 80% of Aerex’s revenue, and 89% of Aerex’s gross profit, for the year ended December 31, 2020 were generated from sales
to one customer. While Aerex sells various products to this customer, Aerex’s revenue from this customer has had historically been derived
primarily from one specialized product. In October 2020, this customer informed Aerex that, for inventory management purposes, it was
suspending its purchases of the specialized product from Aerex following 2020 for a period of approximately one year. This customer
informed Aerex at that time that it expected to recommence its purchases of the specialized product from Aerex beginning with the first
quarter of 2022. As a result of this anticipated loss of revenue for Aerex, we updated our projections for our manufacturing reporting unit's
future cash flows. Such projections assumed, in part, that Aerex’s major customer would recommence its purchases from Aerex in 2022 but
at a reduced aggregate amount, as compared to 2020. Based upon these updated projections, we tested our manufacturing reporting unit's
goodwill for possible impairment as of December 31, 2020 using the discounted cash flow and guideline public company methods, with a
weighting of 80% and 20% applied to these two methods, respectively. As a result of these impairment tests, we determined that the
estimated fair value of our manufacturing reporting unit exceeded its carrying value by approximately 31% as of December 31, 2020.

In late July 2021, this former major customer communicated to Aerex that it expected to recommence its purchases of the specialized
product from Aerex in 2022 and subsequent years, but informed Aerex that such purchases would be at substantially reduced annual
amounts, as compared to the amounts it had purchased from Aerex in 2020 and prior years. Our updated sales estimate for this customer
based on this new information was substantially below the sales we anticipated to this customer for 2022 and subsequent years that we used
in the discounted cash flow projections we prepared for purposes of testing our manufacturing reporting unit's goodwill for possible
impairment as of December 31, 2020. Furthermore, Aerex’s efforts to replace the revenue previously generated from this customer with
revenue from existing and new customers were adversely impacted by the negative economic conditions (caused in part by the COVID-19
pandemic). These negative economic conditions also increased Aerex’s raw material costs, resulted in raw material shortages and extended
delivery times for such materials, and adversely affected the overall financial condition of Aerex's current and prospective customers.
Accordingly, in light of this new information from Aerex’s former major customer, and the on-going weak economic conditions that we

believed would continue through 2022, we updated our projections
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of future cash flows for the manufacturing reporting unit and tested its goodwill for possible impairment as of June 30, 2021 using the
discounted cash flow and guideline public company methods, with a weighting of 80% and 20% applied to these two methods, respectively.
Based upon this testing, we determined that the carrying value of our manufacturing reporting unit exceeded its fair value by $2.9 million, and

we recorded an impairment loss to reduce our manufacturing segment’s goodwill by this amount for the three months ended June 30, 2021.

For 2022, we estimated the fair value of our manufacturing reporting unit by applying the discounted cash flow method, which relied upon
seven-year discrete projections of operating results, working capital and capital expenditures, along with a terminal value subsequent to the
discrete period. These seven-year projections were based upon historical and anticipated future results, general economic and market
conditions, and considered the impact of planned business and
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operational strategies. The discount rates for the calculations represented the estimated cost of capital for market participants at the time of
eachthe analysis. We also estimated the fair value of our manufacturing reporting unit for the year ended December 31, 2022 by applying
the guideline public company method. We weighted the fair values estimated for our manufacturing reporting unit under each method and
summed such weighted fair values to estimate the overall fair value for the reporting unit. The respective weightings we applied to each
method for the year ended December 31, 2022 were 80% to the discounted cash flow method and 20% to the guideline public company

method.
The fair value we estimated for our manufacturing reporting unit exceeded its carrying amount by 63% as of December 31, 2022.

We believe the inherent uncertainties associated with the accounting estimates and assumptions we use for our estimates of our
manufacturing reporting unit's fair value have increased due to the current, less predictable economic conditions, which have resulted in
increasing raw material prices, extended and unexpected delays in the procurement and delivery of our raw materials, and have also, we
believe, adversely affected our customers. Should interest rates rise significantly in the future we would likely be required to increase the
discount rate we use under the discounted cash flow method we use to estimate the fair value of this reporting unit, and such increased
discount rate in and of itself could decrease the estimated fair value of our manufacturing reporting unit under the discounted cash flow
method.

As noted previously, based upon our estimation prepared as of December 31, 2022, the fair value of our manufacturing reporting unit
exceeded its carrying value by 63%. However, if we determine in the future that Aerex’s discounted future cash inflows will be less than our
present expectations, we may be required to record additional impairment losses to reduce the remaining carrying values of our
manufacturing segment’s goodwill and its remaining unamortized intangible assets balances, which amounted to $1,985,211 and $754,444,
respectively, as of December 31, 2022. Any such impairment losses could have a material adverse impact on our consolidated results of

operations.

Long-lived Assets

We review the carrying amounts of our long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of the assets might not be recoverable. Conditions that would necessitate an impairment assessment include a significant
decline in the observable market value of an asset, a significant change in the extent or manner in which an asset is used, or a significant
adverse change that would indicate that the carrying amount of an asset or group of assets is not recoverable. For long-lived assets to be
held and used, we recognize an impairment loss only if its carrying amount is not recoverable through its undiscounted cash flows and

measure the impairment loss based on the difference between the carrying amount and fair value.

On June 29, 2020, our Mexico subsidiary, AdR, received a letter from the State of Baja California (the “State”) terminating AdR’s contract
with the State involving the construction and operation of a desalination plant in Rosarito California and accompanying aqueduct to deliver
the water produced by this plant to the Mexican public water system. As a result of the cancellation of this contract, we recorded an

impairment loss for rights of way acquired for the contract’s proposed aqueduct of approximately ($3.0 million) in 2020.

Through our former subsidiary, PT Consolidated Water Bali (“CW-Bali"), we built and operated a seawater reverse osmosis plant with a
productive capacity of approximately 264,000 gallons per day located in Nusa Dua, one of the primary tourist areas of Bali, Indonesia. We
recorded operating losses for CW-Bali as the sales volumes for its plant were insufficient to cover its operating costs. In 2017 we determined,
based upon probability-weighted scenarios for CW-Bali's future undiscounted cash flows, that the carrying values of CW-Bali's long-lived
assets and our investment in CW-Bali were not recoverable. Consequently, we recorded impairment losses of ($1.6 million) in 2017 to
reduce the carrying values of these assets to their fair values.

Construction and Manufacturing Contract Revenue Recognition

We design, construct, and sell desalination infrastructure through DesalCo, which serves customers in the Cayman Islands, The Bahamas,
and the British Virgin Islands. We design, construct, and sell wastewater and water reuse infrastructure in the U.S. through PERC. Aerex, is
a custom and specialty manufacturer in the U.S. of water treatment-related systems and products applicable to commercial, municipal and

industrial water production.
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We recognize revenue for our construction and our specialized/custom manufacturing contracts over time under the input method using
costs incurred (which represents work performed) to date relative to the total estimated costs at completion to measure progress toward
satisfying a contract's performance obligations, as such measure best reflects the transfer of control of the promised good to the customer.
Contract costs include labor, materials, subcontractor costs and amounts payable to subcontractors. other expenses. We follow this method
since we can make reasonably dependable estimates of the revenue and costs applicable to the various stages of a contract. Under this
input method, we record revenue and recognize profit or loss as work on the contract progresses. We estimate total project or manufacturing
costs to be incurred and profit to be earned on each long-term, fixed price contract prior to commencement of work on the contract and
update these estimates as work on the contract progresses. The cumulative amount of revenue recorded on a contract at a specified point in
time is that percentage of total estimated revenue that incurred costs to date comprises comprise of estimated total contract costs. If, as Due
to the extended time it may take to complete many of our contracts and the scope and nature of the work progresses, required to be
performed on those contracts, the actual estimations of total revenue and costs at completion are complicated and subject to many variables

and, accordingly, are
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subject to changes. When adjustments in estimated total contract revenue or estimated total contract costs exceedare required, any
changes from prior estimates are recognized in the profit recognized on revenue from that contract decreases.current period for the
inception-to-date effect of such changes. We recognize the full amount of any estimated loss on a contract at the time the estimates indicate
such a loss.

The cost estimates we prepare in connection with our construction and manufacturing contracts are subject to inherent uncertainties.
Because we base our contract prices on our estimation of future construction and manufacturing costs, the profitability of our construction
and manufacturing contracts is highly dependent on our ability to estimate these costs accurately, as almost all of our construction and
manufacturing contracts are fixed-price contracts. The cost of materials, labor and subcontractors could increase significantly after we sign a
construction or manufacturing contract, which could cause the gross profit for a contract to decline from our previous estimates, adversely
affecting our recognition of revenue and gross profit for the contract. Construction or manufacturing contract costs that significantly exceed
our initial estimates could have a material adverse impact on our consolidated financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.

Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our results of operations should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial
statements and accompanying notes included under Part I, ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA, of this
Annual Report.

Year Ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022

Discontinued Operations — Mexico Project Development

In 2010, we began the pursuit, through our Netherlands subsidiary, Consolidated Water Cooperatief, U.A. (“CW-Cooperatief”), and our
Mexico subsidiary, N.S.C. Agua, S.A. de C.V. (“NSC"), of a project (the “Project”) that encompassed the construction, operation and minority
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ownership of a 100 million gallongallons per day seawater reverse osmosis desalination plant to be located in northern Baja California,

Mexico and accompanying pipelines to deliver water to the Mexican potable water system.

Through a series of transactions that began in 2012, NSC purchased 20.1 hectares of land for approximately $21.1 million on which the
proposed Project’s plant was to be constructed.

Following an assessment by the State of Baja, California (the “State”) of the need for such a desalination plant and the passage of enabling
legislation in November 2015, the State officially commenced the required public tender for the Project. A consortium (the “Consortium”)
comprised of NSC, Suez Medio Ambiente México, S.A. de C.V. (“Suez MA"), a subsidiary of SUEZ International, S.A.S., and NuWater
S.A.P.l. de C.V. (“NuWater") submitted its tender for the Project in April 2016 and in June 2016, the State designated the Consortium as the

winner of the tender process for the Project.

In August 2016, NSC and NuWater incorporated a new company under the name Aguas de Rosarito S.A.P.I. de C.V. (“AdR”") to pursue
completion of the Project and executed a shareholders agreement for AdR agreeing among other things that (i) AR would purchase the
land and other Project assets from NSC on the date that the Project begins commercial operation and (i) AdR would enter into a
Management and Technical Services Agreement with NSC effective on the first day that the Project begins commercial operation. NSC
initially owned 99.6% of the equity of AdR. In February 2018, we acquired the remaining 0.4% ownership in AdR from NuWater.
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On August 22, 2016, the Public Private Partnership Agreement for the Project (the “APP Contract”) was executed between AdR, the State
Water Commission of Baja California (“CEA”), the Government of Baja California as represented by the Secretary of Planning and Finance
and the Public Utilities Commission of Tijuana (“CESPT"). The APP Contract required AdR to design, construct, finance and operate a
seawater reverse osmosis desalination plant (and accompanying aqueduct) with a capacity of up to 100 million gallons per day in two
phases: the first with a capacity of 50 million gallons per day and an aqueduct to the Mexican potable water system in Tijuana, Baja
California and the second phase with a capacity of 50 million gallons per day. The first phase was to be operational within 36 months of
commencing construction and the second phase was to be operational by July 2024. The APP Contract further required AdR to operate and
maintain the plant and aqueduct for a period of 37 years starting from the commencement of operation of the first phase. At the end of the

operating period, ownership of the plant and aqueduct would have been transferred to CEA. The APP Contract was
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subsequently amended by the parties in June 2018 to increase the scope of Phase 1 and to allow for changes in the water tariff due to the
changes in the exchange rate for the peso, interest rates and construction costs that had and would occur from the date the APP Contract

was signed to the date construction commenced.

On June 29, 2020, AdR received a letter (the “Letter”) from the Director General of CEA and the Director General of CESPT terminating the
APP Contract. The Letter requested that AdR provide an inventory of the assets that currently comprise comprised the “Project Works” (as
defined in the APP Contract) for the purpose of acknowledging and paying the non-recoverable expenses made by AdR in connection with

the Project, with such reimbursement to be calculated in accordance with the terms of the APP Contract. The applicable law required that
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this list of non-recoverable expenses made by AdR in connection with the Project be submitted to CEA and CESPT within 20 business days
from the date of receipt of the Letter. AdR initiated an amparo claim before a federal district court in Tijuana, Baja California, to challenge the
provision of the applicable law requiring submittal of the list of non-recoverable expenses within the 20 business days term, as AdR
considered such term to be unreasonably short due to the magnitude of the Project and the scope of supporting documentation required to
be provided with respect to the non-recoverable expenses. AdR obtained an initial provisional suspension of the lapsing of such 20-day term
from the court, and on August 10, 2020 the court made such suspension definitive until the completion of the amparo trial. As such, the 20-
day term for filing the list of non-recoverable expenses was suspended. Therefore, on August 28, 2020, AdR submitted their list of non-
recoverable expenses, including those of NSC, to CEA and CESPT which was comprised of 51,144,525 United States dollars and an
additional 137,333,114 Mexican pesos. In February 2021, AdR withdrew this amparo claim, and such withdrawal was accepted by the
federal district court in Tijuana. To date, AdR has not received a formal response from CEA or CESPT to its submission of non-recoverable

expenses.

We believe CW-Cooperatief, as a Netherlands company, has certain rights relating to its investments in NSC and AdR under the Agreement
on Promotion, Encouragement and Reciprocal Protection of Investments between the Kingdom of the Netherlands and the United Mexican
States entered into force as of October 1, 1999 (the “Treaty”). On April 16, 2021, CW-Cooperatief submitted a letter to the President of
Mexico and other Mexican federal government officials alleging that the State’s termination of the APP Contract constituted a breach by
Mexico of its international obligations under the Treaty, entitling CW-Cooperatief to full reparation, including monetary damages. This letter
invited Mexico to seek a resolution of this investment dispute through consultation and negotiation, but stated that if the dispute cannot could
not be resolved in this manner, CW-Cooperatief elects to would refer the dispute to the International Centre for the Settlement of International
Disputes for arbitration, as provided for in the Treaty. On June 29, 2021, the Mexican Ministry of Economy responded to CW-Cooperatief's
letter and proposed to hold a consultation meeting. Two such meetings were held on July 9, 2021 and August 2, 2021 on a confidential
basis, without a resolution of our investment dispute.

On February 9, 2022, CW-Cooperatief, filed a Request for Arbitration with the International Centre for Settlement of International Disputes
requesting that the United Mexican States pay CW-Cooperatief damages in excess of US$51 million plus MXN$137 million (with the exact

amount to be quantified in the proceedings), plus fees, costs and pre- and post-award interest.

CW-Cooperatief intends to pursue vigorously the relief sought in the arbitration, in addition to pursuing all other legal remedies and courses
of action available under the operative contracts and applicable law with respect to its rights, damages, fees and expenses. We cannot
provide any assurances that CW Cooperatief will be able to obtain the relief sought in the arbitration, and we have incurred and will continue
to incur legal and other arbitration-related expenses that we expect will be are material to our consolidated results of operations and cash

flows.
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During July 2022, the State initiated discussions with us to potentially resolve the issues related to the cancellation by the government of the
Rosarito desalination plant contract as well as potentially addressing the State’s acute water shortage issues. We cannot presently determine
the outcome of the discussions and we have not terminated our efforts to obtain relief through the international arbitration process as a result
of these discussions.

We cannot provide any assurances that we will be able to obtain reimbursement for any expenses or investments made with respect to the

Project.
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As a result of the cancellation of the APP Contract, in 2020 we discontinued all development activities associated with the Project and
commenced active marketing efforts to sell the land NSC purchased for the Project. Accordingly, the assets and liabilities of CW-Cooperatief,
NSC and AdR, as well as the costs for our legal and administrative activities to pursue reimbursement from the State of Baja California
following the cancellation of the APP Contract, are classified as discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements. Our net losses from discontinued operations for 20222023 and 20212022 were ($2,371,049)1,086,744) and
($2,574,079) 2,371,049), respectively. Our net losses from discontinued operations for 2022 and 2021 includes provisions of $377,326 and
$963,540, respectively, for uncollectible value added taxes paid to, and reimbursable by, the Mexican federal government.

Consolidated Results

Including discontinued operations, net income attributable to Consolidated Water Co. Ltd. stockholders for 20222023 was
$5,856,294 $29,585,391 ($0.38 1.86 per share on a fully diluted basis), as compared to $875,579 $5,856,294 ($0.06 0.38 per share on a fully
diluted basis) for 2021.2022.

The following discussion and analysis of our consolidated results of operations and results of operations by segment for the year ended
December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022 relates only to our

continuing operations.

Net income from continuing operations attributable to Consolidated Water Co. Ltd. stockholders for 20222023 was $8,227,343 $30,672,135
($0.541.93 per share on a fully diluted basis), as compared to $3,449,658 $8,227,343 ($0.230.54 per share on a fully diluted basis) for
2021.2022.

Revenue for 2022 2023 increased to $180,211,233 from $94,104,972 from $66,863,502 in 2021,2022, as all four segments experienced
revenue increases. Gross profit for 2022 2023 was $30,355,123 (32% $61,927,105 (34% of total revenue) as compared to $23,507,191
(35% $30,355,123 (32% of total revenue) for 2021.2022. For further discussion of revenue and gross profit see the “Results by Segment”

discussion and analysis that follows.

General and administrative expenses (“G&A expenses”) on a consolidated basis increased to $21,070,234 $24,752,366 for 20222023 as
compared to $18,350,359 $21,070,234 for 2021.2022. The most significant components of the increase in G&A expenses for 2022 were
incremental bonus accruals and stock compensation expense aggregating $1,248,242 arising from the improved financial performance of the
Company. Other components of the G&A expenses increase relate 2023 relates to (i) other employee costs, which increased by
$399,268 $2,480,517 from 2022 to 2023 due to salary increases increased stock compensation, higher bonus accruals, pay raises and new
hires; (ii) professional and legal hires. Professional fees which also increased by $148,663; (iii) insurance expense, which increased $254,599
due $251,813 from 2022 to higher premiums and (iv) incremental business development expenses 2023. The remainder of $170,461. The
rise inthe G&A increase is attributable to increases across a variety of categories including provision for 2022 is also due in part to
inflationary factors which have increased many credit losses of our G&A expenses. $408,489.

Other income, net, decreased increased to $828,313 in 2023, as compared to $464,810 in 2022 as compared due to $1,623,595 an increase
in 2021 interest income of approximately $249,000 primarily due to a losshigher balance of ($128,000)interest earning assets, and an
increase of approximately $68,000 in the equity in earnings of and profit-sharing income from our affiliate, OC-BVI, and an unrealized loss
recorded in 2022 of $128,000 for the valuation of the put/call options associated with the initial acquisition of a controlling interest in PERC.
We exercised our call option in the fourth quarter of 2022 and acquired the remaining 39% of PERC as compared to a gain recorded on
these options of $818,000 in 2021. In addition, interest income decreased by approximately $238,000 for 2022 as compared to 2021
primarily due to the decrease in CW-Bahamas’ average delinquent accounts receivable balances due from the WSC. January 2023.
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Results by Segment

Retail Segment:

The retail segment incurred a loss from operations of ($1,187,013)660,253) for 20222023 as compared to a loss from operations of
($2,044,094) 1,187,013) for 2021.2022.

Revenue generated by our retail water operations increased to $30,158,051 in 2023 from $25,954,013 in 2022 from $22,104,953 in 2021 in
part principally due to a 12.5% 15% increase in the volume of water sold. The sales volumes for both 2022 volume of water sold in the
Cayman Water license area increased by 14% and 2021 were below the historical volumes for the retail segment prior to 2020 due to the
cessation of tourism on Grand Cayman resulting from border restrictions that lasted from March 2020 through August 2022 in response to
the COVID-19 pandemic. The remaining 1% increase in the volume of water sold was due to water sales made by Cayman Water directly to
the WAC in the first quarter of 2023. The sales volume increase reflects increased tourist activity on Grand Cayman, as tourism on the island
in 2022 as compared was lower than historical levels due to 2021 resulted from the lifting in August 2022 lingering impact of such pandemic
related travel restrictions. the COVID-19 pandemic. Retail revenue also increased by approximately $1,014,639 due to higher energy costs
which increased the energy pass-through component of our retail water rates and a more favorable rate mix, as much rates.
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Retail segment gross profit increased to $16,266,822 (54% of retail revenue) for 2023 as compared to $13,405,250 (52% of retail revenue)

for 2022 as compared to $11,044,016 (50% of retail revenue) for 2021 due to the revenue increase.

Consistent with prior periods, we record all non-direct G&A expenses in our retail segment and do not allocate any of these non-direct costs
to our other three business segments. Retail G&A expenses increased to $14,552,866 $16,905,010 for 20222023 as compared to
$12,841,259 $14,552,866 for 2021.2022. The most significant components of the increase in G&A expenses for 2022 were incremental
bonus accruals and stock compensation expense of $976,501 arising from the improved financial performance of the Company. Other
components of the G&A expenses increase relate 2023 relates to (i) professional and legal fees, which increased by $167,445; (i)
incremental business development expenses of $170,461 and (jii) insurance employee costs, which increased by $123,938. $1,760,230 due
to pay raises, increased stock compensation expense and higher bonus accruals. Business development expenses increased by

approximately $182,000 primarily due to the costs associated with the acquisition of REC (which was completed in November 2023).
Bulk Segment:

The bulk segment contributed $8,393,729$8,742,382 and $7,677,362$8,393,729 to our income from operations for 20222023 and
2021, 2022, respectively.

Bulk segment revenue was $34,595,058 and $32,991,066 for 2023 and $26,800,869 for 2022, and 2021, respectively. The increase in bulk
segment revenue from 20212022 to 2022 2023 is attributable to a 6% increase in water volume and an increase in energy costs for CW-
Bahamas, which increased the energy pass-through component of CW-Bahamas' rates.

Gross profit for the bulk segment was $10,466,926 (30% of bulk revenue) and $9,958,854 (30% of bulk segment revenue) and $9,041,597
(34% of bulk segment revenue) for 20222023 and 2021, 2022, respectively. Gross profit in dollars increased in 20222023 as compared to

20212022 principally due to the increase in revenue. Gross profit as a percentage of revenue decreased in 2022 as compared to 2021
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principally due to incremental repairs and maintenance expenses for CW-Bahamas of approximately $361,000 and incremental chemical
costs of approximately $554,000 arising from higher chemical prices and greater chemicals usage.

Bulk segment G&A expenses increased to $1,570,732%$1,737,264 for 20222023 as compared to $1,365,735%$1,570,732 for 2021
primarily 2022 due to relatively small increases in a variety of expense categories.

Services Segment:

The services segment contributed $2,424,217 $26,897,080 and $414,394 $2,424,217 to our income from operations for 20222023 and
2021, 2022, respectively.

Services segment revenue increased to $97,966,650 for 2023 compared to $28,835,428 for 2022. Construction revenue increased to
$77,306,704 in 2023 from $11,616,274 in 2022 compared to $13,884,857 for 2021 due to increases in both plant design and construction
revenue and operating and maintenance revenue, with most of the revenue this increase resulting from (i) PERC’s progress on its contract
with Liberty Utilities for the construction of a water treatment plant in Goodyear, Arizona which commenced Arizona; and (ii) progress on our
contract with the WAC for the construction of its Red Gate plant. We recognized approximately $64.0 million in revenue for the Liberty
Utilities contract in 2023. This contract was certified substantially complete in January 2024 and the remaining work on the plant will be
completed by June 2024. Revenue generated under operations and maintenance contracts was $19,368,365 and $14,152,158 in 2023 and
2022, respectively. The increase in operations and maintenance revenue from 2022 to 2023 is attributable to new contracts and increased
revenue on existing contracts. Design and consulting revenue generated by the services segment was $1,291,581 and $3,066,996 in 2023
and 2022, respectively. The decrease in design and consulting revenue from 2022 to 2023 is attributable to the work performed in 2022 on

the design contract for the Liberty Utilities plant currently under construction.

The gross profit for the services segment was $31,168,888 (32% of services revenue) in 2023 as compared to $5,861,794 (20% of services
revenue) for 2022. Gross profit increased from 2022 to 2023 due to the increase in revenue. The increase in gross profit as a percentage of

revenue from 2022 to 2023 reflects improved margins on both our construction and operations and maintenance activities.

During 2023, we adjusted our prior year estimates of the total costs to be incurred for the Liberty Utilities contract and one other construction
contract. These changes in accounting estimates arose as a result of actual construction costs and efficiencies that differed favorably from
our previous expectations. These changes in accounting estimates resulted in an increase in the third quarter services segment’s revenue,
gross profit and income from operations of 2022. Revenue recognized on this contract $2,356,439 for 2023 under the input method we use to
account for construction contracts and were a contributing factor in the increase in gross profit as a percentage of services revenue from
2022 was approximately $9.5 millionto 2023. This adjustment increased basic and diluted earnings per share by $0.11 for the year ended
December 31, 2023.
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The gross profit for the services segment was $5,861,794 (20% of services segment revenue) in 2022 as compared to $3,177,614 (23% of
services revenue) for 2021. The increase in gross profit dollars results from the increased revenue. The decrease in gross profit as a
percentage of revenue from 2021 to 2022 results from the relatively lower gross profit percentage earned on PERC's contract with Liberty
Utilities compared to that earned from PERC's operating and maintenance contracts.

G&A expenses for the services segment increased to $4,271,808 for 2023 as compared to $3,461,294 for 2022 as compared principally due
to $2,762,735 for 2021 an increase of approximately $384,000 in employee costs attributable to pay raises, new hires and increased bonus
accruals and the addition of approximately $366,000 in G&A expenses from REC as a result of increased bonus accruals our acquisition of
$235,204 arising from the improved financial performance of PERC, $385,156 in incremental other employee costs attributable to salary

increases and new hires and increased insurance expense. this company effective October 1, 2023.
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Manufacturing Segment:

The manufacturing segment incurred a loss contributed $2,188,418 to our income from operations for 2023 as compared to incurring an
operating loss of ($358,748) for 2022 as compared to a loss of ($4,036,666) for 2021. The loss from operations for 2021 reflects an
impairment loss recorded for our manufacturing segment's goodwill of $2,900,000 due to a decline in Aerex’s projected future cash
flows. 2022.

Manufacturing segment revenue was $17,491,474 and $6,324,465 for 2023 and $4,072,823 2022, respectively. The growth in manufacturing
revenue for 2022 and 2021, respectively. Manufacturing segment revenue 2023 reflects increased from 2021 to 2022 production activity due
to an increaserelief in production activity supply chain and economic conditions that had resulted from an easing of some of the supply
change difficulties that restricted production for 2021 and most of in significant product delivery delays in 2022.

Manufacturing segment gross profit was $4,024,469 (23% of manufacturing revenue) and $1,129,225 (18% of manufacturing segment
revenue) and $243,964 (6% of manufacturing segment revenue) for 20222023 and 2021, 2022, respectively. The increase in manufacturing
segment gross profit in dollars reflects the increasedincrease in revenue. Gross profit as a percentage of revenue increased due to
theincreased revenue increase and the resulting lesser relative reduced impact of fixed factory overhead on this measure, as we elected to
continue the employment of all of our highly skilled manufacturing personnel during 2022 and 2021 despite the decrease in production

activity. financial measure.

G&A expenses for the manufacturing segment remained relatively consisted atincreased to $1,838,284 for 2023 as compared to $1,485,342
for 2022 as compared principally due to $1,380,630 for 2021.an increase of approximately $129,000 in employee costs attributable to pay

raises, new hires and increased bonus accruals.

The results of our manufacturing segment have been adversely affected by current economic conditions including, but not limited to,
increasing raw materials prices, rising human resources costs, tight labor markets, and extended and unexpected delays in the procurement
and delivery of raw materials. We believe these economic conditions have also resulted in product order delays from Aerex’s existing and
prospective customers. The current economic conditions could continue (or further deteriorate) and therefore could continue to adversely

impact the future results of our manufacturing segment.
FINANCIAL CONDITION

The significant changes in the components of our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 as compared to
December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022 (other than the change in our cash and cash equivalents, which is discussed later in “LIQUIDITY
AND CAPITAL RESOURCES”) and the reasons for these changes are discussed in the following paragraphs.

Current inventory Accounts receivable increased by approximately $11.2 million primarily due to a $10.3 million increase in CW-Bahamas'

accounts receivable.

Contract assets increased by approximately $18.6 million primarily due to a $8.2 million increase for the construction of the Red Gate plant

for the WAC and a $8.4 million increase for PERC which relates primarily to the Liberties Utilities contract.

Property, plant and equipment, net, increased by approximately $3.4 million primarily due to the commissioning of the West Bay seawater

desalination plant at the end of the year.

Construction in progress decreased by approximately $3.2 million primarily due to the commissioning of the West Bay seawater desalination
plant at the end of the year.

Goodwill and intangible assets increased due to the acquisition of REC.

Other assets increased by $1.7 million primarily due to prepaid insurance associated with Kalaeloa Desalco’s contract with the Board of
Water Supply of the City and County of Honolulu, Hawaii.

Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities increased by approximately $3.2 million primarily due to ana $4.0 million
increase in Aerex’s inventory, as Aerex began a major new subcontractor costs payable for PERC's contract inwith Liberty Utilities and
Kalaeloa Desalco’s contract with the fourth quarter Board of 2022. Some Water Supply of Aerex’s manufacturing contracts have also been
delayed, resulting in extended retention times for various inventory items purchased for these contracts. the City and County of Honolulu,

Hawaii.
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Prepaid expenses and other current assets increased Contract liabilities decreased by approximately $3.1 million $2.6 million primarily due to
advance payments to contractors and suppliers anda $6.9 million reduction by the cost ofservices segment in connection with PERC’s
construction bond for the contract with Liberty Utilities project.

Contract assets increased by approximately $2.4 million due to an increase and a decrease in the Red Gate plant construction and Aerex's
manufacturing activities.

Construction in progress increased by approximately $3.0 million due to construction activity for Cayman Water’s replacementAerex’s
contract liabilities of its West Bay desalination plant. $1.6
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Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities increased million. These decreases were offset by approximately $5.6 million
primarily due to an increase in subcontractor costs for PERC's contract with Liberty Utilities and Aerex’s manufacturing projects.

Contract liabilities increased by $8.3 million primarily due to approximately $7.0 million in billings made by the services segment in
connection with PERC'’s new contract with Liberty Utilities. Aerex also had an increase of approximately $1.3 million in billings in $6.0 million

with Kalaeloa Desalco’s contract with the manufacturing segment. Board of Water Supply of the City and County of Honolulu, Hawaii.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Certain transfers from our Bahamas bank accounts to our bank accounts in other countries require the approval of the Central Bank of The

Bahamas.

The Cayman Islands does not have a tax treaty with the United States. Consequently, should we be required (or elect) to transfer any profits
generated by our U.S. operations to our parent company in the Cayman Islands, the amount of any such profits funds transferred would be
subject to a 30% withholding tax.

Liquidity Position

Our projected liquidity requirements for 2023 2024 include capital expenditures for our existing operations of approximately $14.1 million $9.5
million, which includes $2.8 million to be incurred in 2023 2024 for the replacement of the our new West Bay seawater desalination plant and
approximately $7.5 million for construction of the WAC’s new Red Gate plant. We paid approximately $1.4 million $1.6 million for dividends in
January 2023. 2024. Our liquidity requirements may also include future quarterly dividends, if such dividends are declared by our Board.

On January 4, 2023, we purchased the remaining 39% of PERC from its minority shareholders for approximately $2.44 million in cash and

368,383 shares of the Company’s common stock.

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, we had cash and cash equivalents of $50.7 million $42.6 million and working capital of $69.9
million $88.8 million.

With the exception of the liquidity matter relating to CW-Bahamas that is discussed in the paragraphs that follow, we are not presently aware

of anything that would lead us to believe that we will not have sufficient liquidity to meet our needs.
CW-Bahamas Liquidity

CW-Bahamas' accounts receivable balance (which include accrued interest) due from the WSC amounted to $16.3 million $26.9 million as of
December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023. Approximately 65%80% of the December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 accounts receivable
balance was delinquent as of that date. The delay in collecting these accounts receivable has adversely impacted the liquidity of this

subsidiary. CW-Bahamas has been unable to pay a dividend to its shareholders since August 2022 due to liquidity constraints.
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From time to time (including presently), CW-Bahamas has experienced delays in collecting its accounts receivable from the WSC. When
these delays occur, we hold discussions and meetings with representatives of the WSC and The Bahamas government, and as a result,
payment schedules are developed for WSC's delinquent accounts receivable. All previous delinquent accounts receivable from the WSC,
including accrued interest thereon, were eventually paid in full. Based upon this payment history, CW-Bahamas has never been required to
provide an allowance for doubtful accounts for any of its accounts receivable, despite the periodic accumulation of significant delinquent
balances. As of December 31, 2022, we have not provided an for a material allowance for doubtful accounts credit losses for CW-Bahamas’
accounts receivable from the WSC. WSC as of December 31, 2023. As of February 29, 2024, this receivable amounted to $24.6 million.

In February 2022, we received correspondence from CW-Bahamas held discussions with the Ministry of Finance of WSC in March 2024
during which the Government of the Bahamas that WSC stated that the Government intends to return all of substantially reduce CW-

Bahamas’ accounts receivable from the WSC to current status. over the course of 2024.

In its latesta report dated October 6, 2022, Moody’s Investor Services (“Moody’s”) downgraded the Government of The Bahamas’ long-term
issuer and senior unsecured ratings to B1 from Ba3. Moody’s also lowered The Bahamas’ local currency ceiling to Baa3 from Baa2 and its
foreign currency ceiling to Bal from Baa3. Moody'’s iterated these ratings in April and October 2023, noting that such ratings are “stable.”
Based upon our review of this Moody's report, correspondence, we continue to believe that no material allowance for doubtful accounts credit

losses is required for CW-Bahamas' accounts receivable from the WSC.

If CW-Bahamas is unable to collect a sufficient portion of its delinquent accounts receivable, one or more of the following events may occur:
(i) CW-Bahamas may not have sufficient liquidity to meet its obligations; (ii) we may be required to cease the recognition of revenue on CW-
Bahamas’ water supply agreements with the WSC; and (iii) we may be required to provide a material allowance for credit losses for CW-
Bahamas’ accounts receivable. Any of these events could have a material adverse impact on our consolidated financial condition, results of

operations, and cash flows.
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Discussion of Cash Flows for the Year Ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023

Our cash and cash equivalents increased decreased to $42,621,898 as of December 31, 2023 from $50,711,751 as of December 31, 2022
from $40,358,059 as of December 31, 2021.

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net cash provided by our operating activities was $21,331,805. $7,970,762. This net cash provided reflects net income generated for the
year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 of $6,969,207 $30,159,182 as adjusted for (i) various items included in the determination
of net income that do not affect cash flows during the year; and (ii) changes in the other components of working capital. The more significant
of such items and changes in working capital components included depreciation and amortization of $6,187,308, an increase in contract
liabilities of $8,290,043,$6,576,454, an increase in accounts payable and accrued expensesreceivable of $6,756,433, an increase in
inventory of $3,387,011, an increase in prepaid expenses and other assets of $3,365,747 and $10,970,521 attributable principally to CW-
Bahamas, an increase in contract assets of $2,423,761.$18,639,335 due primarily to the Red Gate and Liberty Utilities construction
contracts, a decrease in contract liabilities of $2,566,910 and an increase in accounts payable, accrued expenses and accrued
compensation of $3,161,386.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
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Net cash used by our investing activities was $4,981,036.%$10,887,019. Cash used was primarily for additions to property, plant and
equipment and construction in progress was $5,047,884. We purchased the remaining 39% ownership interest in PERC for $2,440,027 and
368,383 shares of $7,542,761. We did not renew our CW-Bahamas $2.5 million certificate the Company’s common stock, and we acquired
REC for a net cash outflow (i.e. the purchase price paid in cash less the cash held by REC at the acquisition date) of deposit at year-
end. $3,419,916.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Net cash used by our financing activities was $6,304,873, $5,524,565, almost all of which related to the payment of dividends.

Revolving Credit Facility

In September 2022, Cayman Water entered into an agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) with Scotiabank & Trust (Cayman) Ltd. (the “Bank”)
for a revolving credit facility in an aggregate principal amount of up to $10.0 million (the “Credit Facility”). We expect to utilize the funds

obtained from the Credit Facility for general working capital purposes.

The Credit Facility matures two years following the date of the initial advance (the “Maturity Date”). All amounts outstanding under the Credit
Facility are due and payable upon the earlier of the Maturity Date, demand from the bank or the acceleration of the Credit Facility upon an

event of default.

The principal balance of the Credit Facility bears interest at a rate of 2.0% plus the secured overnight financing rate (“SOFR”) as determined
by the SOFR Administrator for a one-month period on the day that is two days prior to the first day of the interest period. All interest
calculations will be made based on a 360-day year. So long as the Bank has not demanded repayment, interest will be payable monthly,
commencing one month from the initial advance, with the outstanding balance due on the Maturity Date, unless the Bank agrees to renew
the Credit Facility for an additional period.

Cayman Water's obligations under the Credit Agreement are secured by a first priority lien on all its fixed and floating assets and an
assignment of insurance proceeds with respect to its fixed assets. Further, the Company has guaranteed the repayment of all of Cayman

Water’s present and future debts and liabilities owed to the Bank.

The Credit Agreement requires Cayman Water to meet certain financial covenants.
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Cayman Water has not yet utilized any of its available borrowings under the Credit Facility.

Material Commitments, Expenditures and Contingencies
Cayman Water Retail License

We sell water through our retail operations under a license issued in July 1990 by the Cayman Islands government (the “1990 license”) that
granted Cayman Water the exclusive right to provide potable water to customers within its licensed service area. Although the 1990 license
was has not been expressly extended after January 2018, we continue to supply water under the terms of the 1990 license, as discussed in
the following paragraphs. Pursuant to the 1990 license, Cayman Water has the exclusive right to produce potable water and distribute it by
pipeline to its licensed service area, which consists of two of the three most populated areas of Grand Cayman Island: Seven Mile Beach
and West Bay. In 2022 2023 and 2021, 2022, we generated approximately 27% 17% and 33% 27%, respectively, of our consolidated revenue
and 44% 26% and 47% 44%, respectively, of our consolidated gross profit from the retail water operations conducted under the 1990 license.
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The 1990 license was originally scheduled to expire in July 2010 but was extended several times by the Cayman Islands government to
provide the parties with additional time to negotiate the terms of a new license agreement. The most recent express extension of the license
expired on January 31, 2018. We continue to operate under the terms of the 1990 license, providing water services to the level and quality
specified in the 1990 license and in accordance with our understanding of its legal obligations, treating those obligations set forth in the 1990
license as operative notwithstanding the expiration of the express extension. We continue to pay the a royalty of 7.5% of the revenue we
collect as required under the 1990 license.

In October 2016, the Government of the Cayman Islands passed legislation which created a new utilities regulation and competition office
(“OfReg”). OfReg is an independent and accountable regulatory body with a view of protecting the rights of consumers, encouraging
affordable utility services and promoting competition. OfReg, which began operations in January 2017, has the ability to supervise, monitor
and regulate multiple utility undertakings and markets. Supplemental legislation was passed by the Government of the Cayman Islands in
April 2017, which transferred responsibility for economic regulation of the water utility sector and the retail license negotiations from the WAC
to OfReg in May 2017. We began license negotiations with OfReg in July 2017 and such negotiations are continuing. We have been

informed during our retail license negotiations, both by OfReg and its predecessor in these negotiations, that the Cayman Islands
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government seeks to restructure the terms of our license in a manner that could significantly reduce the operating income and cash flows we
have historically generated from our retail license.

The Cayman Islands government could seek to grant a third party a license to service some or all of Cayman Water’s present service area.
However, as set forth in the 1990 license, “the Governor hereby agrees that upon the expiry of the term of this Licence or any extension
thereof, he will not grant a licence or franchise to any other person or company for the processing, distribution, sale and supply of water
within the Licence Area without having first offered such a licence or franchise to the Company on terms no less favourable than the terms

offered to such other person or company.”

We are presently unable to determine what impact the resolution of our retail license negotiations will have on our cash flows, financial
condition or results of operations but such resolution could result in a material reduction (or the loss) of the operating income and cash flows
we have historically generated from our retail operations and could require us to record impairment losses to reduce the carrying value of our
retail segment assets. Such impairment losses could have a material adverse impact on our consolidated financial condition and results of

operation and cash flows operations.

CW-Bahamas Performance Guarantees

Our contracts to supply water to the WSC from our Blue Hills and Windsor plants require us to guarantee delivery of a minimum quantity of
water per week. If the WSC requires the water and we do not meet this minimum, we are required to pay the WSC for the difference between
the minimum and actual gallons delivered at a per gallon rate equal to the price per gallon that WSC is currently paying us under the
contract. The Blue Hills contract expires in 2032 and requires us to deliver 63.0 million gallons of water each week. The Windsor contract

expires in 2033 and requires us to deliver 16.8 million gallons of water each week.
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Adoption of new accounting standards New Accounting Standards

None. Financial Accounting Standard Update (“ASU”) 2016-13, Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, and related
amendments, introduces new guidance which makes substantive changes to the accounting for credit losses. This guidance introduces the
current expected credit losses (“CECL”") model which applies to financial assets subject to credit losses and measured at amortized cost, as
well as certain off-balance sheet credit exposures. The CECL model requires an entity to estimate credit losses expected over the life of an
exposure, considering information about historical events, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts and is generally
expected to result in earlier recognition of credit losses. We adopted this guidance as of January 1, 2023 using the modified retrospective

approach. The impact of this adoption was not material to our consolidated financial statements.

Effect of newly issued Newly Issued but not yet effective accounting standards Effective Accounting Standards

None.In November 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2023-07,
Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures. This ASU updates reportable segment disclosure
requirements by requiring disclosures of significant reportable segment expenses that are regularly provided to the Chief Operating Decision
Maker (“CODM”) and included within each reported measure of a segment's profit or loss. This ASU also requires disclosure of the title and
position of the individual identified as the CODM and an explanation of how the CODM uses the reported measures of a segment’s profit or
loss in assessing segment performance and deciding how to allocate resources. The ASU is effective for annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. Early adoption is permitted. We are currently

evaluating the impact of this guidance.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures. The ASU requires
disaggregated information about a reporting entity’s effective tax rate reconciliation as well as additional information on income taxes paid.
The ASU is effective on a prospective basis for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024. Early adoption is permitted. We are

currently evaluating the impact of this guidance.

Dividends

On January 31, 2022, we paid a dividend of $0.085 to shareholders of record on January 3, 2022.

On April 29, 2022, we paid a dividend of $0.085 to shareholders of record on April 1, 2022.

On July 29, 2022, we paid a dividend of $0.085 to shareholders of record on July 1, 2022.

On October 31, 2022, we paid a dividend of $0.085 to shareholders of record on October 3, 2022.

On January 31, 2023, we paid a dividend of $0.085 to shareholders of record on January 3, 2023.

On February 21, 2023 April 28, 2023, we paid a dividend of $0.085 to shareholders of record on April 3, 2023.
On July 31, 2023, we paid a dividend of $0.085 to shareholders of record on July 3, 2023.

On October 31, 2023, we paid a dividend of $0.095 to shareholders of record on October 2, 2023.

On January 31, 2024, we paid a dividend of $0.095 to shareholders of record on January 2, 2024.

On February 20, 2024, our Board declared a dividend of $0.085 $0.095 payable on April 28, 2023 April 30, 2024 to shareholders of
record on April 3, 2023 April 1, 2024.

We have paid dividends to owners of our common stock and redeemable preferred stock since we began declaring dividends in 1985. Our
payment of any future cash dividends will depend upon our earnings, financial condition, cash flows, capital requirements and other factors
our Board of Directors deems relevant in determining the amount and timing of such dividends.

Dividend reinvestment Reinvestment and common stock purchase plan Common Stock Purchase Plan
This plan is available to our shareholders, who may reinvest all or a portion of their common stock dividends into shares of common stock at

prevailing market prices and may also invest optional cash payments to purchase additional shares at prevailing market prices as part of this

plan.
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Impact of inflation Inflation

Under the terms of our Cayman lIslands license and our water sales agreements in The Bahamas and the British Virgin Islands, our water

rates are automatically adjusted for inflation on an annual basis. Therefore, the impact of inflation on
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our gross profit, measured in consistent dollars, historically has not been material. However, we have not increased our retail water rates
since January 2018 (despite the inflation that has occurred since that date) due to the lack of a resolution of our negotiations with OfReg for
a new retail license. This lack of a rate increase has contributed to a decline in the gross profit generated by our retail segment. Furthermore,
our manufacturing segment has been adversely impacted by recent significant increases in raw material costs and our services segment
could suffer similar adverse impacts in the future. Should the current inflationary trend continue, our consolidated results of operations and
cash flows could be materially adversely affected. In general, our operating and maintenance contracts are adjusted annually for the impacts

of inflation.

While PERC's operations and maintenance contracts are generally adjusted for inflation on an annual basis, such adjustment for some of

these contracts is limited to 3% annually.

Kalaeloa Desalco, which is jointly owned by PERC and CW-Holdings, has signed a definitive agreement with the Honolulu Board of Water
Supply to design, build, operate and maintain a 1.7 million gallons per day seawater reverse osmosis desalination plant in Oahu, Hawaii.
Approximately 80% of the $150 million price for the construction of this plant is subject to adjustment based upon changes in inflation indices

from the date the contract was executed to the date construction begins.

Increases in fuel and energy costs and other items could create additional credit risks for us, as our customers’ ability to pay our invoices

could be adversely affected by such increases.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE ABOUT MARKET RISK

Not applicable.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of
Consolidated Water Co. Ltd.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheetssheets of Consolidated Water Co. Ltd. (the “Company”) as of December 31,
2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021, 2022, the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the
two years in the period ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial
statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of
December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021,2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the
period ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company's financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States) ("“PCAOB") and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S.
federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The
Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our
audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion

on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or
fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits

provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
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Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that were
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the
financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit
matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical

audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

Evaluation of Goodwill for the Manufacturing Reporting_Unit Revenue Recognition - Estimated Costs to Complete

As described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company recognizes revenue for its construction and
custom/specialized manufacturing contracts over time under the input method using costs incurred to date relative to the total estimated
costs at completion to measure progress toward satisfying a contract's performance obligations as such measure best reflects the transfer of
December 31, 2022, control of the Manufacturing reporting unit's goodwill balance was $1,985,211.

Management's goodwill impairment assessment promised good to the customer. The cost estimation process for these contracts is based on
the Manufacturing reporting unit involves subjective management assumptions. These assumptions are forward-looking knowledge and are
effected by shifts in experience of the evolving market landscape. Company's project managers, engineers, and financial professionals.

Changes in these assumptions can have a material effect on the determinationjob performance, job conditions and management's
assessment of the fair value of this reporting unit. Given the significant judgments made by management to estimate the fair value of the

Manufacturing reporting unit, performing expected variable
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consideration are factors that influence estimates of the total contract transaction price, total costs to complete those contracts and the

Company's revenue recognition.

We identified the estimated costs to complete on these revenue contracts as a critical audit procedures matter. The determination of the total
estimated cost and progress toward completion requires management to evaluate make significant estimates and assumptions. Total
estimated costs to complete projects include various contracts costs that include labor, materials and subcontractor costs. Due to the
extended time it may take to complete many of the Company’s contracts and the scope and nature of the work required to be performed on
those contracts, the estimations of total revenue and costs at completion is complicated and subject to many variables and, accordingly, are
subject to changes. Changes in these estimates can have a significant impact on the revenue recognized each period. Auditing these
estimates involved especially challenging auditor judgment in evaluating the reasonableness of management’s management's assumptions
and estimates and assumptions related to over the forecasts duration of future operating results required a high degree of auditor judgment

and an increased extent of effort. these contracts.

The Company estimated the fair value of the Manufacturing reporting unit by applying the discounted cash flow method, which relied upon
seven-year discrete projections of operating results, working capital and capital expenditures, along with a terminal value subsequent primary
procedures we performed to the discrete period. The seven-year projections were based upon historical and anticipated future results,
general economic and market conditions, and considered the impact of planned business and operational strategies. The discount rates for
the calculations represented the estimated cost of capital for market participants at the time of the analysis.

The Company also estimated the fair value of the Manufacturing reporting unit for the year ended December 31, 2022 by applying the
guideline public company method. The Company weighted the fair values estimated for the Manufacturing reporting unit under each method
and summed such weighted fair values to estimate the overall fair value for the reporting unit. The respective weightings applied to each
method for the year ended December 31, 2022 were 80% to the discounted cash flow method and 20% to the guideline public company
method.
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Our primary address this critical audit procedures to test management’s goodwill impairment evaluation for the manufacturing reporting unit

included the following: matter included:

We obtained an understanding and evaluated the design and implementation of the Company's internal controls over management's
annual goodwill impairment assessment, management's process related to estimated costs to complete, including controls
addressing: over management's review of: (i) the development of project budgets and key cost inputs, (ii) the ongoing assessment
and revisions to project budgets, and (jii) the ongoing review of project status, including the nature of activities to complete open
projects.

Management's assessment Evaluating management’s ability to generate reasonable estimated costs to complete through performing
a retrospective review of potential triggering events indicating potential impairment. budget to actual variances.

Management's annual goodwill assessment Assessing the reasonableness of the estimated costs to complete by evaluating the
reasonableness of projects budgets and controls surrounding their qualitative and quantitative assessments.the nature of costs
required to complete the project. Evaluation consists of investigating significant differences or unexpected results that take into
consideration known changes in client operations, industry, and/or business conditions.

We obtained Assessing the Company's ASC 350 Goodwill impairment analysis memo accuracy and supporting workbook for the
Manufacturing segment prepared occurrence of the actual cost amount used in the percentage of completion by the Company's
management which includes their goodwill evaluation and discounted cash flow model. testing a sample of project costs incurred to
date.

We substantively tested Evaluating the appropriateness reasonableness of project status by performing site visits and performing
inquiries of project managers to assess the prospective financial information nature and assumptions included incosts of activities
required to complete the valuation model associated with the projected balance sheets, income statements, capital expenditures,
effective tax rates, and growth rates of the out years for contradictions to market factors and information, historical experiences,
economic conditions, and the Company's objectives and business risks. project.

In assessing the prospective financial information, we evaluated Assessing the reasonableness of management's revenue changes
in estimated costs to complete by comparing project profitability estimates in the current period to historical estimates and operating
projections included actual performance including during the period under audit and subsequent to the period end and investigating
reasons for changes in their discounted cash flow model through testing of the Company’s contract backlogs expected costs and
through performing a retrospective review comparing actual historical operations to projections. project margins.

We obtained the Company's ASC 350 Goodwill impairment analysis report for the Manufacturing segment prepared by the
Company's specialist and assessed the appropriateness and reasonableness of valuation methodologies, discount rates, and
assumptions used.

We traced all relevant financial data from the valuation workbook noted above to the inputs that were used in the goodwill valuation
report to ensure the Company's projections were properly incorporated into the valuation model.

We utilized our valuation specialist to verify that the valuation methodology used by the Company was appropriate. Our valuation
specialist tested the clerical accuracy of the valuation model and reperformed the calculation of the estimated fair value of the
reporting unit using the methodologies in the valuation report to verify the Company's calculation of fair value is reasonable. We
compared our calculation to the carrying value of the company as of December 31, 2022 noting that there is no impairment.
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We assessed management's sensitivity analysis adjusting for changes to the projected cash flows and discount rate, noting
significant fair value coverage.
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Isl Marcum LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2005.

West Palm Beach, Florida
March 30, 202327, 2024
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CONSOLIDATED WATER CO. LTD.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31, December 31,
2022 2021 2023 2022

ASSETS
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 50,711,751 $ 40,358,059 $ 42,621,898 $ 50,711,751

Certificate of deposit — 2,500,000

Accounts receivable, net 27,046,182 27,349,307 38,226,891 27,046,182

Inventory 5,727,842 2,504,832 6,044,642 5,727,842

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 5,643,279 2,558,822 4,056,370 5,643,279

Contract assets 2,913,722 489,961 21,553,057 2,913,722

Net asset arising from put/call options — 128,000

Current assets of discontinued operations 531,480 1,173,741 211,517 531,480
Total current assets 92,574,256 77,062,722 112,714,375 92,574,256
Property, plant and equipment, net 52,529,545 52,946,539 55,882,521 52,529,545
Construction in progress 3,705,681 710,863 495,471 3,705,681
Inventory, noncurrent 4,550,987 4,733,010 5,045,771 4,550,987
Investment in OC-BVI 1,545,430 1,715,905 1,412,158 1,545,430
Goodwill 10,425,013 10,425,013 12,861,404 10,425,013
Intangible assets, net 2,818,888 3,401,666 3,353,185 2,818,888
Operating lease right-of-use assets 2,058,384 2,681,137 2,135,446 2,058,384
Other assets 1,669,377 1,531,816 3,407,973 1,669,377
Long-term assets of discontinued operations 21,129,288 21,146,186 21,129,288 21,129,288
Total assets $ 193,006,849 $ 176,354,857 $218,437,592 $193,006,849
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities

Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities $ 8,438,315 $ 2,831,925 $ 11,604,369 $ 8,438,315

Accounts payable - related parties 403,839 163,947 — 403,839

Accrued compensation 2,267,583 1,435,542 3,160,030 2,267,583

Dividends payable 1,375,403 1,320,572 1,572,655 1,375,403

Current maturities of operating leases 546,851 592,336 456,865 546,851
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Current portion of long-term debt 114,964 62,489 192,034 114,964

Contract liabilities 8,803,921 513,878 6,237,011 8,803,921

Deferred revenue 315,825 583,646 317,017 315,825

Current liabilities of discontinued operations 389,884 182,322 364,665 389,884
Total current liabilities 22,656,585 7,686,657 23,904,646 22,656,585
Long-term debt, noncurrent 216,117 152,038 191,190 216,117
Deferred tax liabilities 560,306 564,526 530,780 560,306
Noncurrent operating leases 1,590,542 2,137,394 1,827,302 1,590,542
Other liabilities 219,110 141,000 153,000 219,110
Long-term liabilities of discontinued operations = 7,819 — —
Total liabilities 25,242,660 10,689,434 26,606,918 25,242,660
C i 1its and conting
Equity

Consolidated Water Co. Ltd. stockholders' equity

Redeemable preferred stock, $0.60 par value. Authorized 200,000 shares; issued and outstanding

34,383 and 28,635 shares, respectively 20,630 17,181

Class A common stock, $0.60 par value. Authorized 24,655,000 shares; issued and outstanding

15,322,875 and 15,243,693 shares, respectively 9,193,725 9,146,216

Redeemable preferred stock, $0.60 par value. Authorized 200,000 shares; issued and outstanding

44,297 and 34,383 shares, respectively 26,578 20,630
Class A common stock, $0.60 par value. Authorized 24,655,000 shares; issued and outstanding

15,771,545 and 15,322,875 shares, respectively 9,462,927 9,193,725

Class B common stock, $0.60 par value. Authorized 145,000 shares; none issued — — — —

Additional paid-in capital 89,205,159 87,812,432 92,188,887 89,205,159
Retained earnings 61,247,699 60,603,056 85,148,820 61,247,699
Total Consolidated Water Co. Ltd. stockholders' equity 159,667,213 157,578,885 186,827,212 159,667,213
Non-controlling interests 8,096,976 8,086,538 5,003,462 8,096,976
Total equity 167,764,189 165,665,423 191,830,674 167,764,189
Total liabilities and equity $ 193,006,849 $ 176,354,857 $218,437,592 $193,006,849

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED WATER CO. LTD.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021
Revenue $ 94,104,972 $ 66,863,502
Cost of revenue (including purchases from related parties of $2,694,810 in 2022 and $437,857 in 2021) 63,749,849 43,356,311
Gross profit 30,355,123 23,507,191
General and administrative expenses (including purchases from related parties of $96,924 in 2022 and $77,190 in 2021) 21,070,234 18,350,359
Loss on asset dispositions and impairments, net (12,704) (3,145,836)
Income from operations 9,272,185 2,010,996
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Other income (expense):

Interest income 447,186 684,809
Interest expense (46,545) (10,248)
Profit-sharing income from OC-BVI 26,325 22,275
Equity in the earnings of OC-BVI 75,900 55,984
Net gain (loss) on put/call options (128,000) 818,000
Other 89,944 52,775
Other income, net 464,810 1,623,595
Income before income taxes 9,736,995 3,634,591
Provision (benefit) for income taxes 396,739 (447,982)
Net i from continui K ions 9,340,256 4,082,573
Income from continuing operations attributable to non-controlling interests 1,112,913 632,915
Net i from continui p ions attril ble to C lid i Water Co. Ltd. stockholders 8,227,343 3,449,658
Total loss from discontinued operations (2,371,049) (2,574,079)
Net il attril ble to Consolidated Water Co. Ltd. stockholders $ 5,856,294 $ 875,579
Basic earnings (loss) per 1 share attri to Consolidated Water Co. Ltd. common stockholders
Continuing operations $ 054 % 0.23
Discontinued operations (0.16) (0.17)
Basic earnings per share $ 0.38 $ 0.06

Diluted earnings (loss) per common share attributable to Consolidated Water Co. Ltd. common stockholders

Continuing operations $ 054  $ 0.23
Discontinued operations (0.16) (0.17)
Diluted earnings per share $ 0.38 $ 0.06
Dividends declared per 1 and red ble preferred shares $ 0.34 $ 0.34

Weighted average number of common shares used in the determination of:

Basic earnings per share 15,290,509 15,213,816

Diluted earnings per share 15,401,653 15,310,145

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022

Revenue $ 180,211,233 $ 94,104,972
Cost of revenue (including related party expense of $0 and $2,694,810 in 2023 and 2022) 118,284,128 63,749,849
Gross profit 61,927,105 30,355,123
General and administrative expenses (including related party expense of $0 and $96,924 in 2023 and 2022) 24,752,366 21,070,234
Loss on asset dispositions and impairments, net (7,112) (12,704)
Income from operations 37,167,627 9,272,185
Other income (expense):

Interest income 696,408 447,186

Interest expense (145,284) (46,545)

Profit-sharing income from OC-BVI 46,575 26,325

Equity in the earnings of OC-BVI 123,153 75,900

Loss on put/call options — (128,000)

Other 107,461 89,944
Other income, net 828,313 464,810
Income before income taxes 37,995,940 9,736,995
Provision for income taxes 6,750,014 396,739
Net income from continuing operations 31,245,926 9,340,256
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Income from continuing operations attributable to non-controlling interests

Net il from conti

Loss from discontinued operations

Net il attri to Consolidated Water Co. Ltd. stockholders

Basic earnings (loss) per 1 share attril to Cor
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations

Basic earnings per share

1s attributable to Consolidated Water Co. Ltd. stockholders

d Water Co. Ltd. common stockholders

Diluted earnings (loss) per common share attributable to Consolidated Water Co. Ltd. common stockholders

Continuing operations
Discontinued operations

Diluted earnings per share

1 and red

per preferred shares
Weighted average number of common shares used in the determination of:
Basic earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share

573,791 1,112,913
30,672,135 8,227,343
(1,086,744) (2,371,049)

$ 29585391 $ 5,856,294
$ 195 $ 0.54
(0.07) (0.16)

$ 188 $ 0.38
$ 193 $ 0.54
(0.07) (0.16)

$ 186 $ 0.38
$ 036 $ 0.34
15,739,056 15,290,509
15,865,897 15,401,653

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.statements.
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CONSOLIDATED WATER CO. LTD.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Redeemable Additional Total
preferred stock Common stock paid-in Retained Non-controlling  stockholders’
Shares Dollars Shares Dollars capital earnings interests equity
Balance as of December 31, 2020 31,068 $ 18,641 15,143,683 $ 9,086,210 $86,893,486 $64,910,709 $ 8,103,503  $169,012,549
Issuance of share capital 8,632 5,179 88,488 53,093 (58,272) = = =
Conversion of preferred stock (11,522) (6,913) 11,522 6,913 = = = =
Buyback of preferred stock (1,649) (989) — — (15,810) = = (16,799)
Net income — — — — — 875,579 632,915 1,508,494
Exercise of options 2,106 1,263 — — 15,796 — — 17,059
Dividends declared — — — — — (5,183,232) (649,880) (5,833,112)
Stock-based compensation — — — — 977,232 — — 977,232
Balance as of December 31, 2021 28,635 17,181 15,243,693 9,146,216 87,812,432 60,603,056 8,086,538 165,665,423
Issuance of share capital 9,295 5,577 72,597 43,558 (49,135) = = =
Conversion of preferred stock (6,585) (3,951) 6,585 3,951 = = = =
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Buyback of preferred stock (26) (15) — — (211) = = (226)
Net income — — — — — 5,856,294 1,112,913 6,969,207
Exercise of options 3,064 1,838 — — 24,901 — — 26,739
Dividends declared = = — — — (5,211,651) (1,102,475) (6,314,126)
Stock-based compensation — — — — 1,417,172 — — 1,417,172
Balance as of December 31, 2022 34,383 $ 20,630 15,322,875 $ 9,193,725 $89,205,159 $61,247,699 $ 8,096,976  $ 167,764,189
Redeemable Additional Total
preferred stock Common stock paid-in Retained Non-controlling  stockholders’
Shares Dollars Shares Dollars capital earnings interests equity
Balance as of December 31, 2021 28,635 $ 17,181 15,243,693 $ 9,146,216 $87,812,432 $60,603,056 $ 8,086,538  $ 165,665,423
Issuance of share capital 9,295 5,577 72,597 43,558 (49,135) — — —
Conversion of preferred stock (6,585) (3,951) 6,585 3,951 — = = e
Buyback of preferred stock (26) (15) — — (211) = = (226)
Net income — — — — — 5,856,294 1,112,913 6,969,207
Exercise of options 3,064 1,838 — — 24,901 — — 26,739
Dividends declared — — — — — (5,211,651) (1,102,475) (6,314,126)
Stock-based compensation — — — — 1,417,172 — — 1,417,172
Balance as of December 31, 2022 34,383 20,630 15,322,875 9,193,725 89,205,159 61,247,699 8,096,976 167,764,189
Issuance of share capital 13,309 7,985 68,864 41,319 (49,304) — — —
Conversion of preferred stock (8,848) (5,309) 8,848 5,309 = = = —
Buyback of preferred stock (203) (122) — — (1,708) — — (1,830)
Net income — — — — — 29,585,391 573,791 30,159,182
Purchase of remaining non-controlling interest in
PERC — 368,383 221,030 1,006,248 (3,667,305) (2,440,027)
Exercise of options 5,656 3,394 2,575 1,544 94,826 — — 99,764
Dividends declared — — — — — (5,684,270) — (5,684,270)
Stock-based compensation — — — — 1,933,666 — — 1,933,666
Balance as of December 31, 2023 44297 $ 26578 15771545 ¢ gagpgp7 92188887 85148820 $ 5003462 ¢191,830,674

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED WATER CO. LTD.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income attributable to Consolidated Water Co. Ltd. stockholders $ 5,856,294 $ 875,579
Income from continuing operations attributable to non-controlling interests 1,112,913 632,915
Net income 6,969,207 1,508,494
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Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income attributable to Consolidated Water Co. Ltd. stockholders $ 29,585,391 $ 5,856,294

Income from continuing operations attributable to non-controlling interests 573,791 1,112,913
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Net income 30,159,182 6,969,207

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Impairment loss for Mexico assets - discontinued operations — 377,326

Foreign currency transaction adjustment - discontinued operations (2,003) (102,507)
Loss from discontinued operations 1,088,747 2,096,230

Depreciation and amortization 6,576,454 6,187,308

Deferred income tax benefit (524,999) (4,220)
Provision for credit losses 408,489 =

Loss on net put/call option — 128,000

Compensation expense relating to stock and stock option grants 1,933,666 1,417,172

Gain on asset dispositions and impairments, net 7,112 12,704

Profit-sharing and equity in earnings of OC-BVI (169,728) (102,225)
Distribution of earnings from OC-BVI 303,000 272,700

Change in:

Accounts receivable (10,970,521) 303,125

Contract assets (18,639,335) (2,423,761)
Inventory (891,405) (3,387,011)
Prepaid expenses and other assets (755,391) (3,365,747)
Accounts payable (including related parties), accrued expenses and other current liabilities 3,161,386 6,756,433

Contract liabilities (2,566,910) 8,290,043

Operating lease liabilities (5,205) (5,208)
Deferred revenue 1,192 (267,821)
Net cash provided by operating activities - continuing operations 9,113,731 23,151,748

Net cash used in operating activities - discontinued operations (1,142,969) (1,819,943)
Net cash provided by operating activities 7,970,762 21,331,805

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of certificate of deposit — (2,518,493)
Maturity of certificate of deposit — 5,018,493
Additions to property, plant and equipment and construction in progress (5,047,884) (7,542,761)
Proceeds from asset dispositions 20,808 61,725
Purchase of remaining non-controlling interest in PERC (2,440,027) —
Acquisition of REC, net of cash acquired (3,419,916) —
Net cash used in investing activities (10,887,019) (4,981,036)

Cash flows from financing activities

Dividends paid to common shareholders (5,472,790) (5,145,742)
Dividends paid to preferred shareholders (14,228) (11,078)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests — (1,102,475)
Buyback of redeemable preferred stock (1,830) (226)
Proceeds received from exercise of stock options 99,764 26,739
Principal repayments on long-term debt (135,481) (72,091)
Net cash used in financing activities (5,524,565) (6,304,873)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (8,440,822) 10,045,896
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 50,711,751 40,358,059
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period - discontinued operations 442,252 750,048
Less: cash and cash equivalents at end of period - discontinued operations (91,283) (442,252)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 42,621,898 $ 50,711,751

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED WATER CO. LTD.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Principal activity

Consolidated Water Co. Ltd. and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company”) supply potable water, treat wastewater and water for reuse,
and provide water-related products and services to customers in the Cayman Islands, The Bahamas, the United States and the British Virgin
Islands. The Company produces potable water from seawater using reverse osmosis technology and sells this water to a variety of
customers, including public utilities, commercial and tourist properties, residential properties and government facilities. The Company
designs, builds and sells water production and water treatment infrastructure and manages water infrastructure for commercial and
governmental customers. The Company also manufactures a wide range of specialized and custom water industry related products and
provides design, engineering, operating and other services applicable to commercial, municipal and industrial water production, supply and

treatment.

2. Accounting policies

Basis of preparation: The consolidated financial statements presented are prepared in accordance with the accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States of America.

Use of estimates: The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Significant items subject to estimates and assumptions include the carrying value of
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, goodwill and revenue recognition on construction and manufacturing contracts. Actual

results could differ significantly from such estimates.

Basis of consolidation: The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company’s (i) wholly-owned
subsidiaries, Aerex Industries, Inc. (“Aerex”), Aquilex, Inc. (“Aquilex”), Cayman Water Company Limited (“Cayman Water”), Ocean
Conversion (Cayman) Limited (“OC-Cayman”), DesalCo Limited (“DesalCao”), Consolidated Water Cooperatief, U.A. (“CW-Cooperatief”),
Consolidated Water U.S. Holdings, Inc. (“CW-Holdings”), DesalCo Limited (“DesalCo”), Kalaeloa Desalco LLC (“Kalaeloa Desalco”), Ocean
Conversion (Cayman) Limited (“OC-Cayman”), PERC Water Corporation ("PERC") and Ramey Environmental Compliance, Inc. (‘REC”); and
(i) majority-owned subsidiaries Consolidated Water (Bahamas) Ltd. (“‘CW-Bahamas”), N.S.C. Agua, S.A. de C.V. (“NSC”), and Aguas de
Rosarito S.A.P.I. de C.V. (“AdR"), and PERC Water Corporation ("PERC"). The Company’s investment in its affiliate Ocean Conversion
(BVI) Ltd. (*OC-BVI") is accounted for using the equity method of accounting. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have

been eliminated in consolidation.

On January 4, 2023, In January 2023, as a result of CW-Holdings' exercise of a call option in October 2022, CW-Holdings purchased the
remaining 39% ownership interest in PERC for $2.4 million in cash, and 368,383 shares of the Company’s common stock. stock having a
value of approximately $5.36 million based upon the opening trading price of the Company’s common stock on The Nasdaq Global Market
on the date of the transaction. After giving effect to this purchase, CW-Holdings owns 100% of the outstanding capital stock of PERC.

In September 2021, Kalaeloa Desalco was formed to pursue a project in Oahu, Hawaii. On June 2, 2023, Kalaeloa Desalco signed a
definitive agreement with the Honolulu Board of Water Supply to design, build, operate and maintain a 1.7 million gallons per day seawater

reverse osmosis desalination plant in Oahu, Hawaii.
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Effective October 1, 2023, the Company purchased, through its wholly-owned subsidiary PERC, a 100% ownership interest in Ramey
Environmental Compliance, Inc., a Colorado company that operates and maintains water and wastewater treatment facilities and provides
technical services to clients throughout the Rocky Mountain and Eastern Plains Regions of Colorado. PERC acquired REC in November
2023 for approximately $4.1 million and recorded goodwill and intangible assets from this acquisition of $2,436,391 and $1,108,390
respectively.
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Foreign currency: The Company’s reporting currency is the United States dollar (“US$”"). The functional currency of the Company and its
foreign operating subsidiaries (other than NSC, AdR, and CW-Cooperatief) is the currency for each respective country. The functional
currency for NSC, AdR, and CW-Cooperatief is the US$. NSC and AdR conduct business in US$ and Mexican pesos and CW-Cooperatief
conducts business in US$ and euros. The exchange rates for the Cayman Islands dollar and the Bahamian dollar are fixed to the US$. The
exchange rates for conversion of Mexican pesos and euros into US$ vary based upon market conditions.

Net foreign currency gains arising from transactions and re-measurements were $41,750 $84,678 and $32,594 $41,750 for the years ended
December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021,2022, respectively, and are included in “Other income (expense) - Other” in the

accompanying consolidated statements of income.

Cash and cash equivalents: Cash and cash equivalents consist of demand deposits at banks and certificates of deposit at banks with an

original maturity of three months or less. Cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021

a7
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2022 include $5.0 million$5.1 million and $7.4 million$5.0 million, respectively, of certificates of deposit with an original maturity of
three months or less.

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, the Company had deposits in U.S. banks in excess of federally insured limits of approximately
$12.5 million $16.9 million. As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, the Company held cash in foreign bank accounts of approximately
$36.6 million $24.2 million.

Certain transfers from the Company’s Bahamas bank accounts to Company bank accounts in other countries require the approval of the
Central Bank of The Bahamas. The equivalent United States dollar cash balances for deposits held in The Bahamas as of December 31,

2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021 2022 were approximately $5.7 million $3.0 million and $3.9 million, respectively.

Certificate of deposit: As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company held a certificate of deposit in The Bahamas with an original

maturity of six months in the amount of zero and $2.5 million $5.7 million, respectively.

Accounts receivable and allowance for doubtful accounts: receivable: Accounts receivable are recorded at invoiced amounts based on
meter readings, contractual amounts, fixed fees plus reimbursables or time and materials per contractual agreements. Trade accounts
receivable also represent our unconditional right, subject only to the passage of time, to receive consideration arising from our performance
under contracts with customers. Trade accounts receivable include amounts billed and billable on construction contracts, service and
maintenance contracts and contracts for the sale of goods. Billed contract receivables have been invoiced to customers based on contracted

amounts.
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Allowance for credit losses: The allowance for doubtful accounts credit losses is the Company’s best estimate of the amount of probable
credit losses in the Company’s existing accounts receivable balance. and contract assets balances. The Company determines the allowance
for doubtful accountscurrent expected credit losses based on historical write-offloss experience, current conditions, and monthly
review reasonable and supportable forecasts. The Company also considers the nature of delinquent accounts. the financial asset, the credit

quality of the counterparty, and other relevant factors.

Past due balances are reviewed individually for collectability. Account balances are charged off against the allowance for doubtful
accounts credit losses after all means of collection have been exhausted and the potential for recovery is considered by management to be
remote.

Inventory: Inventory primarily consists of raw materials purchased for specific manufacturing contracts that are valued at cost on the first-in,
first-out basis. Inventory also includes (i) consumables stock and spare parts stock that are valued at cost, less an allowance for
obsolescence, with cost determined on the first-in, first-out basis. Inventory also includes (i) raw materials purchased for specific
manufacturing contracts that are valued at cost on the first-in, first-out basis; and (ii) potable water held in the Company’s reservoirs that is

valued at the lower of the average cost of producing water during the year or its net realizable value.

Contract assets and liabilities: Billing practices for the Company’s contracts are governed by the contract terms of each project based
upon costs incurred, achievement of milestones or predetermined schedules. Billings do not necessarily correlate with revenue, which is
recognized over time using the direct inputs input method of accounting. based on cost incurred. The Company records contract assets and

contract liabilities to account for these differences in timing.

Contract assets, which include costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts, arise when the Company
recognizes revenue for services performed under its construction and manufacturing contracts, but the Company is not yet entitled to bill the
customer under the terms of the contract. Contract liabilities, which include billings in excess
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of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts, represent the Company's obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer
for which the Company has been paid by the customer or for which the Company has billed the customer under the terms of the contract.
Revenue for future services reflected in this account is recognized, and the liability is reduced, as the Company subsequently satisfies the

performance obligation under the contract.

Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts and billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on

uncompleted contracts are typically resolved within one year and are not considered significant financing components.

The Company considers retention that is withheld on progress billings as not creating an unconditional right to payment until contractual
milestones are reached (typically substantial completion). Accordingly, withheld retention is considered a component of contracts assets and
liabilities until finally billed to the customer, when obligations have been satisfied and the right to receipt is subject only to the passage of
time.
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The Company’s contract assets and liabilities are reported in a net asset or liability position on a contract-by-contract basis at the end of each
reporting period. The Company classifies contract assets and liabilities related to construction and manufacturing contracts in current assets

and current liabilities as they will be liquidated in the normal course of contract completion, although this may require more than one year.

Property, plant and equipment, net: Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is
calculated using a straight-line method with an allowance for estimated residual values. Rates are determined based on the estimated useful
lives of the assets as follows:

Buildings 5 to 40 years
Plant and equipment 4 to 40 years
Distribution system 3 to 40 years
Office furniture, fixtures and equipment 3to 10 years
Vehicles 3to 10 years
Leasehold improvements Shorter of 5 years or lease term
Lab equipment 5 to 10 years

Assets under construction are recorded as additions to property, plant and equipment upon completion of the projects. Depreciation
commences in the month the asset is placed in service. Additions to construction in progress are comprised of the cost of the contracted
services, direct labor and materials.

Interest costs directly attributable to the acquisition and construction of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial
amount of time to be ready for their intended use, are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready
for use. No interest was capitalized during the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 or 2021. 2022.

Long-lived assets: Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of the assets might not be recoverable. Conditions that would necessitate an impairment assessment include a significant decline in
the observable market value of an asset, a significant change in the extent or manner in which an asset is used, or a significant adverse
change that would indicate that the carrying amount of an asset or group of assets is not recoverable. For long-lived assets to be held and
used, the Company recognizes an impairment loss only if their carrying amounts are not recoverable through their undiscounted cash flows

and measures the impairment loss based on the difference between the carrying amounts and estimated fair values.
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Goodwill and intangible assets: Goodwill represents the excess cost of an acquired business over the fair value of the assets and liabilities
of the acquired business. business as of the date of acquisition. Goodwill and intangible assets acquired inrecorded as a result of a business
combination and determined to have an indefinite useful life are not amortized but are tested for impairment annually or upon the
identification of a triggering event. Intangible assets with estimable useful lives are amortized over their respective estimated useful lives to
their estimated residual values and reviewed periodically for impairment. The Company evaluates the possible impairment of goodwill
annually as part of its reporting process for the fourth quarter of each fiscal year. Management identifies the Company’s reporting units for
goodwill impairment testing purposes, which consist of Cayman Water, the bulk segment (which is comprised of CW-Bahamas and OC-
Cayman), PERC, and the manufacturing segment (i.e., Aerex), and determines the carrying value of each reporting unit by assigning the
assets and liabilities, including the existing goodwill and intangible assets, to those reporting units. The Company determines the fair value of
each reporting unit and compares these fair value values to the carrying amountamounts of the reporting units. To the extent the carrying

amount of the a reporting unit exceeds the fair value of the reporting unit, an impairment loss is recorded.

For the year ended December 31, 2021 December 31, 2023, the Company estimated elected to assess qualitative factors to determine
whether it was necessary to perform the quantitative goodwill impairment testing that was conducted in prior years for the reporting units.
The Company assessed the relevant events and circumstances to evaluate whether it is more likely than not that the fair value values of

its such reporting units by applying the discounted cash flow method, which relied upon seven-year discrete projections of operating results,
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working capital are less than their carrying values. The events and capital expenditures, along with a terminal value subsequent to the
discrete period. These seven-year projections were based upon historical and anticipated future results, general economic circumstances
assessed for each reporting unit included macroeconomic conditions, industry and market conditions, cost factors, overall financial
performance, and considered other relevant events. Based upon this qualitative assessment, the impact of planned business and operational
strategies. The discount rates for the calculations represented the estimated cost of capital for market participants at the time of each

analysis.
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The Company also estimated the fair value of each of its reporting units for the year ended December 31, 2021 by applying the guideline
public company method.

The Company weighted determined that it is more likely than not that the fair values estimated for each of its reporting units under each
method and summed such weighted fair values to estimate the overall fair value for each reporting unit. The respective weightings the
Company applied to each method for the year ended December 31, 2021 were 80% to the discounted cash flow method and 20% to the
guideline public company method.

The fair values the Company estimated for its Cayman Water, bulk segment, PERC, and manufacturing segment reporting units exceeded
their carrying amounts by 32%, 51%, 15% and 15% respectively, values as of December 31, 2021 December 31, 2023.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company elected to assess qualitative factors to determine whether it was necessary to perform
the quantitative goodwill impairment testing conducted in prior years for all goodwill reporting units other than the manufacturing reporting
unit. The Company assessed relevant events and circumstances to evaluate whether it is more likely than not that the fair values of such
reporting units are less than their carrying values. The events and circumstances assessed for each reporting unit included macroeconomic
conditions, industry and market conditions, cost factors, overall financial performance, and other relevant events. Based upon this qualitative
assessment the Company determined that it was more likely than not that the fair values of its Cayman Water and bulk segment reporting
units exceeded their carrying values as of December 31, 2022. Based upon the Company’s negotiated, arms-length purchase of the
remaining 39% equity interest in PERC from its minority shareholders for $7.8 million in January 2023, the fair value of the Company’s PERC

reporting unit exceeded its carrying value by 79% as of December 31, 2022.

Due to the factors discussed in the following paragraphs, the Company elected to test the goodwill associated with its manufacturing

reporting unit for possible impairment for 2022 using the quantitative tests applied in prior years.

In connection with its acquisition of Aerex in 2016, the Company recorded goodwill of $8,035,211. Aerex’s actual results of operations for
2016 fell significantly short of the projected results that were included in the cash flow projections the Company utilized to determine the
purchase price for Aerex and the fair values of its assets and liabilities. Due to this shortfall in Aerex’s results of operations, the Company
tested its manufacturing reporting unit's goodwill for possible impairment and recorded an impairment loss of $1,750,000 in 2016. As part of
its annual impairment testing of goodwill performed during the fourth quarter, in 2017 the Company updated its projections for Aerex’s future
cash flows, determined that the carrying value of its manufacturing reporting unit exceeded its fair value, and recorded an impairment loss of
$1,400,000 for December 31, 2017 to further reduce the carrying value of the manufacturing segment goodwill to $4,885,211.

Approximately 80% of Aerex’s revenue, and 89% of Aerex’s gross profit, for the year ended December 31, 2020 were generated from sales
to one customer. While Aerex sells various products to this customer, Aerex’s revenue from this customer has had historically been derived
primarily from one specialized product. In October 2020, this customer informed Aerex that, for inventory management purposes, it was
suspending its purchases of the specialized product from Aerex following 2020 for a period of approximately one year. This customer

informed Aerex at that time that it expected to recommence its purchases of the specialized product from Aerex beginning with the first
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quarter of 2022. As a result of this anticipated loss of revenue for Aerex, the Company updated its projections for its Manufacturing reporting
unit’s future cash flows. Such projections assumed, in part, that Aerex’s major customer would recommence its purchases from Aerex in
2022 but at a reduced aggregate amount, as compared to 2020. Based upon these updated projections, the Company tested its
manufacturing reporting unit's goodwill for possible impairment as of December 31, 2020 using the discounted cash flow and guideline public
company methods, with a weighting of 80% and 20% applied to these two methods, respectively. As a result of these impairment tests, the
Company determined that the estimated fair value of its manufacturing reporting unit exceeded its carrying value by approximately 31% as of
December 31, 2020.

In late July 2021, this former major customer communicated to Aerex that it expected to recommence its purchases of the specialized
product from Aerex in 2022 and subsequent years, but informed Aerex that such purchases would be at substantially reduced annual
amounts, as compared to the amounts it had purchased from Aerex in 2020 and prior years. The Company’s updated sales estimate for this

customer based on this new information was substantially below the
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anticipated sales to this customer for 2022 and subsequent years that the Company used in the discounted cash flow
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projections it prepared for purposes of testing its Manufacturing reporting unit's goodwill for possible impairment as of December 31, 2020.
Furthermore, Aerex’s efforts to replace the revenue previously generated from this customer with revenue from existing and new customers
were adversely impacted by the negative economic conditions (caused in part by the COVID-19 pandemic). These negative economic
conditions also increased Aerex’s raw material costs, resulted in raw material shortages and extended delivery times for such materials, and
adversely affected the overall financial condition of Aerex’s current and prospective customers. Accordingly, in light of this new information
from Aerex’s former major customer, and the on-going weak economic conditions that the Company believed would continue through 2022,
the Company updated its projections of future cash flows for the manufacturing reporting unit and tested its goodwill for possible impairment
as of June 30, 2021 using the discounted cash flow and guideline public company methods, with a weighting of 80% and 20% applied to
these two methods, respectively. Based upon this testing, the Company determined that the carrying value of its manufacturing reporting unit
exceeded its fair value by $2.9 million, and the Company recorded an impairment loss to reduce its manufacturing segment’s goodwill by this

amount for the three months ended June 30, 2021.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company estimated the fair value of its manufacturing reporting unit by applying the discounted
cash flow method, which relied upon seven-year discrete projections of operating results, working capital and capital expenditures, along
with a terminal value subsequent to the discrete period. These seven-year projections were based upon historical and anticipated future
results, general economic and market conditions, and considered the impact of planned business and operational strategies. The discount
rates for the calculations represented the estimated cost of capital for market participants at the time of each analysis. The Company also
estimated the fair value of its manufacturing reporting unit for the year ended December 31, 2022 by applying the guideline public company
method. The Company weighted the fair values estimated for its manufacturing reporting unit under each method and summed such
weighted fair values to estimate the overall fair value for the reporting unit. The respective weightings the Company applied to each method
for the year ended December 31, 2022 were 80% to the discounted cash flow method and 20% to the guideline public company method.
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The fair value the Company estimated for its manufacturing reporting unit exceeded its carrying amount by 63% as of December 31, 2022.

The Company believes the inherent uncertainties associated with the accounting estimates and assumptions it uses for its estimates of its
manufacturing reporting unit’s fair value have increased due to the current, less predictable economic conditions, which have resulted in
increasing raw material prices, extended and unexpected delays in the procurement and delivery of its raw materials, and have also, the
Company believes, adversely affected its customers. Should interest rates rise significantly in the future the Company would likely be
required to increase the discount rate it uses under the discounted cash flow method to estimate the fair value of this reporting unit, and such
increased discount rate in and of itself could decrease the estimated fair value of the manufacturing reporting unit under the discounted cash

flow method.

As noted previously, based upon its estimation prepared as of December 31, 2022, the fair value of the Company’s manufacturing reporting
unit exceeded its carrying value by 63%. However, if the Company determines in the future that Aerex’s discounted future cash inflows will
be less than its present expectations, the Company may be required to record additional impairment losses to reduce the remaining carrying
values of its manufacturing segment’s goodwill and its remaining unamortized intangible assets balances, which amounted to $1,985,211
and $754,444, respectively, as of December 31, 2022. Any such impairment losses could have a material adverse impact on the Company’s
consolidated results of operations.

Investments: Investments where the Company does not exercise significant influence over the operating and financial policies of the
investee and holds less than 20% of the voting stock are recorded at cost. The Company uses the equity method of accounting for
investments in common stock where the Company holds 20% to 50% of the voting stock of the investee and has significant influence over its
operating and financial policies but does not meet the criteria for consolidation. The Company recognizes impairment losses on declines in
the fair value of the stock of investees that are other than temporary.

Other assets: Under the terms of CW-Bahamas’ contract with the Water and Sewerage Corporation of The Bahamas (“WSC") to supply

water from its Blue Hills desalination plant, CW-Bahamas was required to reduce the amount of water
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lost by the public water distribution system on New Providence Island, The Bahamas, over a one-year period by 438 million gallons, a
requirement CW-Bahamas met during 2007. The Company was solely responsible for the engineering, labor and materials costs incurred to
reduce the amount of lost water, which were capitalized and are being amortized on a straight-line basis over the original remaining life of the
Blue Hills contract. Such costs are included in other assets and aggregated approximately $3.5 million as of December 31, 2022 December
31, 2023 and 2021.2022. Accumulated amortization for these costs was approximately $2.9 million $3.1 million and $2.7 million $2.9 million
as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021, 2022, respectively. Amortization expense for these costs was $179,353 for the years
ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021. 2022.

Income taxes: The Company accounts for the income taxes arising from the operations of its United States subsidiaries under the asset and
liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities, if any, are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between
the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit
carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in
which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax

rates is recognized
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in income in the period that includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance is provided to the extent any deferred tax asset may not be

realized.

The Company is not presently subject to income taxes in the other countries in which it operates.

Revenue recognition: Revenue is recognized when control of the promised goods or services is transferred to the Company’s customers, in

an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services.

The following table presents the Company's revenue disaggregated by revenue source.

Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2023 2022
Retail revenue $ 25,954,013 $ 22,104,953 $ 30,158,051 $25,954,013
Bulk revenue 32,991,066 26,800,869 34,595,058 32,991,066
Services revenue 28,835,428 13,884,857 97,966,650 28,835,428
Manufacturing revenue 6,324,465 4,072,823 17,491,474 6,324,465
Total revenue $ 94,104,972 $ 66,863,502 $180,211,233 $94,104,972

Services revenue consists of the following:

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022
Construction revenue $77,306,704 $11,616,274
Operations and maintenance revenue 19,368,365 14,152,158
Design and consulting revenue 1,291,581 3,066,996
Total services revenue $97,966,650 $28,835,428

Retail revenue

The Company produces and supplies water to end-users, including residential, commercial and governmental customers in the Cayman
Islands under an exclusive retail license issued to Cayman Water by the Cayman Islands government to provide water in two of the three
most populated areas on Grand Cayman Island. Cayman. Customers are billed on a monthly basis based on metered consumption and bills
are typically collected within 30 to 45 days after the billing date. Receivables not collected within 45 days subject the customer to

disconnection from water service.

The Company recognizes revenue from water sales at the time water is supplied to the customer’s premises. The amount of water supplied
is determined and invoiced based upon water meter readings performed at the end of each month. All retail water contracts are month-to-
month contracts. The Company has elected the “right to invoice” practical expedient for revenue recognition on its retail water sale contracts
and recognizes revenue in the amount to which the Company has a right to invoice. invoice, recognizing this revenue from the transfer of

goods or services to customers at a point in time.

Bulk revenue

The Company produces and supplies water to government-owned utilities in the Cayman Islands and The Bahamas.

OC-Cayman provides bulk water to the Water Authority-Cayman (“WAC"), a government-owned utility and regulatory agency, under two

agreements. The WAC in turn distributes such water to properties in Grand Cayman outside of Cayman Water's retail license area.
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The Company sells bulk water in The Bahamas through its majority-owned subsidiary, CW-Bahamas, under two agreements with the
WSC, Water and Sewerage Corporation of The Bahamas (“WSC”), which distributes such water through its own pipeline system to

residential, commercial and tourist properties on the Island island of New Providence.
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The Company has elected the “right to invoice” practical expedient for revenue recognition on its bulk water sale contracts and recognizes
revenue in the amount to which the Company has a right to invoice. invoice, recognizing this revenue from the transfer of goods or services

to customers at a point in time.
Services and Manufacturing revenue

The Company designs, builds, sells, operates and maintains, and provides consulting services related to water, wastewater and water reuse
infrastructure through PERC. All of PERC's customers are companies or governmental entities located in the United States. Effective
October 2023, PERC acquired REC, a company that provides operations and maintenance and consulting services to companies and
governmental entities located in the United States.

The Company also provides design, engineering, management, procurement and construction services for desalination infrastructure

through DesalCo, which serves customers in the Cayman Islands, The Bahamas and the British Virgin Islands.

The Company also designs, builds, sells, operates and manages water, wastewater and water reuse infrastructure through PERC. All of
PERC's customers are companies or governmental entities located in the U.S.

The Company, through Aerex, is a custom and specialty manufacturer of systems and products applicable to commercial, municipal and

industrial water production and treatment. Substantially all of Aerex’s customers are U.S. companies.

The Company generates construction, operations and services maintenance, design and consulting revenue from DesalCoPERC and
PERC DesalCo and generates manufacturing revenue from Aerex. The Company also generates operations and maintenance and
consulting revenue from REC.

The Company recognizes revenue for its construction and custom/specialized manufacturing contracts over time under the input method
using costs incurred (which represents work performed) to date relative to the total estimated costs at completion to measure progress
toward satisfying a contract's performance obligations as such measure best reflects the transfer of control of the promised good to the
customer. Contract costs include labor, materials, subcontractor costs and amounts payable to subcontractors. other expenses. The
Company follows this method since it can make reasonably dependable estimates of the revenue and costs applicable to the various stages
of a contract. Under this input method, the Company records revenue and recognizes profit or loss as work on the contract progresses. The
Company estimates total project costs to be incurred and profit to be earned on each long-term, fixed price contract prior to commencement
of work on the contract and updates these estimates as work on the contract progresses. The cumulative amount of revenue recorded on a
contract at a specified point in time is that percentage of total estimated revenue that incurred costs to date comprise of estimated total
contract costs. If, as Due to the extended time it may take to complete many of the Company’s contracts and the scope and nature of the
work progresses, required to be performed on those contracts, the actualestimations of total revenue and costs at completion are
complicated and subject to many variables and, accordingly, are subject to changes. When adjustments in estimated total contract revenue
or estimated total contract costs exceed are required, any changes from prior estimates are recognized in the profit recognized on revenue
from that contract decreases. current period for the inception-to-date effect of such changes. The Company recognizes the full amount of any
estimated loss on a contract at the time the estimates indicate such a loss. Any contract assets are classified as current assets. Contract

liabilities on uncompleted contracts, if any, are classified as current liabilities.
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During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company adjusted its prior year estimates of the total contract costs for two of its
construction contracts. These changes in accounting estimates resulted in an increase in the services segment’s income from operations and
the Company’s consolidated net income by $2,356,439 and $1,750,750, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2023.This
adjustment increased basic and diluted earnings per share by $0.11 for the year ended December 31, 2023.

The Company has elected the “right to invoice” practical expedient for revenue recognition on its services agreementsoperations and
maintenance, design and consulting contracts and recognizes revenue in the amount to which the Company has a right to invoice. invoice,

recognizing this revenue from the transfer of goods or services to customers at a point in time.
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During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company recognized $77,411,792 and $14,146,271, respectively, of its services
revenue from the transfer of goods or services to customers over time. The remaining services revenue of $20,554,858 and $14,689,157,
respectively, was recognized from the transfer of goods or services to customers at a point in time. During the years ended December 31,
2023 and 2022, the Company recognized all of its manufacturing revenue from the transfer of goods or services to customers over time.

Practical Expedients and Exemptions

The Company does not disclose the value of unsatisfied performance obligations for (i) contracts with an original expected length of one year

or less and (ii) contracts for which the Company recognizes revenue at the amount to which it has the right to invoice for services performed.

Comparative amounts: Certain amounts presented in the financial statements previously issued for 20212022 have been reclassified to

conform to the current year’s presentation.
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3. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are not restricted by the terms of the Company’s bank accounts as to withdrawal or use. As of December 31,
2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021, 2022, the equivalent United States dollars of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents, including those

accounts denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, are as follows:

December 31, December 31,
2022 2021 2023 2022
Bank accounts:
United States dollar $ 24573161 $ 15,891,277 $15,857,612 $24,573,161
Cayman Islands dollar 14,956,162 12,784,358 11,826,102 14,956,162
Bahamian dollar 5,698,100 3,944,208 3,025,898 5,698,100
45,227,423 32,619,843 30,709,612 45,227,423
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Short term deposits:

Short-term deposits:

United States dollar 5,484,328 5,324,258 8,861,606 2,476,370
Cayman Islands dollar — 2,413,958 3,050,680 3,007,958
5,484,328 7,738,216 11,912,286 5,484,328

Total cash and cash equivalents

$ 50,711,751 $ 40,358,059

$42,621,898 $50,711,751

Transfers from the Company’s Bahamas bank accounts to Company bank accounts in other countries require the approval of the Central

Bank of The Bahamas.

4. Accounts receivable, net

December 31,

2022 2021
Trade accounts receivable $27,163,719 $27,311,188
Receivable from OC-BVI 37,293 40,877
Other accounts receivable 28,384 180,262

27,229,396 27,532,327
Allowance for doubtful accounts (183,214) (183,020)

Accounts receivable, net $27,046,182  $27,349,307

The activity for the allowance for doubtful accounts consisted of:

December 31,
2022 2021
$183,020 $172,269
Provision for doubtful accounts — —

Opening allowance for doubtful accounts

Accounts written off during the year (726) —
Recovery of accounts written off 920 10,751
Ending allowance for doubtful accounts $ 183,214 $ 183,020
Significant concentrations of credit risk are disclosed in Note 18.

December 31,

2023 2022
Trade accounts receivable $38,446,554 $27,163,719
Receivable from OC-BVI 41,129 37,293
Other accounts receivable 322,609 28,384
38,810,292 27,229,396
Allowance for credit losses (583,401) (183,214)
Accounts receivable, net $38,226,891 $27,046,182
5455
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The activity for the allowance for credit losses consisted of:
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December 31,

2023 2022
Opening allowance for credit losses M m
Provision for credit losses 408,489 —
Accounts written off during the year (9,215) (726)
Recovery of accounts written off 913 920

Ending allowance for credit losses $583,401 $183,214

Significant concentrations of credit risk are disclosed in Note 18.
5. Inventory

December 31, December 31,

2022 2021 2023 2022
Spare parts stock $ 7,747,455 $ 6,514,333
Raw materials 3,135,357 3,481,486
Consumables stock 166,935 246,355
Water stock $ 36,655 $ 34,587 40,666 36,655
Consumables stock 246,355 138,547
Spare parts stock 9,995,819 7,064,708
Total inventory 10,278,829 7,237,842 11,090,413 10,278,829
Less current portion 5,727,842 2,504,832 6,044,642 5,727,842
Inventory (non-current) $ 4550987 $ 4,733,010 $ 5045771 $ 4,550,987
6. Contracts in progress
Revenue recognized and amounts billed on contracts in progress are summarized as follows:

December 31, December 31,

2022 2021 2023 2022

$ 25469,014 $ 6,109,396 $ 108,952,682 $ 25,469,014
Amounts billed to date on contracts in progress (33,407,182) (6,370,855) (101,724,459)  (33,407,182)
Retainage 2,047,969 237,542 8,087,823 2,047,969
$ (5890,199) $  (23,917)

Revenue recognized to date on contracts in progress

Net contract liability

Net contract asset/(liability) $ 15,316,046 $ (5,890,199)

The above net balances are reflected in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as follows:

December 31, December 31,

2022 2021 2023 2022
Contract assets $ 2913722 $ 489,961 $21,553,057 $ 2,913,722
Contract liabilities (8,803,921) (513,878)  (6,237,011)  (8,803,921)
Net contract liability $ (5890,199) $ (23,917)

Net contract asset/(liability) $15,316,046  $(5,890,199)

The significant increase in contract liabilities assets from December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022 to December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023
is primarily attributable to billings on PERC'sthe construction contract with the WAC for the Red Gate plant in Grand Cayman and the
construction contract with Liberty Utilities for a water treatment facility in Arizona.
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During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company adjusted its prior year estimates of the total contract costs for two of its
construction contracts. These changes in accounting estimates resulted in an increase in the services segment’s income from operations and
the Company’s consolidated net income by $2,356,439 and $1,750,750, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2023. This
adjustment increased basic and diluted earnings per share by $0.11 for the year ended December 31, 2023.

56

Table of Contents

As of December 31, 2022, December 31, 2023, the Company had unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied performance obligations for contracts in
progress representing approximately $97.9 million $162.2 million in aggregate transaction price for contracts with an original expected length
of greater than one year. The Company expects to earn revenue as it satisfies its performance obligations under those contracts in the
amount of approximately $75.3 million $22.2 million during the year ending December 31, 2023December 31, 2024 and $22.6 million
thereafter. $140 million thereafter. In addition, the Company recognized revenue of $468,000 approximately $8.7 million in the year ended
December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, that was included in the contract liability balance as of December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022.

55
Table of Contents
7. Property, plant and equipment and construction in progress
December 31, December 31,
2022 2021 2023 2022

Land $ 6,488,400 $ 3,316,537 $ 6,488,400 $ 6,488,400
Buildings 23,280,880 23,255,925 26,044,551 23,280,880
Plant and equipment 64,532,994 64,324,377 66,000,977 64,532,994
Distribution system 39,544,395 39,780,272 39,546,175 39,544,395
Office furniture, fixtures and equipment 3,109,546 3,051,814 3,338,760 3,109,546
Vehicles 2,525,576 2,079,874 3,433,561 2,525,576
Leasehold improvements 287,980 287,980 306,545 287,980
Lab equipment 12,456 12,456 12,456 12,456

139,782,227 136,109,235 145,171,425 139,782,227
Less accumulated depreciation 87,252,682 83,162,696 89,288,904 87,252,682
Property, plant and equipment, net $ 52,529,545 $ 52,946,539 $ 55,882,521 $ 52,529,545
Construction in progress $ 3,705,681 $ 710,863 $ 495,471 $ 3,705,681
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As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, the Company had outstanding capital commitments of approximately $2.0 million. $455,000.
The Company maintains insurance for loss or damage to all fixed assets that it deems susceptible to loss. During the years ended December
31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021, 2022, $7,093,158 and $297,723, and $644,224, respectively, of construction in progress was placed
in service. Depreciation expense was $5,425,177 $5,823,008 and $5,995,213 $5,425,177 for the years ended December 31, 2022 December
31, 2023 and 2021, 2022, respectively.

8. Discontinued operations — Mexico project development

In 2010, the Company began the pursuit, through its Netherlands subsidiary, Consolidated Water Cooperatief, U.A. (“CW-Cooperatief”), and
its Mexico subsidiary, N.S.C. Agua, S.A. de C.V. (“NSC"), of a project (the “Project”) that encompassed the construction, operation and
minority ownership of a 100 million gallon per day seawater reverse osmosis desalination plant to be located in northern Baja California,

Mexico and accompanying pipelines to deliver water to the Mexican potable water system.

Through a series of transactions that began in 2012, NSC purchased 20.1 hectares of land for approximately $21.1 million on which the

proposed Project’s plant was to be constructed.

Following an assessment by the State of Baja, California (the “State”) of the need for such a desalination plant and the passage of enabling
legislation in November 2015, the State officially commenced the required public tender for the Project. A consortium (the “Consortium”)
comprised of NSC, Suez Medio Ambiente México, S.A. de C.V. (“Suez MA"), a subsidiary of SUEZ International, S.A.S., and NuWater
S.A.P.l. de C.V. (“NuWater”) submitted its tender for the Project in April 2016 and in June 2016, the State designated the Consortium as the
winner of the tender process for the Project.

In August 2016, NSC and NuWater incorporated a new company under the name Aguas de Rosarito S.A.P.I. de C.V. (“AdR”") to pursue
completion of the Project and executed a shareholders agreement for AdR agreeing among other things that (i) AdR would purchase the
land and other Project assets from NSC on the date that the Project begins commercial operation and (ii) AdR would enter into a
Management and Technical Services Agreement with NSC effective on the first day that the Project begins commercial operation. NSC
initially owned 99.6% of the equity of AdR. In February 2018, CW-Holdings acquired the remaining 0.4% ownership in AdR from NuWater.
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On August 22, 2016, the Public Private Partnership Agreement for the Project (the “APP Contract”) was executed between AdR, the State
Water Commission of Baja California (“CEA”), and the Government of Baja California, as represented by the Secretary of Planning and
Finance and the Public Utilities Commission of Tijuana (“CESPT"). The APP Contract required AdR to design, construct, finance and operate
a seawater reverse osmosis desalination plant (and accompanying aqueduct) with a capacity of up to 100 million gallons per day in two
phases: the first with a capacity of 50 million gallons per day and an aqueduct to the Mexican public water system in Tijuana, Baja California
and the second phase with a capacity of 50 million gallons per day. The first phase was to be operational within 36 months of commencing

construction and the
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second phase was to be operational by January 2025. The APP Contract further required AdR to operate and maintain the plant and
aqueduct for a period of 37 years starting from the commencement of operation of the first phase. At the end of the operating period, the
plant and aqueduct would have been transferred to CEA. The APP Contract was subsequently amended by the parties in June 2018 to
increase the scope of Phase 1 and to allow for changes in the water tariff due to the changes in the exchange rate for the peso, interest rates

and construction costs that had and would occur from the date the APP Contract was signed to the date construction commenced.

On June 29, 2020, AdR received a letter (the “Letter”) from the Director General of CEA and the Director General of CESPT terminating the
APP Contract. The Letter requested that AdR provide an inventory of the assets that currently comprise the “Project Works” (as defined in
the APP Contract) for the purpose of acknowledging and paying the non-recoverable expenses made by AdR in connection with the Project,
with such reimbursement to be calculated in accordance with the terms of the APP Contract. The applicable law required that this list of non-
recoverable expenses made by AdR in connection with the Project be submitted to CEA and CESPT within 20 business days from the date
of receipt of the Letter. AdR initiated an amparo claim before a federal district court in Tijuana, Baja California, to challenge the provision of
the applicable law requiring submittal of the list of non-recoverable expenses within the 20 business days term, as AdR considered such term
to be unreasonably short due to the magnitude of the Project and the scope of supporting documentation required to be provided with
respect to the non-recoverable expenses. AdR obtained an initial provisional suspension of the lapsing of such 20-day term from the court,
and on August 10, 2020 the court made such suspension definitive until the completion of the amparo trial. As such, the 20-day term for filing
the list of non-recoverable expenses was suspended. Therefore, on August 28, 2020, AdR submitted their list of non-recoverable expenses,
including those of NSC, to CEA and CESPT which was comprised of 51,144,525 United States dollars and an additional 137,333,114
Mexican pesos. In February 2021, AdR withdrew this amparo claim, and such withdrawal was accepted by the federal district court in

Tijuana. To date, AdR has not received a formal response from CEA or CESPT to its submission of non-recoverable expenses.

The Company believes CW-Cooperatief, as a Netherlands company, has certain rights relating to its investments in NSC and AdR under the
Agreement on Promotion, Encouragement and Reciprocal Protection of Investments between the Kingdom of the Netherlands and the
United Mexican States entered into force as of October 1, 1999 (the “Treaty”). On April 16, 2021, CW-Cooperatief submitted a letter to the
President of Mexico and other Mexican federal government officials alleging that the State’s termination of the APP Contract constituted a
breach by Mexico of its international obligations under the Treaty, entitling CW-Cooperatief to full reparation, including monetary damages.
This letter invites invited Mexico to seek a resolution of this investment dispute through consultation and negotiation, but stated that if the
dispute cannot be resolved in this manner, CW-Cooperatief elects towould refer the dispute to the International Centre for the Settlement of
International Disputes for arbitration, as provided for in the Treaty. On June 29, 2021, the Mexican Ministry of Economy responded to CW-
Cooperatief's letter and proposed to hold a consultation meeting. Two such meetings were held on July 9, 2021 and August 2, 2021 on a

confidential basis, without a resolution of the Company’s investment dispute.

On February 9, 2022, CW-Cooperatief, filed a Request for Arbitration with the International Centre for Settlement of International Disputes
requesting that the United Mexican States pay CW-Cooperatief damages in excess of US$51 million plus MXN$137 million (with the exact
amount to be quantified in the proceedings), plus fees, costs and pre- and post-award interest.

CW-Cooperatief intends to pursue vigorously the relief sought in the arbitration, in addition to pursuing all other legal remedies and courses
of action available under the operative contracts and applicable law with respect to their rights, damages, fees and expenses. The Company
cannot provide any assurances that CW-Cooperatief will be able to obtain the relief sought in the arbitration, and CW-Cooperatiefthe
Company has incurred and will continue to incur legal and other arbitration-related expenses that the Company expects will be are material to
its consolidated results of operations and cash flows.
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During July 2022, the State initiated discussions with the Company to potentially resolve the issues related to the cancellation by the

government of the Rosarito desalination plant contract as well as potentially addressing the State's acute water shortage issues. The
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Company cannot presently determine the outcome of the discussions and the Company has not terminated its efforts to obtain relief through

the international arbitration process as a result of these discussions.
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The Company cannot provide any assurances that it will be able to obtain reimbursement for any expenses or investments made with
respect to the Project.

As a result of the cancellation of the APP Contract, in 2020 the Company discontinued all development activities associated with the Project
and commenced active marketing efforts to sell the land NSC purchased for the Project. Accordingly, the assets and liabilities of CW-
Cooperatief, NSC and AdR, as well as the costs for legal and administrative activities to pursue reimbursement from the State of Baja
California following the cancellation of the APP Contract, have been classified as discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.

The Company’s net losses from discontinued operations for the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 20212022 were
($2,371,049) 1,086,744) and ($2,574,079) 2,371,049), respectively. The Company’s net losses from discontinued operations for 2022 and
2021 includes provisions of $377,326 and $963,540, respectively, for uncollectible value added taxes paid to, and reimbursable from, the
Mexican federal government.

Summarized financial information for the discontinued Mexico project development operation is as follows:

December 31,

December 31, 2023 2022
2022 2021
Cash $ 442,252  $ 750,048 $ 91,283 $ 442,252
Accounts receivable 12,675 — — 12,675
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 75,826 82,783 120,234 76,553
Value added taxes receivable (net of allowance of $1,711,234 and $1,279,757,
respectively) 727 340,910
Land 21,126,898 21,126,898 21,126,898 21,126,898
Other assets 2,390 19,288 2,390 2,390
Total assets of discontinued operations $ 21,660,768 $ 22,319,927 $21,340,805 $21,660,768
Total liabilities of discontinued operations $ 389,884 $ 190,141 $ 364,665 $ 389,884
Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2023 2022
Revenue $ — 3 — $ — $ =
Provision for uncollected value added taxes $ 377326  $ 963,540
Loss from discontinued operations $ 2,371,049 $ 2,574,079 $1,086,744 $2,371,049
Depreciation expense $ — % 4545 $ —  $ —
Mexico Project litigation
a) EWG request of precautionary measures
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In January 2018, EWG Water LLC (“EWG") initiated an ordinary mercantile claim against, among others, N.S.C. Agua, S.A. de C.V. (“NSC”)
and Consolidated Water Cooperatief, U.A. (‘“CW-Cooperatief”) (with Aguas de Rosarito S.A.P.I. de C.V. (“AdR”) being named as a third party

to be called to trial) before the Tenth Civil Judge in Tijuana, Baja California for Mercantile Matters (the “Tenth Civil Judge”).

In such claim, EWG challenged, among other things, the transactions contemplated under a certain option agreement (entered into in 2012),
and therefore, the capital investment transactions occurring in May 2013 that increased the ownership interest of CW-Cooperatief in NSC to
99.99%. On October 1, 2020, and following an order from a Federal Judge obtained by NSC, the Tenth Civil Judge resolved to (i) move the
claim of EWG to arbitration, and (ii) suspend the corresponding ordinary mercantile procedure. Within the above-mentioned claim, the Tenth

Civil Judge granted EWG certain preliminary measures against NSC, which were later overturned by an Upper Court.
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In July 2023, EWG filed a motion before a local court in Playas de Rosarito, Baja California (the “Rosarito Court”) to obtain precautionary
measures consisting of the securing of assets owned by NSC (particularly real estate), as a procedure prior to the commencement of an
arbitration that allegedly would be initiated by EWG against NSC to claim the payment of an indemnification for damages derived from a so-
called simulation of legal acts. In the opinion of the Rosarito Court, such motion did not require notification to NSC or the presentation of

counterarguments by NSC to the motion prior to securing the assets of NSC.

On July 28, 2023, the Rosarito Court issued a resolution in which it: (i) granted the precautionary measures requested by EWG, subject to
the posting of a bond in the amount of MXN$1,500,000 (One Million Five Hundred Thousand Mexican Pesos), and (ii) ordered that once the
precautionary measures were executed, EWG would have three business days counted as from the posting of the bond, to initiate and prove
to the Rosarito Court that it initiated the arbitration. To the Company’s knowledge EWG has not posted the bond. Consequently, NSC has not

been summoned to an arbitration procedure.

As EWG has apparently not posted the bond set by the Rosarito Court (i) the precautionary measures have not been enforced, (ii) no
securing or attachment has been registered against the real estate of NSC; and (iii) NSC has not been formally summoned to this procedure.

As stated previously, NSC is unaware of any arbitration commenced by EWG regarding this matter.
b) NSC amparo lawsuit
On August 16, 2023, NSC filed an amparo suit (i.e. application for constitutional relief) before the Eleventh Federal District Court in Tijuana

(“Federal District Court in Tijuana”) against the precautionary measures granted to EWG by the Rosarito Court.

In its amparo suit, NSC also requested the Federal District Court in Tijuana to grant an order to put on hold said precautionary measures. A
preliminary order to stay was granted by the Federal District Court in Tijuana, followed by a definitive injunction, subject to the posting of a

guarantee. NSC has submitted the guarantee to the court.

NSC subsequently filed an extension of the amparo suit introducing new arguments aiming to strengthen NSC’s position. The amparo

extension was admitted through a resolution published on November 7, 2023.

The Federal District Court in Tijuana has not been able to summon EWG on this amparo suit, as it has not been able to determine nor obtain
information on an address where EWG can be summoned. As such, the Federal District Court in Tijuana has requested various authorities to

provide information on any domicile where EWG can be summoned.

The responses of some authorities are in process of being received by the Federal District Court in Tijuana. NSC is waiting until all the

authorities provide their official response to determine if there is a viable alternative for summoning EWG.
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NSC offered certain evidence consisting of the docket of amparo file number 74/2020, which was processed by the Twelfth Civil District
Court in Tijuana. The Amparo Law provides that any documentary evidence offered by the parties shall be issued without any cost.
Therefore, NSC requested the Court to grant the expedition of said copies for free.

However, this request was denied by the Federal District Court in Tijuana. Therefore, NSC filed an appeal for review against said decision,
which was admitted by the Federal District Court in Tijuana and sent to the Second Collegiate Circuit Court in Tijuana, acting as Court of
Appeals, which confirmed the admission of the appeal remedy through a resolution published on January 26, 2024. The judgment is still
pending resolution.

The Company cannot presently determine what impact the resolution of this matter may have on its consolidated financial statements.

9. Intangible assets

The Company’s purchase transactions for Aerex and PERC identified certain intangible assets. The remaining intangible assets and their
respective useful lives are as follows: non-compete agreements (3 and 5 years), trade names (15 years), and facility management contracts
(6 years).
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Effective October 2023, the Company purchased a 100% ownership interest in REC. The purchase transaction identified certain intangible
assets with a fair value of $1,108,390 and useful lives as follows: non-compete (5 years), trade name (15 years) and customer relationships
(15 years).

The costs and accumulated amortization for these assets were as follows:

December 31, December 31,
2022 2021 2023 2022
Cost
Non-compete agreements $ 530,000 $ 530,000 $ 268590 $ —
Trade names 2,700,000 2,700,000 3,096,900 2,700,000
Customer relationships 442,900 —
Facility management contracts 2,200,000 2,200,000 2,200,000 2,200,000
5,430,000 5,430,000 6,008,390 4,900,000
Accumulated amortization
Non-compete agreements (530,000) (493,889) (13,430) —
Trade names (920,000) (740,000)  (1,106,615) (920,000)
Customer relationships (7,382) —
Facility management contracts (1,161,112) (794,445) (1,527,778) (1,161,112)
(2,611,112) (2,028,334) (2,655,205) (2,081,112)
Intangible assets, net $ 28188838 $ 3,401,666 $ 3,353,185 $ 2,818,888

Amortization of intangible assets for each of the next five years and thereafter is expected to be as follows:

2023 $ 546,667
2024 546,667 $ 656,371
2025 485,554 595,260
2026 180,000 289,705
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2027 180,000 289,705
2028 276,275
Thereafter 880,000 1,245,869

$ 2,818,888 $3,353,185

Amortization expense was $582,778 $574,093 and $746,667 $582,778 for the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and
2021, 2022, respectively.

10. Leases

The Company’s leases consist primarily of leases for office and warehouse space. For leases with terms greater than twelve months, the
related asset and obligation are recorded at the present value of the lease payments over the term. Many of these leases contain rental
escalation clauses which are factored into the determination of the lease payments when appropriate. When available, the lease payments
are discounted using the rate implicit in the lease; however, the Company’s current leases do not provide a readily determinable implicit rate.
Therefore, the Company’s incremental borrowing rate is estimated to discount the lease payments based on information available at the
lease commencement.

These leases contain both lease and non-lease components, which the Company has elected to treat as a single lease component. The
Company elected not to recognize leases that have an original lease term, including reasonably certain renewal or purchase obligations, of
twelve months or less in its consolidated balance sheets for all classes of underlying assets. Lease costs for such short-term leases are

expensed on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The land used by the Company to operate its seawater desalination plants in the Cayman Islands and The Bahamas is owned by the
Company or leased to the Company for immaterial annual amounts and is not included in the lease amounts presented in the consolidated
balance sheets.

All lease assets denominated in a foreign currency are measured using the exchange rate at the commencement of the lease. All lease
liabilities denominated in a foreign currency are remeasured using the exchange rate as of the consolidated balance sheet date.
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Lease assets and liabilities

The following table presents the lease-related assets and liabilities and their respective classification on the consolidated balance sheets:

December 31, December 31, December 31,
2022 2021 2023 2022
ASSETS
Current
Prepaid expenses and other current assets $ 35624 $ — $ 110541 $ 35,624
Current assets of discontinued operations 7,979 2,654 — 7,979
Noncurrent
Operating lease right-of-use assets 2,058,384 2,681,137 2,135,446 2,058,384
Long-term assets of discontinued operations — 16,898
Total lease right-of-use assets $ 2,101,987 $ 2,700,689 $2,245987 $2,101,987
LIABILITIES
Current
Current maturities of operating leases $ 546,851 $ 592,336 $ 456,865 $ 546,851
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Current liabilities of discontinued operations 7,361 11,195

Noncurrent

Noncurrent operating leases 1,590,542 2,137,394
Noncurrent liabilities of discontinued operations — 7,819
Total lease liabilities $ 2,144,754 $ 2,748,744

— 7,361

1,827,302 1,590,542

$2,284,167 $2,144,754

Weighted average remaining_lease term:
Operating leases 6.6 years 7.0 years

Operating leases - discontinued operations 0.8 years 1.6 years

Weighted average discount rate:
Operating leases 5.11% 5.03%

Operating leases - discontinued operations 4.96% 4.77%

The components of lease cost costs were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

6.1years 6.6 years
0.0years 0.8 years

5.67% 5.11%
0.00% 4.96%

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2023 2022
Operating lease costs $ 692,404 $ 656,130 $ 751,261 $692,404
Short-term lease costs 100,975 79,606 217,640 100,975
Lease costs - discontinued operations 40,021 31,281 45,979 40,021
Total lease costs $ 833400 $ 767,017  $1,014,880 $833,400

Supplemental cash flow information related to leases is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2023 2022
Cash paid for amounts included in measurement of liabilities:
Operating cash outflows for operating leases $ 742,696 $ 710,024 $760,847 $742,696
Operating cash outflows for operating leases - discontinued operations 9,590 38,246 11,337 9,590
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Future lease payments relating to the Company's operating lease liabilities from continuing operations as of December 31, 2022 December

31, 2023 are as follows:

Years ending December 31, Total Total
2023 $ 643,233

2024 390,630 $ 580,780
2025 268,056 462,990
2026 227,542 379,019
2027 229,416 336,597
2028 341,687
Thereafter 778,460 639,928

Total future lease payments

Less: imputed interest

2,537,337 2,741,001
(399,944)  (456,834)
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Total lease obligations
Less: current obligations

Noncurrent lease obligations

11. Income taxes

2,137,393
(546,851)

2,284,167
(456,865)

$ 1,590,542 $1,827,302

The components of income before income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021 2022 are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2023 2022
Foreign (not subject to income taxes) $ 6,958,583 5,780,692 $10,002,233 $6,958,583
Mexico (987,279) (1,767,915) (742,367)  (987,279)
United States 1,394,642 (2,952,265) 27,649,330 1,394,642
7,365,946 1,060,512 36,909,196 7,365,946

Less discontinued operations 2,371,049 2,574,079
Discontinued operations 1,086,744 2,371,049
$ 9,736,995 3,634,591 $37,995,940 $9,736,995

The Company’s provision (benefit) for (benefit from) income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and

2021, 2022, which related to U.S. operations, consists consisted of the following:

Year Ended December 31,

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2023 2022
Current:
Federal $ 430,116 $ 202,444 $5,611,360 $ 430,116
State (29,157) (895) 1,663,653 (29,157)
Foreign — — — —
Total 400,959 201,549
Total current income tax expense (benefit) 7,275,013 400,959
Deferred:
Federal (184,469) (524,733)  (276,070)  (184,469)
State 180,249 (124,798)  (248,929) 180,249
Foreign — — — —
Total (4,220) (649,531)
Total provision (benefit) $ 396,739 $  (447,982)
Total deferred income tax expense (benefit) (524,999) (4,220)
Total provision for (benefit from) income taxes $6,750,014 $ 396,739
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A reconciliation of the U.S. statutory federal tax rate to the effective rate for the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and
20212022 is as follows:

Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2023 2022

U.S. statutory federal rate 21.00 % 21.00 % 21.00 % 21.00 %
State taxes, net of federal effect 8.88 % 2.72% 2.88 % 8.88 %
Nontaxable foreign income (25.57)% (43.36)%
Research & development tax credit (1.92)% (7.39)%
Foreign rate differential (5.71)% (25.57)%
Research and development tax credit — % (1.92)%
Permanent items (0.70)% (6.26)% (0.32)% (0.70)%
Goodwill impairment — % 20.31 %
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets 2.38 % 0.65 %
Change in valuation allowance (0.08)% 2.38 %

4.07 o (12.33)9 17.77 o 4.07 o

The tax effects of significant items comprising the Company’s net long-term deferred tax liability as of December 31, 2022 December 31,
2023 and 2021 2022 were as follows:

December 31, December 31,
2022 2021 2023 2022
Continuing Operations
Deferred tax assets:
Research & development tax credits $ 58,069 $ 398,413
Loss carryforward 443,076 300,545
Accrued compensation 82,503 112,446
Research and development credit carryforwards $ — 3 58,069
Net operating loss carryforwards 130,911 443,076
Accruals and reserves 146,057 82,503
Operating lease liabilities 412,840 469,398 501,397 412,840
Capitalized research expenditures 326,178 —
Others 29,094 —
Valuation allowances (29,036) (139,207) — (29,036)
967,452 1,141,595 1,133,637 967,452
Deferred tax liabilities:
Property and equipment 293,195 254,301 325,473 293,195
Intangible assets 821,723 982,422 847,450 821,723
Operating lease right-of-use assets 412,840 469,398 491,494 412,840
1,527,758 1,706,121 1,664,417 1,527,758
Net deferred tax liability $ 560,306 $ 564,526
Net deferred tax liabilities $ (530,780) $ (560,306)
Discontinued Operations
Deferred tax assets:
Operating loss carryforwards - Mexico $ 5378177 $ 4,230,398 $ 5,844,847 $ 5,378,177
Land basis difference - Mexico 2,163,681 1,602,470 2,818,663 2,163,681
Start-up costs - Mexico 4,274,858 4,693,395 7,015,484 4,274,858
Valuation allowances (11,816,716) (10,526,263) (15,678,994) (11,816,716)
$ — 3 — 3 — 3 =
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As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, continuing operations has a federal net loss carryforward of $1.7 million $0.6 million and a
state net loss carryforward of $1.6 million $0.3 million, both of which have an indefinite expiration date. Discontinued operations has a net
loss carryforward of $17.9 million $19.5 million that will begin to expire, if unused, in various amounts between 20232024 and 2032. The
unused research & development tax credit carryforwards from continuing operations of $58,069 as of December 31, 2022 have an indefinite

expiration date. 2033.
12. Earnings per share

Earnings per share (“EPS”) is computed on a basic and diluted basis. Basic EPS is computed by dividing net income (loss) (less preferred
stock dividends) available to common stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. The

computation of diluted EPS assumes the issuance of common shares for all potential
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common shares outstanding during the reporting period and, if dilutive, the effect of stock options as computed under the treasury stock

method.

The following summarizes information related to the computation of basic and diluted EPS:

Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2023 2022
Net income from continuing operations attributable to Consolidated Water
Co. Ltd. stockholders $ 8,227,343 $ 3,449,658 $30,672,135 $ 8,227,343
Less: preferred stock dividends (11,532) (10,796) (15,513) (11,532)
Net income from continuing operations available to common shares in the
determination of basic earnings per common share 8,215,811 3,438,862 30,656,622 8,215,811
Total loss from discontinued operations (2,371,049) (2,574,079)
Loss from discontinued operations (1,086,744)  (2,371,049)
Net income available to common shares in the determination of basic
earnings per common share $ 5844762 $ 864,783 $29,569,878 $ 5,844,762
Weighted average number of common shares in the determination of basic
earnings per common share attributable to Consolidated Water Co. Ltd.
common stockholders 15,290,509 15,213,816 15,739,056 15,290,509
Plus:
Weighted average number of preferred shares outstanding during the period 31,885 30,348 39,885 31,885
Potential dilutive effect of unexercised options and unvested stock grants 79,259 65,981 86,956 79,259
Weighted average number of shares used for determining diluted earnings
per common share attributable to Consolidated Water Co. Ltd. common
stockholders 15,401,653 15,310,145 15,865,897 15,401,653

13. Dividends

Interim dividends declared on Class A common stock and redeemable preferred stock for each quarter of the respective years ended
December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 20212022 were as follows:
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2022 2021 2023 2022

First Quarter $ 0.085 $ 0.085 $0.085 $0.085
Second Quarter 0.085 0.085 0.085 0.085
Third Quarter 0.085 0.085 0.095 0.085
Fourth Quarter 0.085 0.085 0.095 0.085

$ 034 $ 034 $ 036 $ 0.34

14. Segment information

The Company has four reportable segments: retail, bulk, services and manufacturing. The retail segment operates the water utility for the
Seven Mile Beach and West Bay areas of Grand Cayman Island pursuant to an exclusive license granted by the Cayman Islands
government. The bulk segment supplies potable water to government utilities in Grand Cayman and The Bahamas under long-term
contracts. The services segment designs, constructs and sells water infrastructure and provides management and operating services to third
parties. The manufacturing segment manufactures and services a wide range of custom and specialized water-related products applicable to
commercial, municipal and industrial water production, supply and treatment. Consistent with prior periods, the Company records all non-
direct general and administrative expenses in its retail business segment and does not allocate any of these non-direct expenses to its other

three business segments.

The accounting policies of the segments are consistent with those described in Note 2. The Company evaluates each segment's
performance based upon its income (or loss) from operations. All intercompany transactions are eliminated for segment presentation

purposes.
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The Company’s segments are strategic business units that are managed separately because each segment sells different products and/or

services, serves customers with distinctly different needs and generates different gross profit margins.

Year Ended December 31, 2022 Year Ended December 31, 2023
Retail Bulk Services Manufacturing Total Retail Bulk Services Manufacturing Tota
Revenue $25,954,013 $32,991,066 $28,835,428 $6,324,465 $94,104,972 $30,158,051 $34,595,058 $97,966,650 $17,491,474 $180,21:
Cost of
revenue 12,548,763 23,032,212 22,973,634 5,195,240 63,749,849 13,891,229 24,128,132 66,797,762 13,467,005 118,28

Gross profit 13,405,250 9,958,854 5,861,794 1,129,225 30,355,123 16,266,822 10,466,926 31,168,888 4,024,469 61,92
General and

administrative

expenses 14,552,866 1,570,732 3,461,294 1,485,342 21,070,234 16,905,010 1,737,264 4,271,808 1,838,284 24,75;
Gain (loss) on

asset

dispositions

and

impairments,

net (39,397) 5,607 23,717 (2,631) (12,704) (22,065) 12,720 = 2,233 {

Income (loss)

from
operations  $(1,187,013) $ 8,393,729 $ 2,424,217 $ (358,748) 9,272,185 $ (660,253) $ 8,742,382 $26,897,080 $ 2,188,418 37,16
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Other

income, net 464,810 82!
Income

before

income taxes 9,736,995 37,99!
Provision for

income taxes 396,739 6,75!
Net income

from

continuing

operations 9,340,256 31,24!
Income from

continuing

operations

attributable to

non-

controlling

interests 1,112,913 57
Net income

from

continuing

operations

attributable to

Consolidated

Water Co.
Ltd.
stockholders 8,227,343 30,67

Net loss from

discontinued

operations (2,371,049)

Loss from

discontinued

operations (2,08t
Net income -
attributable to

Consolidated

Water Co.
Ltd.
stockholders $ 5,856,294 $ 29,58!

Depreciation and amortization expenses for the year ended December 31, 2023 for the retail, bulk, services and manufacturing segments
were $2,484,845, $3,032,902, $785,347 and $273,360, respectively.

As of December 31, 2023

Retail Bulk Services Manufacturing Total
Accounts receivable, net $ 3,425,948 $ 26,965,126 $ 6,802,780 $ 1,033,037 $ 38,226,891
Inventory, current and non-current $ 3,041,460 $ 4,858,324 $ 55,272 $ 3,135357 $ 11,090,413
Contract assets $ — 3 — $ 17,715872 $ 3,837,185 $ 21,553,057
Property, plant and equipment, net $ 32,809,487 $ 20,370,056 $ 1,143,884 $ 1,559,094 $ 55,882,521
Construction in progress $ 380,436 $ — 3 — $ 115,035 $ 495,471
Intangibles, net $ — $ — $ 2,692,074 $ 661,111 $ 3,353,185
Goodwill $ 1,170,511 $ 1,948,875 $ 7,756,807 $ 1,985211 $ 12,861,404
Total segment assets $ 58,774,647 $ 63,956,725 $ 58,476,773 $ 15,888,642 $ 197,096,787
Assets of discontinued operations $ 21,340,805
Total assets $ 218,437,592
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Year Ended December 31, 2022

Retail Bulk Services Manufacturing Total

Revenue $ 25,954,013 $ 32,991,066 $ 28835428 $ 6,324,465 $ 94,104,972
Cost of revenue 12,548,763 23,032,212 22,973,634 5,195,240 63,749,849
Gross profit 13,405,250 9,958,854 5,861,794 1,129,225 30,355,123
General and administrative expenses 14,552,866 1,570,732 3,461,294 1,485,342 21,070,234
Gain (loss) on asset dispositions and impairments,

net (39,397) 5,607 23,717 (2,631) (12,704)
Income (loss) from operations $ (1,187,013) $ 8,393,729 $ 2424217 $  (358,748) 9,272,185
Other income, net 464,810
Income before income taxes 9,736,995
Provision for income taxes 396,739
Net income from continuing operations 9,340,256
Income from continuing operations attributable to

non-controlling interests 1,112,913
Net income from continuing operations attributable

to Consolidated Water Co. Ltd. stockholders 8,227,343
Loss from discontinued operations (2,371,049)
Net income attributable to Consolidated Water Co.

Ltd. stockholders $ 5,856,294

Depreciation and amortization expenses for the year ended December 31, 2022 for the retail, bulk, services and manufacturing segments
were $2,391,603, $2,836,794, $674,508 and $284,403, respectively.

As of December 31, 2022

Retail Bulk Services Manufacturing Total
Accounts receivable, net $ 2,953,927 $ 16,554,940 $ 5,838,721 $ 1,698,594 $ 27,046,182
Inventory, current and non-current $ 2,759,659 $ 4,037,684 $ — $ 3481486 $ 10,278,829
Property, plant and equipment, net $ 27,697,490 $ 22,510,658 $ 759,409 $ 1,561,988 $ 52,529,545
Construction in progress $ 3643889 $ — $ — $ 61,792 $ 3,705,681
Intangibles, net $ — $ — $ 2,064,444 $ 754,444 $ 2,818,888
Goodwill $ 1,170,511 $ 1,948875 $ 5320416 $ 1985211 $ 10,425,013
Total segment assets $ 65,853,789 $ 56,118,243 $ 36,319,078 $ 13,054,971 $ 171,346,081
Assets of discontinued operations $ 21,660,768
Total assets $ 193,006,849
Year Ended December 31, 2021
Retail Bulk Services Manufacturing Total
Revenue $ 22,104,953 $ 26,800,869 $ 13,884,857 $ 4,072,823 $ 66,863,502
Cost of revenue 11,060,937 17,759,272 10,707,243 3,828,859 43,356,311
Gross profit 11,044,016 9,041,597 3,177,614 243,964 23,507,191
General and administrative expenses 12,841,259 1,365,735 2,762,735 1,380,630 18,350,359
REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 89/133

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

Gain (loss) on asset dispositions and impairments,

net (246,851) 1,500 (485) (2,900,000) (3,145,836)
Income (loss) from operations $ (2,044,094) $ 7,677,362 $ 414,394 $ (4,036,666) 2,010,996
Other income, net 1,623,595
Income before income taxes 3,634,591
Benefit from income taxes (447,982)
Net income from continuing operations 4,082,573
Income from continuing operations attributable to

non-controlling interests 632,915
Net income from continuing operations attributable

to Consolidated Water Co. Ltd. stockholders 3,449,658
Net loss from discontinued operations (2,574,079)
Net income attributable to Consolidated Water Co.

Ltd. stockholders $ 875,579

As of December 31, 2022
Retail Bulk Services Manufacturing Total

Accounts receivable, net $ 2,953,927 $ 16,554,940 $ 5,838,721 $ 1,698594 $ 27,046,182
Inventory, current and non-current $ 2,759,659 $ 4,037,684 $ — $ 3481486 $ 10,278,829

Contract assets $ — $ — $ 1,249,069 $ 1,664,653 $ 2,913,722

Property, plant and equipment, net $ 27,697,490 $ 22,510,658 $ 759,409 $ 1,561,988 $ 52,529,545
Construction in progress $ 3,643,889 $ — $ — $ 61,792 $ 3,705,681
Intangibles, net $ — $ — $ 2,064,444 $ 754,444 % 2,818,888

Goodwill $ 1,170511 $ 1,948875 $ 5320416 $ 1,985211 $ 10,425,013

Total segment assets $ 65,853,789 $ 56,118,243 $ 36,319,078 $ 13,054,971 $ 171,346,081

Assets of discontinued operations $ 21,660,768

Total assets $ 193,006,849

Depreciation and amortization expenses for the year ended December 31, 2021 for the retail, bulk, services and manufacturing segments

were $2,517,407, $3,331,554, $782,882 and $289,390, respectively. Revenue earned by major geographic region was:

As of December 31, 2021

Retail Bulk Services Manufacturing Total
Accounts receivable, net $ 2601619 $ 21,682,951 $ 1,698,797 $ 1,365940 $ 27,349,307
Inventory, current and non-current $ 2,787,277 $ 3,860,808 $ — $ 589,757 $ 7,237,842
Property, plant and equipment, net $ 26,357,390 $ 24,476,936 $ 512,493 $ 1,599,720 $ 52,946,539
Construction in progress $ 617,334 $ 31,737 % — 8 61,792 $ 710,863
Intangibles, net $ — $ — $ 2553888 $ 847,778 $ 3,401,666
Goodwill $ 1,170,511 $ 1948875 $ 5,320,416 $ 1,985211 $ 10,425,013
Total segment assets $ 61,736,441 $ 68,723,405 $ 15,825,207 $ 7,749,877 $ 154,034,930
Assets of discontinued operations $ 22,319,927
Total assets $ 176,354,857

Year ended December 31,

2023 2022
Cayman Islands $ 41,728,340 $ 30,375,985
The Bahamas 31,221,633 29,943,615
United States 106,768,621 33,338,466
Revenue earned from management services agreement with OC-BVI 492,639 446,906
$ 180,211,233 $ 94,104,972
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Revenue earned by major geographic region were:

Year ended December 31,

2022 2021
Cayman Islands $ 30,375,985 $ 24,935,746
Bahamas 29,943,615 24,031,547
United States 33,338,466 17,489,851
Revenue earned from management services agreement with OC-BVI 446,906 406,358

$ 94,104,972 $ 66,863,502

Revenue earned from major customers were: was:

Year ended December 31, Year ended December 31,

2022 2021 2023 2022
Revenue earned from the WSC $ 29,943,615 $ 24,031,547 $31,221,633 $29,943,615
Percentage of consolidated revenue earned from the WSC 32% 36% 17% 32%
Revenue earned from one service segment customer $ 11,805,752 $ — $64,149,170 $11,805,752
Percentage of consolidated revenue earned from the one service segment
customer 13% 0% 36% 13%
Property, plant and equipment, net by major geographic region were: was:

December 31, December 31,

2022 2021 2023 2022
Cayman Islands $ 28,068,156 $ 26,687,944 $32,902,949 $28,068,156
The Bahamas 22,031,690 24,004,707 20,039,049 22,031,690
United States 2,429,699 2,253,888 2,940,523 2,429,699

$ 52529545 $ 52,946,539 $55,882,521 $52,529,545

15. Cost of revenue and general and administrative expenses

Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2023 2022
Cost of revenue consist of:
Subcontractor and other project costs $ 16,717,422 $ 5,853,617 $ 64,806,072 $17,847,124
Employee costs 14,036,117 12,439,042 18,935,014 14,036,117
Electricity 9,502,666 6,975,129
Fuel oil 10,203,690 5,742,056 9,024,836 10,203,690
Electricity 6,975,129 5,698,148
Depreciation 5,261,463 5,855,073 5,632,998 5,261,463
Maintenance 2,786,258 2,092,776 2,992,872 2,786,258
Insurance 1,782,333 1,625,862 2,061,497 1,782,333
Retail license royalties 1,590,250 1,418,820 1,842,924 1,590,250
Cost of plant sales 1,129,702 24,757
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Other 3,267,485 2,606,160 3,485,249 3,267,485
$ 63,749,849 $ 43,356,311 $118,284,128 $63,749,849

Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2023 2022
General and administrative expenses consist of:
Employee costs $ 11,209,635 $ 9,562,125 $ 13,690,152 $11,209,635
Professional fees 2,012,092 1,760,279
Insurance 2,067,625 1,813,026 1,903,856 2,067,625
Professional fees 1,760,279 1,611,616
Directors’ fees and expenses 991,592 851,775 980,759 991,592
Office rent 793,380 735,737 882,686 793,380
Amortization of intangible assets 582,778 746,667 574,093 582,778
Investor relations 534,979 354,158
Business development expenses 578,086 395,660
Provision for credit losses 408,489 —
Computer supplies, software licenses 387,335 322,310
Bank charges 341,263 490,237
Depreciation 163,714 140,140 190,010 163,714
Other 3,501,231 2,889,273 2,268,566 1,938,866

$ 21,070,234 $ 18,350,359 $ 24,752,366 $21,070,234
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16. Stock-based compensation
The Company has the following stock compensation plans that form part of its employees’ and Directors’ remuneration:
Employee Share Incentive Plan (Preferred Stock)

Employees (i.e., other than Directors and Officers), after four consecutive years of employment, become eligible to receive shares of the
Company'’s preferred stock for $nil consideration under the Company’s Employee Share Incentive Plan. Once an individual becomes eligible
for this plan, they are awarded shares of preferred stock in the month of June following their date of eligibility for the plan (the “grant date”)
and in June of each subsequent year of the individual's employment for as long as the individual remains employed with the Company. If the
employee remains with the Company through the fourth anniversary of a grant date, the preferred stock can be converted into shares of the
Company’s common stock on a one for one basis. In addition, at the time the preferred stock is granted, the employee receives options to
purchase an equal number of shares of preferred stock at a discount to the average trading price of the Company’s common stock for the
first seven days of the October immediately preceding the date of the preferred stock grant. If these options are exercised, the shares of
preferred stock obtained may also be converted to shares of common stock if the employee remains with the Company through the fourth
anniversary of a grant date. Each employee’s option to purchase shares of preferred stock must be exercised within 30 days of the grant
date, which is the 90th day after the date of the independent registered public accountants’ audit opinion on the Company’'s consolidated
financial statements. Shares of preferred stock not subsequently converted to shares of common stock are redeemable only at the discretion

of the Company. Shares of preferred stock granted under this plan during the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and
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20212022 totaled 9,295 13,309 and 8,632,9,295, respectively, and an equal number of preferred stock options were granted in each of
these years.

Employee Share Option Plan (Common Stock Options)

The Company has an employee stock option plan for four long-serving employees of the Company. Under the plan, these employees are
granted in each calendar year, as long as the employee is a participant in the Employee Share Incentive Plan, options to purchase common
shares. The price at which the option may be exercised is the closing market price on the grant date, which is the 40th day after the date of
the Company’s Annual Shareholder Meeting. The number of options each employee is granted is equal to five times the sum of (i) the
number of shares of preferred stock that employee receives for $nil consideration and (ii) the number of preferred stock options that
employee exercises in that given year. Options may be exercised during the period commencing on the fourth anniversary of the grant date
and ending on the 30th day after the fourth anniversary of the grant date. Options granted under this plan during the years ended December
31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021 2022 totaled 3,665 3,010 and 3,400, 3,665, respectively.

The fair value of each option award is estimated on the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model that uses the assumptions
noted in the table below. Expected volatilities are based on historical volatilities of the Company’s common stock. The expected term of
options granted is based on historical data and represents the period of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding. The
Company uses historical data to estimate stock option exercises and forfeitures within its valuation model. The risk-free interest rate for the

expected term of the option is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of the grant.
2008 Equity Incentive Plan

On May 14, 2008, the Company’s stockholders approved the 2008 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2008 Plan”) and reserved 1,500,000 shares of
the Company’s Class A common shares for issuance under this plan. All Directors, executives and key employees of the Company or its
affiliates are eligible for participation in the 2008 Plan which provides for the issuance of options, restricted stock and stock equivalents at the

discretion of the Board.

The Company measures and recognizes compensation expense at fair value for all share-based payments, including stock options. Stock-
based compensation for the Employee Share Incentive Plan, Employee Share Option Plan and the 2008 Equity Incentive Plan totaled
$386,260 $703,289 and $137,215 $386,260 for the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021, 2022, respectively, and is
included in general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of income.
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The significant weighted average assumptions for the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021 2022 were as follows:

2022 2021 2023 2022
Risk free interest rate 1.64 % 020% 5.06% 1.64%
Expected option life (years) 1.2 12 1.0 1.2
Expected volatility 47.15 % 31.92% 42.42% 47.15%
Expected dividend yield 2.35% 287% 160% 235%

A summary of the Company’s stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 is as follows:

Weighted Weighted
Weighted Average Weighted Average
Average Remaining Aggregate Average  Remaining Aggregate
Exercise  Contractual Intrinsic Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
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Options Price Life (Years) Value (1) Options Price Life (Years) Value (1)

Outstanding at beginning of period 10,490 $ 12.98 11,740 $ 13.59

Granted 12,960 10.47 16,319 13.62

Exercised (3,064) 8.73 (8,231) 12.12

Forfeited/expired (8,646) 9.89 (7,653) 11.28

Outstanding as of December 31, 2022 11,740 $ 13.59 2.37 years $ 14,534

Exercisable as of December 31, 2022 — 3 = — years $ =

Outstanding as of December 31, 2023 12,175 $16.08 2.29 years $237,705
Exercisable as of December 31, 2023 — $ — — years $ —

(1) The intrinsic value of a stock option represents the amount by which the fair value of the underlying stock, measured by reference to the
closing price of the common shares of $14.80 $35.60 on the Nasdaq Global Select Market on December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023,
exceeds the exercise price of the option.

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, 11,74012,175 non-vested options were outstanding, with weighted average exercise price of
$13.59, $16.08, and average remaining contractual life of 2.372.29 years. The total remaining unrecognized compensation costs related to
unvested stock-based arrangements were $23,609$14,867 as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and are expected to be
recognized over a weighted average period of 2.37 2.29 years.

The following table summarizes the weighted average fair value of options at the date of grant and the intrinsic value of options exercised
during the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021: 2022:

2022 2021 2023 2022
Options granted with an exercise price below market price on the date of grant:

Employees — preferred stock $ 558 $ 371 $ 1221 $ 558
Overall weighted average 5.58 3.71 12.21 5.58
Options granted with an exercise price at market price on the date of grant:

Management employees $ — 3 — 3 — 8 =
Employees — common stock 4.32 2.89 8.29 4.32
Overall weighted average 4.32 2.89 8.29 4.32
Options granted with an exercise price above market price on the date of grant:

Management employees $ — 3 — 3 — 8 =
Employees — preferred stock — — — —
Overall weighted average — — — —
Total intrinsic value of options exercised $ 17,158 $ 7,876 $104,559 $17,158
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Senior Management Long-Term Incentive Compensation

The Board of Directors has established the long-term incentive compensation for the Company’s senior management to better align the
interests of its senior management with those of its shareholders. The long-term compensation plan includes a combination of performance
and non-performance-based grants of common stock from the shares of Company stock provided for issuance under the 2008 Equity
Incentive Plan.
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The non-performance-based stock grant rights, which are issued on January 1 of each year, vest in one-third increments at the end of
each year over a three-year period. The number of non-performance-based stock grant rights issued on January 1, 2022 January 3, 2023
and 20212022 were 32,265 29,508 and 26,403, 32,265, respectively. These stock grant rights vest in one-third increments over the three-
year periods ending December 31, 2024 December 31, 2025 and 2023, 2024, respectively. The total number of vested shares issued under
prior years’ non-performance stock grant rights totaled 23,411 25,986 and 25,789 23,411 in the years ended December 31, 2022 December
31, 2023 and 2021,2022, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021,2022, the Company
recognized $325,270$366,058 and $306,250 $325,270 in stock-based compensation expense, respectively, related to the incremental
vesting of the non-performance stock grant rights.

The performance-based grants may be earned at the end of each year based upon the Company's three-year cumulative financial
performance relative to three-year cumulative financial performance targets. The Company recognized $335,964%$522,925 and
$214,675 $335,964 in stock-based compensation for the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021, 2022, respectively,
related to these grants.

A total of 26,742 stock grant rights were earned as of December 31, 2023 based upon the Company’s actual financial performance relative to
the cumulative financial performance targets for the three-year period ended December 31, 2023 The shares associated with these grants
will be issued in 2024.

A total of 13,797 stock grant rights were earned as of December 31, 2022 based upon the Company’s actual financial performance relative to
the cumulative financial performance targets for the three-year period ended December 31, 2022 The shares associated with these grants
will be issued in 2023.

A total of 18,419 stock grant rights were earned as of December 31, 2021 based upon the Company’s actual financial performance relative to
the cumulative financial performance targets for the three-year period ended December 31, 2021 December 31, 2022. The shares associated
with these grants were issued in 2022.2023.

Non-Executive Directors’ Share Plan

This stock grant plan provides part of the Directors’ remuneration. Under this plan, non-Executive Directors receive a combination of cash
and common stock for their participation in Board meetings. The number of shares of common stock granted is calculated based upon the
market price of the Company’s common stock on October 1 of the year preceding the grant. Common stock granted under this plan during
the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021 2022 totaled 30,767 22,831 and 30,911 30,767 shares, respectively. The
Company recognized stock-based compensation for these share grants of $369,678 $341,394 and $319,002 $369,678 for the years ended
December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021, 2022, respectively.

17. Retirement benefits

Retirement plans are offered to all employees in California, Florida, Colorado, the Cayman Islands and The Bahamas. The plans are
administered by third parties and are defined contribution plans pursuant to which the Company matches participating employees’
contributions up to certain amounts. The Company matches contributions of up to 5% of a maximum salary amount of $104,400 for Cayman
Islands employees, fully matches all contributions made by employees in The Bahamas, and matches contributions of up to 6% of salary for
Florida employees. For California employees, the Company matches contribution amounts up to 2% of the employee's salary and matches
25% of contributions above this 2% threshold, up to 10% of the employee’s salary. The Company's expense for these plans was
$624,798%$771,616 and $584,278$624,798 for the years ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021, respectively.2022,
respectively.

18. Financial instruments
Credit risk:

The Company is not exposed to significant credit risk on its retail customer accounts as its policy is to cease supply of water to customers’

accounts that are more than 45 days overdue. The Company’s exposure to credit risk is concentrated
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on receivables from its bulk water, services, and manufacturing customers. The Company considers these receivables fully collectible and

therefore has not recorded an a material allowance for these receivables.
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Interest rate risk:
The Company is not subject to significant interest rate risk arising from fluctuations in interest rates.
Foreign exchange risk:

All relevant foreign currencies other than the Mexican peso and the euro have been fixed to the dollar for more than 20 years and as a result,
the Company does not employ a hedging strategy against exchange rate risk associated with the reporting in dollars. If any of these fixed
exchange rates becomes a floating exchange rate or if any of the foreign currencies in which the Company conducts business depreciate

significantly against the dollar, the Company’s consolidated results of operations could be adversely affected.
Fair values:

As of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021,2022, the carrying amounts of cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts
payable, accrued expenses, accrued compensation, dividends payable and other current liabilities approximate their fair values due to the

short-term maturities of these instruments.

Under US GAAP, fair value is defined as the exit price, or the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants as of the measurement date. US GAAP guidance also establishes a hierarchy for inputs
used in measuring fair value that maximizes the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that the
most observable inputs be used when available. Observable inputs are inputs market participants would use in valuing the asset or liability
and are developed based on market data obtained from sources independent of the Company. Unobservable inputs are inputs that reflect
the Company’s assumptions about the factors market participants would use in valuing the asset or liability. The guidance establishes three
levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value:

Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 - Inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar assets or
liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable

market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the
assets or liabilities.

Assets and liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurements. The
Company reviews its fair value hierarchy classifications on a quarterly basis. Changes in the observability of valuation inputs may result in a

reclassification of levels for certain securities within the fair value hierarchy.
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The following table presents December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company’s fair value hierarchy for Company does not have assets and
liabilities measured at fair value as of December 31, 2022 and 2021:

December 31, 2022

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets:
Recurring
Certificate of deposit $ — % — % — 3 [ |

Net asset arising from put/call options || || [ | [ |

December 31, 2021

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets:
Recurring
Certificate of deposit $ — $2,500,000 $ — $2,500,000
Net asset arising from put/call options — — 128,000 128,000

The activity forto present in the Level 3 asset for the year ended December 31, 2022:

Net asset arising from put/call options

Balance as of December 31, 2021 $ 128,000
Exercise of option (128,000)

Balance as of December 31, 2022 $ =

The put/call options are reported at fair value at their net asset or liability balance in the consolidated balance sheets. The underlying asset
and liability fair values are calculated using discounted cash flow analysis valuation techniques that incorporate unobservable inputs, such as
future cash flows, weighted-average cost of capital, and expected future volatility. The inputs to these valuations are considered Level 3
inputs. hierarchy.

19. Commitments and contingencies
Commitments

The Company has entered into employment agreements with certain executives, which expire through December 31, 2025 December 31,
2026 and provide for, among other things, base annual salaries in an aggregate amount of approximately $4.2 million$5.5 million,

performance bonuses and various employee benefits.

The Company has purchase obligations totaling approximately $41.7 million $16.6 million through December 31, 2023 December 31, 2024.
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Contingencies
Cayman Water

The Company sells water through its Cayman Water retail operations under a license issued in July 1990 by the Cayman Islands
government (the “1990 license”) that granted Cayman Water the exclusive right to provide potable water to customers within its licensed
service area. Although the 1990 license was has not been expressly extended after January 2018, the Company continues to supply water
under the terms of the 1990 license, as further discussed in the following paragraphs. paragraph. Pursuant to the 1990 license, Cayman
Water has the exclusive right to produce potable water and distribute it by pipeline to its licensed service area, which consists of two of the
three most populated areas of Grand Cayman Island: Seven Mile Beach and West Bay. In 20222023 and 2021,2022, the Company
generated approximately 27% 17% and 33% 27%, respectively, of its consolidated revenue and 44% 26% and 47% 44%, respectively, of its
consolidated gross profit from the retail water operations conducted under the 1990 license.
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The 1990 license was originally scheduled to expire in July 2010 but was extended several times by the Cayman Islands government in
order to provide the parties with additional time to negotiate the terms of a new license agreement. The most recent express extension of the
1990 license expired on January 31, 2018. The Company continues to operate under the terms of the 1990 license, providing water services
to the level and quality specified in the 1990 license and in accordance with its understanding of its legal obligations, treating those
obligations set forth in the 1990 license as operative notwithstanding the expiration of the express extension. The Company continues to pay

the royalty of 7.5% of the revenue itthat Cayman Water collects as required under the 1990 license.

In October 2016, the Government of the Cayman Islands passed legislation which created a new utilities regulation and competition office
(“OfReg”). OfReg is an independent and accountable regulatory body with a view of protecting the rights of consumers, encouraging
affordable utility services and promoting competition. OfReg, which began operations in January 2017, has the ability to supervise, monitor
and regulate multiple utility undertakings and markets. Supplemental legislation was passed by the Government of the Cayman Islands in
April 2017, which transferred responsibility for the economic regulation of the water utility sector and the negotiations with the Company for a
new retail license from the WAC to OfReg in May 2017. The Company began license negotiations with OfReg in July 2017 and such
negotiations are ongoing. The Company has been informed during its retail license negotiations, both by OfReg and its predecessor in these
negotiations, that the Cayman Islands government seeks to restructure the terms of its license in a manner that could significantly reduce the

operating income and cash flows the Company has historically generated from its retail license.

The Company is presently unable to determine what impact the resolution of its retail license negotiations will have on its consolidated
financial condition or results of operations but such resolution could result in a material reduction (or the loss) of the operating income and
cash flows the Company has historically generated from Cayman Water’s retail operations and could require the Company to record
impairment losses to reduce the carrying values of its retail segment assets. Such impairment losses could have a material adverse impact

on the Company'’s consolidated financial condition and results of operations.
CW-Bahamas

CW-Bahamas' accounts receivable balances (which include accrued interest) due from the WSC amounted to $16.3 million $26.9 million and
$21.5 million $16.3 million as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021.2022. Approximately 80% and 65% of the accounts
receivable balances were delinquent as of those dates, respectively.

From time to time (including presently), CW-Bahamas has experienced delays in collecting its accounts receivable from the WSC. When
these delays occur, the Company holds discussions and meetings with representatives of the WSC and The Bahamas government, and as a
result, payment schedules are developed for WSC's delinquent accounts receivable. All previous delinquent accounts receivable from the

WSC, including accrued interest thereon, were eventually paid in full. Based upon this payment history, CW-Bahamas has never been
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required to provide an not provided for a material allowance for doubtful accounts credit losses for any of its accounts receivable despite the
periodic accumulation of significant delinquent balances.
In February 2022, CW-Bahamas received correspondence from the Ministry WSC as of Finance December 31, 2023.
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CW-Bahamas held discussions with the Government of The Bahamas thatWSC in March 2024 during which the WSC stated that the
Government intends to return all of substantially reduce CW-Bahamas’ accounts receivable from the WSC to current status. over the course
of 2024.

In its latest a report dated October 6, 2022, Moody’s Investor Services (“Moody’s”) downgraded the Government of The Bahamas’ long-term
issuer and senior unsecured ratings to B1 from Ba3. Moody's also lowered The Bahamas'’ local currency ceiling to Baa3 from Baa2 and its
foreign currency ceiling to Bal from Baa3. Based upon its review of this Moody's report, the Company continues to believe no allowance for
doubtful accounts is required for CW-Bahamas’' accounts receivable from the WSC. iterated these ratings in April and October 2023, noting
that such ratings are “stable.”
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If CW-Bahamas continues to beis unable to collect a significant sufficient portion of its delinquent accounts receivable, one or more of the
following events may occur: (i) CW-Bahamas may not have sufficient liquidity to meet its obligations; (ii) the Company may be required to
cease the recognition of revenue on CW-Bahamas’' water supply agreements with the WSC; and (jii) the Company may be required to
provide an additional allowance for doubtful accounts credit losses for CW-Bahamas’ accounts receivable. Any of these events could have a

material adverse impact on the Company’s consolidated financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.

20. Related party transactions

The Company, through PERC, and the services segment, purchases purchased engineering and technology support services from various
companies formerly affiliated with PERC, as a minority shareholder who isin these companies was also a minority shareholder of PERC. On
January 4, 2023, as a result of CW-Holdings' exercise of a call option in October 2022, CW-Holdings purchased the remaining 39%
ownership interest in PERC. After giving effect to this purchase, CW-Holdings owns 100% of the outstanding capital stock of PERC and,
consequently, transactions with the formerly affiliated companies no longer constitute related party transactions. During the years year ended
December 31, 2022 and 2021,, the Company made total purchases of services of approximately $2,695,000 and $438,000 from these
companies respectively. of approximately $2,695,000. These total purchases are included in the Company’s cost of revenue in the

accompanying consolidated statements of income. income.

PERC has entered into a lease sublease agreement with one of these related formerly affiliated companies that commenced on March 14,
2021 and ended August 31, 2021. This lease has beenwas extended on a month-to-month basis subsequent to August 31, 2021. During the
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yearsyear ended December 31, 2022 and 2021,, the Company recognized approximately $97,000 and $77,000 of expense related to this
lease, respectively.lease. This lease expense is included in the Company's general and administrative expenses in the accompanying

consolidated statements of income.

The total amount of accounts payable outstanding to these companies as of December 31, 2022 and 2021,, was approximately $404,000
and $164,000, respectively. $404,000.

21. Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information

Year Ended December 31, Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2023 2022
Interest paid in cash $ 14,797 $ 10,248 $ 21417 $ 14,797
Income taxes paid in cash $ 211,000 $ 160,000 $4,920912 $ 211,000
Non-cash transactions:
Issuance of 9,295 and 8,632, respectively, shares of redeemable preferred stock for
services rendered $ 133,197 $ 102,203
Issuance of 72,597 and 88,488, respectively, shares of common stock for services
rendered $ 521,016 $ 745,468
Conversion (on a one-to-one basis) of 6,585 and 11,522, respectively, shares of
redeemable preferred stock to common stock $ 3,951 $ 6,913
Issuance of 13,309 and 9,295, respectively, shares of redeemable preferred stock for services rendered $ 323275 $ 133,197
Issuance of 68,864 and 72,597, respectively, shares of common stock for services rendered $1,015,177 $ 877,298
Conversion (on a one-to-one basis) of 8,848 and 6,585, respectively, shares of redeemable preferred
stock to common stock $ 5309 $ 3,951
Dividends declared but not paid $ 1,305,367 $ 1,298,148 $1,502,506 $ 1,305,367
Issuance of 368,383 and 0, respectively, shares of common stock for the purchase of non-controlling
interest in PERC $5,359,973 $ —
Transfers from inventory to property, plant and equipment and construction in
progress $ 346,024 $ 189,924 $ 317,853 $ 346,024
Transfers from construction in progress to property, plant and equipment $ 297,723 $ 644,224 $7,093158 $ 297,723
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities $ — $ 1,852,608 $ 745078 $ —
Purchase of equipment through issuance of long-term debt $ 188645 $ 95,707 $ — $ 188,645
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None. Financial Accounting Standard Update (“ASU”) 2016-13, Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments, and related
amendments, introduces new guidance which makes substantive changes to the accounting for credit losses. This guidance introduces the
current expected credit losses (“CECL”") model which applies to financial assets subject to credit losses and measured at amortized cost, as
well as certain off-balance sheet credit exposures. The CECL model requires an entity to estimate credit losses expected over the life of an
exposure, considering information about historical events, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts and is generally
expected to result in earlier recognition of credit losses. The Company adopted this guidance as of January 1, 2023 using the modified

retrospective approach. The impact of this adoption was not material to the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Effect of newly issued but not yet effective accounting standards:

None.
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Table In November 2023, the Financial Accounting_Standards Board (“FASB”)_issued Accounting_Standards Update ("ASU") 2023-07,
Segment Reporting_(Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures. This ASU updates reportable segment disclosure

Decision Maker (“CODM") and included within each reported measure of a segment's profit or loss. This ASU also requires disclosure of the
title and position of the individual identified as the CODM and an explanation of how the CODM uses the reported measures of a segment’s
profit or loss in assessing segment performance and deciding how to allocate resources. The ASU is effective for annual periods beginning
after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. Early adoption is permitted. The
Company is currently evaluating the impact of this guidance.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures. The ASU requires
disaggregated information about a reporting entity’s effective tax rate reconciliation as well as additional information on income taxes paid.
The ASU is effective on a prospective basis for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024. Early adoption is permitted. The

Company is currently evaluating the impact of this guidance.

23. Subsequent events

The Company evaluated subsequent events through the time of the filing of its Annual Report on Form 10-K. Other than as disclosed in
these consolidated financial statements, the Company is not aware of any significant events that occurred subsequent to the balance sheet

date but prior to the filing of this report that would have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

On January 4, 2023, as a result of CW-Holdings' exercise of a call option in October 2022, CW-Holdings purchased the remaining 39%
ownership interest in PERC for $2.4 million in cash and 368,383 shares of the Company’s common stock. After giving effect to this purchase,
CW-Holdings owns 100% of the outstanding capital stock of PERC.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures are the Company’s controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required
to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms. Disclosure controls and
procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the
reports that we file under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer

and principal financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Our management recognizes that any
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controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can only provide reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives

and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the possible controls and procedures.

Our management has evaluated, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of the end of the
period covered by this report. Based upon that evaluation, our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial
officer, has concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this report, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were
effective at the reasonable assurance level.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
MANAGEMENT’'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
Company management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Internal control
over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer
and effected by the Company’s Board of Directors, management and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted

accounting principles in the United States of America and includes those policies and procedures that:

e pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the
assets of the Company;
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e provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America, and that receipts and expenditures of the
Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and Directors of the Company; and

e provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the
Company'’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risks that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022 December
31, 2023. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013).
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Based on our assessment, management has concluded that, as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, the Company’s internal

control over financial reporting was effective at the reasonable assurance level.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation of such internal

control that occurred during the Company’s last fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the

Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
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ITEM 9B. OTHERINFORMATION
None.
ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS
Not applicable.
PART Il
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Information required by this item with respect to our Directors and the nomination process is contained in the proxy statement for our
20232024 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be filed with the SEC (the “Proxy Statement”) under the heading “Proposal 1 - Election of

Directors” and is incorporated by reference in this Annual Report.

Information required by this item with respect to our Executive Officers is set forth in the Proxy Statement under the heading “Executive

Officers” and is incorporated by reference in this Annual Report.

Information required by this item with respect to our audit committee and our audit committee financial expert is contained in the Proxy
Statement under the heading “Proposal 1 - Election of Directors - Committees of the Board of Directors - Audit Committee” and is

incorporated by reference in this Annual Report.

To our knowledge, based solely on review of reports required by Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act and written representations from the
certain reporting persons, we believe that during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, our officers, directors and
significant shareholders have timely filed the appropriate form under Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act.

The Board of Directors has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (the “Code”) that applies to all of the Company’s Directors,
Officers (including the Principal Executive Officer, Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer) and employees. Information
related to the Code is contained in the Proxy Statement under the heading “Proposal 1 - Election of Directors - Governance of the Company”
and is incorporated by reference in this Annual Report.

We intend to disclose future amendments to certain provisions of the Code, or waivers of such provisions granted to Executive Officers and
Directors, on our website within four business days following the date of such amendment or waiver.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
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Information required by this item with respect to executive compensation and director compensation is contained in the Proxy Statement

under the heading “Executive Compensation” and is incorporated by reference in this Annual Report.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

Information required by this item with respect to security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management is contained in the Proxy

Statement under the heading “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Shareholders Matters” and is

incorporated by reference in this Annual Report.
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ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
Information required by this item with respect to such contractual relationships and director independence is contained in the Proxy
Statement under the headings “Executive Compensation - Transactions With Related Persons” and is incorporated by reference in this
Annual Report.
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES
Information with respect to principal accounting fees and services are contained in the Proxy Statement under the heading “Proposal 4
Ratification of the Selection of Independent Accountants - Principal Accounting Fees and Services” and is incorporated by reference in this
Annual Report.

PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

1. Financial Statements

The Consolidated Water Co. Ltd. Financial statements found in ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA are
incorporated herein by reference.

2. Financial Statement Schedules

None.

3. Exhibits

The Exhibits listed in the Exhibit Index immediately preceding the Signatures are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

CONSOLIDATED WATER CO. LTD.

INDEX TO EXHIBITS FILED WITH 10-K

Number Exhibit Description
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3.1

3.2

4.1%

10.1.1

10.1.2

Amended and Restated Memorandum of Association of Consolidated Water Co. Ltd. dated May 23, 2022 (incorporated by

Amended and Restated Articles of Association of Consolidated Water Co. Ltd. dated May 23, 2022 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.2 filed as part of our Form 8-K filed May 27, 2022, Commission File No. 0-25248)

Description of Securities

License Agreement dated July 11, 1990 between Cayman Water Company Limited and the Government of the Cayman
Islands (incorporated herein by reference to the exhibit filed as a part of our Form 20-F dated December 7, 1994,
Commission File No. 0-25248)

First Amendment to License Agreement dated September 18, 1990 between Cayman Water Company Limited and the

Government of the Cayman Islands. (incorporated herein by reference to the exhibit filed as a part of our Form 20-F dated
December 7, 1994, Commission File No. 0-25248)
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Number

Exhibit Description

10.1.3

10.1.4

10.1.5

10.1.6

10.1.7

10.1.8

10.1.9

Second Amendment to License Agreement dated February 14, 1991 between Cayman Water Company Limited and the
Government of the Cayman Islands. (incorporated herein by reference to the exhibit filed as a part of our Form 20-F dated
December 7, 1994, Commission File No. 0-25248)

Third Amendment to a License to Produce Potable Water dated August 15, 2001 between Consolidated Water Co. Ltd. by

the Government of the Cayman Islands (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 filed as a part of our Form 10-K for

Fourth Amendment to a License to Produce Potable Water dated February 1, 2003 between Consolidated Water Co. Ltd. by,

the Government of the Cayman Islands (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.5 filed as a part of our Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002, Commission File No. 0-25248)

Amendment to License Agreement dated July 20, 2010 between the Government of the Cayman Islands and Cayman Water

Commission File No. 0-25248)

Amendment to a License to Produce Potable Water dated July 11, 2012 between Cayman Water Company Limited and the

Water Company Limited (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed as a part of our Form 8-K filed March 4, 2013
Commission File No. 0-25248)

Amendment to License Agreement dated April 24, 2013 between the Government of the Cayman Islands and Cayman

year ended December 31, 2013, Commission File No. 0-25248)
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/928340/000114420412044065/v318394_ex10-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/928340/000114420413012735/v336971_ex10-1.htm
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10.1.10

10.1.11

10.1.12

10.1.13

10.1.14

10.2

Amendment to License Agreement dated November 6, 2013 between the Government of the Cayman Islands and Cayman

year ended December 31, 2013, Commission File No. 0-25248),

Amendment to License Agreement dated June 30, 2014 between the Government of the Cayman Islands and Cayman

Water Company._ Limited (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 8-K filed July 14,2014, Commission
Eile No. 0-25248)

Amendment to License Agreement dated January 20, 2015 between the Government of the Cayman Islands and Cayman

Water Company._Limited (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1.13 filed as a part of our Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2015, Commission File No. 0-25248)

Amendment to License Agreement dated April 11, 2016 between the Government of the Cayman Islands and Cayman

ended June 30, 2016, Commission File No. 0-25248)

Water Supply_Agreement dated December 18, 2000 between Consolidated Water Co. Ltd. and South Bimini International
Ltd. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.12 filed as a part of our Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December
31, 2000, Commission File No. 0-25248),
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Number

Exhibit Description

10.3.1*

10.3.2*

10.3.3*

10.4*

10.5.1*

Employment contract dated December 5, 2003 between Frederick McTaggart and Consolidated Water Co. Ltd.

(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.18 filed as a part of our Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31
2003, Commission File No. 0-25248)

Amendment of Engagement Agreement dated September 14, 2007 between Frederick W. McTaggart and Consolidated

Water Co. Ltd. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to our Form 8-K filed September 19, 2007, Commission File
No. 0-25248)

Third Amendment of Engagement Agreement dated September 9, 2009 between Frederick W. McTaggart and Consolidated

Water Co. Ltd. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 8-K filed September 10, 2009, Commission File
No. 0-25248)

Engagement Agreement dated January 15, 2008 between David Sasnett and Consolidated Water Co. Ltd. (incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed as part of our Form 8-K filed January 22, 2008, Commission File No. 0-25248)

Employment contract dated January 14, 2008 between Ramjeet Jerrybandan and Consolidated Water Co. Ltd. (incorporated

herein by reference to Exhibit 10.11 filed as part of our Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008,
Commission File No. 0-25248)
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/928340/000095014404003858/g88198exv10w18.txt
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/928340/000095014407008695/g09569exv10w2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/928340/000114420409047813/v160096_ex10-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/928340/000095014408000319/g11421exv10w1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/928340/000095014409002283/g18050exv10w11.htm

10.5.2*

10.5.3*

10.6

10.7*

10.8*

10.9*

10.1010.10*

10.11

10.1110.12

Eirst Amendment to Employment Contract dated March 29, 2017 between Ramjeet Jerrybandan and Consolidated Water
Co. Ltd. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 filed as part of our Form 8-K filed April 4,2017, April 4, 2017,
Commission File No. 0-25248)

Second Amendment of Engagement Agreement dated September 9, 2022 between Ramjeet Jerrybandan and Consolidated

Water Co. Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed as part of our Form 8-K filed September 13, 2022
Commission File No. 0-25248)

Specimen Service Agreement between Cayman Water Company Limited and consumers (incorporated herein by reference

to the exhibit filed as part of our Registration Statement on Form F-1 dated March 26, 1996)

Summary_Share Grant Plan for Directors (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.24 filed as part of our Registration
Statement on Form F-2 dated May 17, 2000, Commission File No. 333-35356)

Employee Share Option Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.26 filed as a part of our Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2001, Commission File No. 0-25248)

2008 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filled as part of our Form 10-Q_for the fiscal quarter

ended December 31, 2021, Commission File No. 0-25248)

Lease dated December 10, 2001 between Cayman Hotel and Golf Inc. and Consolidated Water Co. Ltd. (incorporated

herein by reference to Exhibit 10.52 filed as a part of our Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2001,
Commission File No. 0-25248)
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Exhibit Description

10.12.1110.13.1t Form of Agreement for Desalinated Water Supply_dated May 2005 among_Water and Sewerage Corporation,

Consolidated Water Co. Ltd. and Consolidated Water (Bahamas) Limited (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit
10.1 filed as a part of our Form 8-K filed February 4, 2011, File No. 0-25248)

79

Table of Contents

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

107/133

REFINITIV [<


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/928340/000114420417018862/v463387_ex10-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/928340/000155837022014384/cwco-20220909xex10d1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/928340/000095014400005337/0000950144-00-005337.txt
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/928340/000095014402003099/g75127ex10-26.txt
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/928340/000095014408008414/g16491exv10w1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/928340/000155837024000242/tmb-20240112xex4d3.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/928340/000155837022004635/cwco-20211231xex10d10.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/928340/000095014402003099/g75127ex10-52.txt
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/928340/000114420411006075/v210070_ex10-1.htm

Number

Exhibit Description

10.12.2110.13.2t

10.12.3110.13.3t

10.13.110.14.1

10.13.210.14.2

10.13.310.14.3

10.13.410.14.4

10.1410.15

10.1510.16

10.1610.17

10.18

10.1710.19

Letter of Acceptance dated January 25, 2011 (effective January 31, 2011) between Water and Sewerage Corporation

Eebruary 4, 2011, File No. 0-25248)

Proposal letter dated December 8, 2010 addressed to the Water and Sewerage Corporation (incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 filed as a part of our Form 8-K filed February 4, 2011, File No. 0-25248)

N.S.C. Agua S.A. de C.V. agreement for the purchase of 12 hectares of land dated May 16, 2013 (incorporated herein

by_reference to Exhibit 10.32.1 filed as a part of our Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013,
Commission File No. 0-25248)

Appendix to N.S.C. Agua S.A. de C.V. agreement for the purchase of 12 hectares of land dated May 16, 2013

31, 2013, Commission File No. 0-25248)

Exhibit Index to N.S.C. Agua S.A. de C.V. agreement for the purchase of 12 hectares of land dated May_ 16, 2013

(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.32.3 filed as a part of our Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December
31,2013, Commission File No. 0-25248)

Exhibits to N.S.C. Agua S.A. de C.V. agreement for the purchase of 12 hectares of land dated May 16, 2013

31, 2013, Commission File No. 0-25248)

Public-Private Partnership Contract dated August 22, 2016 among_Aguas de Rosarito S.A.P.I. de C.V., the State Water

Commission of Baja California,_the Government of Baja California represented by the Secretary of Planning_and

Einance, and the Public Utilities Commission of Tijuana. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to be filed as a

Letter dated June 29, 2020 from the Director General of the Comisién Estatal del Agua de Baja California to Aguas de

Rosarito, S.A.P.l. de C.V. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed as a part of our Form 8-K filed July 6,
2020, File No. 0-25248)

Procurement of and Operating_Agreement for a Sea Water Desalination Plant at Red Gate Water Works, Grand

(Cayman)_Ltd. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed as part of our Form 8-K filed September 20, 2022,
Commission File No. 0-25248)

Letter dated September 16, 2022 from Scotiabank & Trust (Cayman)_Ltd. to Cayman Water Company_Limited.

0-25248)
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/928340/000114420411006075/v210070_ex10-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/928340/000114420411006075/v210070_ex10-3.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/928340/000114420414016217/v370654_ex10-32x1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/928340/000114420414016217/v370654_ex10-32x2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/928340/000114420414016217/v370654_ex10-32x3.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/928340/000114420414016217/v370654_ex10-32x4.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/928340/000114420417054137/tv476946_ex10-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/928340/000110465920081259/tm2024078d1_ex10-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/928340/000155837022017766/cwco-20220930xex10d1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/928340/000155837022014505/cwco-20220916xex10d1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/928340/000155837022014505/cwco-20220916xex10d2.htm

Number

Exhibit Description

10.1810.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

19%*

21.1%

23.1*

31.1*

31.2%*

Stock Purchase Agreement dated January 4, 2023 among_Consolidated Water U.S. Holdings,_Inc. and the Sellers.

Commission File No. 0-25248),

Service Agreement for the Kalaeloa Seawater Desalination Facility Design, Build, Operate And Maintain Project Oahu,
Hawaii dated June 2, 2023 between Kalaeloa Desalco LLC and The Board of Water Supply_of the City and County of

County of Honolulu, Hawaii (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 filed as part of our Form 8-K filed June 6, 2023
Commission File No. 0-25248),

Stock Purchase Agreement dated November 2, 2023, but effective October 1, 2023 among_PERC Water Corporation and

7,.2023, Commission File No. 0-25248)

Insider Trading_and Disclosure of Non-Public Information Policy.

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Consent of Marcum LLP - Consolidated Water Co. Ltd.

Certification by the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification by the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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Number

Exhibit Description

32.1*

32.2%

97

101.INS**

101.SCH**

2002

Incentive Compensation Recoupment Policy

XBRL Instance Document - The instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are

embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/928340/000155837023014495/cwco-20230630xex10d1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/928340/000155837023010841/cwco-20230602xex10d1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/928340/000155837023010841/cwco-20230602xex10d2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/928340/000155837023017999/cwco-20231102xex10d1.htm

101.CAL** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase

101.DEF** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Document

101.LAB** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase
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Number Exhibit Description
101.PRE** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
104** Cover Page Interactive Data File - The cover page interactive data file does not appear in the Interactive Data File because

its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

* Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan.
** Filed herewith.

T Portions of these Exhibits have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

CONSOLIDATED WATER CO. LTD.

By: /s/ Wilmer F. Pergande

Wilmer F. Pergande

Chairman of the Board of Directors

Dated: March 30, 2023 March 27, 2024

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf
of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 110/133

©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies. <


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

March 30, 202327,
By: /s/ Wilmer F. Pergande Chairman of the Board of Directors 2024
Wilmer F. Pergande
March 30, 202327,
By: /s/ Frederick W. McTaggart Director, Chief Executive Officer and President 2024
Frederick W. McTaggart (Principal Executive Officer)
March 30, 202327,
By: /s/ David W. Sasnett Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer 2024
David W. Sasnett (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
March 30, 202327,
By: /s/ Linda Beidler-D’Aguilar Director 2024
Linda Beidler-D’Aguilar
March 30, 202327,
By: /s/ Brian E. Butler Director 2024
Brian E. Butler
March 30, 202327,
By: /s/ Carson K. Ebanks Director 2024
Carson K. Ebanks
March 30, 202327,
By: /s/ Clarence B. Flowers, Jr. Director 2024
Clarence B. Flowers, Jr.
March 30, 202327,
By: /s/ Leonard J. Sokolow Director 2024
Leonard J. Sokolow
March 30, 202327,
By: /s/ Raymond Whittaker Director 2024
Raymond Whittaker
8284
Exhibit 4.1

CONSOLIDATED WATER CO. LTD.
DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES

The following description of the terms of our securities is not complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to our Memorandum of Association, as

amended (the “Memorandum of Association”), and our Articles of Association, as amended (the “Articles of Association”), both of which are exhibits to our

Annual Reports on Form 10-K.

Under our Memorandum of Association and Articles of Association we are authorized to issue 25,000,000 shares of capital stock, consisting of 24,655,000

ordinary shares, par value CI1$0.50 (approximately US$0.60) per share, 145,000 Class B ordinary shares, par value CI$0.50 (approximately US$0.60) per
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share, and 200,000 redeemable preference shares, par value CI$0.50 (approximately US$0.60) per share.

The ordinary shares (common stock) are listed on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol “CWCO.” All outstanding ordinary shares are validly

issued, fully paid, and nonassessable.

Ordinary Shares

Voting Rights

Holders of ordinary shares may cast one vote for each share held of record at all shareholder meetings. All voting is non-cumulative. Holders of more than
50% of the outstanding shares present and voting at an annual meeting at which a quorum is present are able to elect all of our directors.

Dividends and Liquidation Rights

Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive ratably dividends, if any, distributed out of our accumulated profits. Subject to the preferential rights of
holders of the redeemable preference shares, upon liquidation, all holders of ordinary shares are entitled to participate pro rata in our assets which are
available for distribution.

Other Rights

Holders of ordinary shares do not have preemptive rights or rights to convert their ordinary shares into any other securities, and our common stock is not
subject to any redemption or sinking fund provisions.

Redeemable Preference Shares

Voting

Holders of redeemable preference shares may cast one vote for each share held of record at all shareholder meetings. All voting is on a non-cumulative
basis.

Dividends and Liquidation Rights

Upon the event of our liquidation, the redeemable preference shares rank in preference to the ordinary shares with respect to the repayment of the par value

of redeemable preference shares plus any premium paid or credited on the purchase of the shares.

Other Rights

Under our employee share incentive plan, we may redeem any redeemable preference shares issued to an employee under certain circumstances. The
ordinary shares and the redeemable preference shares rank equally in all other respects.

Class B Ordinary Shares
Special Rights

Holders of Class B ordinary shares are entitled to the same dividends paid on Class A ordinary shares and redeemable preference shares, and we cannot

pay a dividend on the Class A ordinary shares without paying the same dividend on the Class B ordinary shares, and vice versa.

We cannot redeem the Class B ordinary shares, and the holders of the Class B ordinary shares are not entitled to any repayments of capital upon our
dissolution.
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If we enter into a transaction in which Class A ordinary shares are exchanged for securities or other consideration of another company, then the Class B

ordinary shares will also be exchanged pursuant to a formula. The Class B ordinary shares and the Class A ordinary shares rank equally in all other

respects.
EXHIBIT 19
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INSIDERTRADINGPOLICYQUICKREFERENCE

OVERVIEW

This Insider Trading and Disclosure of Non-public Information Policy (the “Policy”) sets forth thegeneral
standards for all directors,officers,employees, agentsand representatives(collectively,“Affiliates”) of
Consolidated Water Co.Ltd.anditssubsidiaries(collectively,the“Company”)with respecttotrading, or causing
trading of,theCompany’ssecurities while in possession of Material Non-public Information (as defined herein).
Inaddition,thisPolicyimposes further compliance proceduresonthe Company’sdirectors,executive officers and
certainAffiliateswhohavebeennotifiedby theCompany’s ChiefFinancialOfficer(the “CFO”) as provided herein
below.

TheCFO will administerthelnsider TradingPolicy.

APPLICABILITYOF POLICY

ThisPolicyappliestoalltrading or other transactionsintheCompany’ssecurities,includingcommon
stock,optionsforcommonstockandany othersecuritiestheCompanymay issuefrom
timetotime.Theseothersecuritiesmay includepreferredorpreferencestock,warrants,

convertibledebenturesandderivativesecurities  relating totheCompany’sstock,whether ornot issued bythe
Company, such as exchange-traded options.

Any personwhohasMaterialNon-publicinformationregarding theCompanymaynot
purchaseorselltheCompany’ssecuritiesuntiltheinformationhasbeenfullydisclosed

tothegeneralpublicinaccordancewiththisPolicy.Inaddition,anypersonwhohas obtainedMaterialNon-
publicInformationaboutanothercompany obtained throughhisorher
employmentwiththeCompanymaynotpurchaseandsellsuchcompany’ssecurities  untiltheinformationhasbeenfully
disclosedtothegeneralpublic.“MaterialNon-public Information”and“fully

disclosedtothegeneralpublic’areeachdiscussedinfurther detail in this Policy.

Effective: November 17, 2021
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STATEMENT OF POLICY

GENERALPOLICY

YOU MAYNOTUSEMATERIALNON-PUBLICINFORMATION IN TRADING ANY SECURITY OF THE
COMPANY.

ANY NON-PUBLICINFORMATION, WHETHER ORNOTMATERIAL,
RELATINGTOTHECOMPANYISTHEPROPERTYOFTHECOMPANY. YOuU MAY NOTDISCLOSE
SUCHINFORMATIONACQUIREDUNDER ANY CIRCUMSTANCESUNLESS

SPECIFICALLYAUTHORIZEDBY THE CFO.

e TradingonMaterialNon-publicinformation.Whileyouareinthepossessionof MaterialNon-
publicinformation,youandmembersolyourimmediate family or householdmay
notpurchaseorselltheCompany’ssecurities(or,ifsuchinformation relatestoanother company,thesecuritiesof
suchother company).Thisincludesany offertopurchaseoroffertosell. Theperiodsoftimecovered by
thisprohibition includethedatethatyoufirstpossessMaterialNon-publicinformationandending at the close
ofbusinesson thesecondTrading Day(everydaythat the NASDAQ Global Select Market is openfortrading-
generally,everyday oftheyearotherthanSaturdays,Sundaysandfederalholidays(a“TradingDay"))
followingthedatetheinformationisfully disclosedtothegeneralpublicin accordancewith this Policy.

If youareinpossessionofMaterialNon-publicinformation, youmustforegoa proposed transaction:

e eventhough you planned to make the transaction before learning of the
Material Non-publiclnformation; and

e eventhoughyoumaylosemoneyorapotentialprofitbynotcompletingthe transaction.

e OtherTradingProhibitions.Youmaynot, at any time,writeanyoptions
(sellingputorcalloptions)ontheCompany’ssecuritiesorsellshort (sella securitynot owned by you)securities
ofthe Company.

Effective: November 17, 2021

e Tipping. Youare prohibited from disclosing (“tipping”) Material Non-public Informationtoany
otherperson(includingfamilymembers)wherethatinformation maybeused by thatpersonforhisorherprofitby
tradinginthesecuritiesof ~ companies(including  theCompany)towhichtheinformationrelates.Also,youmay
notmakerecommendationsorexpressopinionsconcerning trading intheCompany’s (or
anyothercompany’s)securities based onMaterial Non-publicinformation.
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e Confidentiality.Unauthorizeddisclosureofinternalinformationcouldcreateserious problemsfor the
Company,whetherornottheinformationwasdisclosedfor the purposeofconducting impropertrading
intheCompany’ssecurities.Youshouldnot discuss internal Company matters or developments with anyone
outside the Company,including throughtheuseofE-mailorthelnternet(including on-line bulletin boards and

chat rooms), except as required in theperformanceofyour regular job duties.

ThisprohibitionalsoappliestoinquiriesabouttheCompany fromthefinancialor
businesspress,investmentanalystsor othersinthe financialcommunity.Unlessyou areexpressly
authorizedotherwise,allthesecommunicationsonbehalfofthe Company

shouldbedirectedtoandhandledthroughtheChiefExecutiveOfficerof Consolidated WaterCo. Ltd. (the“CEQ”) or
CFO.Likewise, solicitationofthemediafor coverage ofcorporateissues,entitiesand/orpersonnelis the sole
responsibilityofthe CEO.

DEFINITIONS

“FullyDisclosed to theGeneral Public”

“Fully disclosedtothegeneralpublic’means information must have been disseminated in a manner designed
to reach investors generally, including filing the information in a Form 8-K or other periodic report with the
Securities and Exchange Commission or, in some instances, issuingapressreleaseto internationalwire
services.Aspeechtoanaudience,discussionswiththe pressor securitiesanalysts,a
TVorradioappearance,oranarticle inanobscure orindustry focusedmagazine does not
qualifyasfulldisclosure.Fullydisclosedto thegeneralpublic meansthatthesecuritiesmarketshavehadtheopportunity
todigestthenews.Generally, twoTrading Daysfollowing the filing of a Form 8-K or other periodic report and/or the
releasetointernationalwire serviceswillbe enoughtimefor the securities markets to digest thenews.

Ifyouare unsure whether informationhas been fully disclosed to the general public,you shouldconsultwith
theCEO orCFO.

Effective: November 17, 2021

4
MaterialNon-publicinformation
Itisnotpossibletodefine allcategoriesofMaterialNon-publicinformation.However,
informationshouldberegardedasmaterialifthereisareasonablelikelihoodthatit wouldbe

consideredimportanttoaninvestorinmakinganinvestmentdecisionregarding the purchaseor sale of securities.

Materiallnformation

Whileitissometimesdifficulttodeterminewhetherinformationismaterial,
variouscategoriesofinformationareparticularly sensitiveand,generally, should always beconsidered material.
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Examples of such information are provided below.

eFinancial results

eProjections of futureearnings or losses

e Significantacquisitionsoformergerswithotherentities,orsalesofsignificantassets or businesses
eSignificant newor modified contracts, projects, services or product announcements

eGain or loss, or changein status, of significantcustomers or contracts

e Stock splits

eNew equityor debt offerings

eSignificant exposure applicable to, or judicial decisions arising from,actual or threatened litigation
eSignificantgovernmentalregulatoryactivities

eChanges in senior management

eChanges in dividend policy

eSignificant pricing changes

eImpendingbankruptcyorfinancial liquidityproblems

EitherpositiveORnegativeinformationmaybematerial.ltcansometimesbedifficultto knowwhether information would
beconsidered “material."Thedeterminationof whetherinformationismaterialisalmostalwaysmadeafter
thefact,whentheeffectof thatinformationonthemarketcanbequantified.Althoughyoumayhaveinformation
abouttheCompany oranothercompany thatyoudonotconsidertobematerial,federal regulatorsandothersmay
conclude(withthebenefitofhindsight)thatsuchinformation ~ wasmaterial. Therefore,tradinginthe Company’sor
anothercompany’s securitieswhen youpossessNon-publicinformationaboutthem
canberisky.Whendoubtexists,the information should be presumed to bematerial.

Ifyouare unsure whether informationofwhichyouare aware ismaterial,you shouldconsultwith theCEO orCFO.

Effective: November 17, 2021

Non-publicinformation

Non-public information,whether material or not,isinformationthathasnotbeenfully disclosedtothegeneralpublic
andisotherwisenotavailabletothegeneralpublic. See “Fully Disclosed to theGeneral Public”above.

SelectiveDisclosureofMaterialNon-publicinformation

ItisaviolationofCompany policy todiscloseinany mannerany MaterialNon-public
InformationabouttheCompanytoanypersonexceptasfollows:(i)disclosuretoa
personwhohassignedanappropriateCompany approvedagreementtoholdsuch informationin  confidence;(ii)
disclosure to Companypersonnel who need the informationtoprovidegoodsandservicestotheCompany and who
agree in writing to the CFO to be bound by this Policy; (iii) disclosure totheCompany’slawyersoraccountantsifthe
informationdisclosed is related to a matteronwhichthey are involved;or(ivias approvedby
theCEOortheCFOoftheCompany.Allcommunicationswithsecurities
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analysts,anysecuritiesprofessionalsandrepresentativesoflargeshareholdersshallbe
madesolelybytheCompany’'sCEOandCFO,unlessotherwisespecificallyauthorized bythe CEO.

Ifyoushouldinadvertently selectively discloseanyMaterialNon-publicinformationto any person,Companypolicy
requiresthatsuchinadvertentdisclosurebereported immediately
totheCEOorthe CFO.Suchinadvertentdisclosuremay arisebecauseofa mistakenbeliefaboutthematerialityornon-
publicnatureofthedisclosedinformation, theidentity oftherecipientofsuchdisclosure,theapplicability
ofaconfidentiality agreementornumerousotherreasons.Thisisnecessary becauseapplicablelawmay
requiretheCompany topublicly disclosepromptly theinformationthathadbeen inadvertentlydisclosed.

ProhibitiononTradingCompany Securities—Black-Out Period

TheCFOhastheauthority,whenheorshedeemsitnecessary oradvisablebecauseof
developmentsknowntotheCompanyandnotyetdisclosedtothepublicorfor other
reasons,toprohibitallAffiliatesfromtradinginCompany securities,(the“Black-Out Period”). The Black-Out Period
may apply to the time, the Trading Window (as defined in this policy), when ordinarily trading in the Company’s
securities is permitted. The Black-Out Periodshall continue for aslongasthe CFOspecifies.Intheeventofa Black-
OutPeriod,Affiliatesmaynotengageinanytransactioninvolvingthepurchaseor
saleoftheCompany’ssecuritiesduringtheapplicableperiodandmaynotdiscloseto
othersthefactofsuchsuspensionoftrading. Tradingduring aBlack-OutPeriodisa violationofthisPolicy andmay
resultinseriousinternalandexternalconsequences, including
terminationofemploymentandciviland/orcriminalprosecution,finesand/or penalties. To ensure a Black-Out
Period is not in effect, any Affiliate planning to trade in the Company’s securities should notify the CFO
of their intention to do so prior to initiating any transactions.

Effective: November 17, 2021

CERTAIN EXCEPTIONS
Theonlyexceptions to this Policyare as follows:

a) Anyautomaticpayrolldeductions,pursuanttoacontributionelectionmadeby you while not in the possession
of Material Non-public Information, and Companymatchingcontributions to buyCompanycommon stock.

b) AwardpayoutsbytheCompanytoyou(ifapplicable)underanyequity-based compensation plans.

c) Automaticreinvestmentofdividends,pursuanttoanelectionmadebyyouwhile notinthe
possessionofMaterialNon-publicinformation,under the Shareholder Investment Plan.

d) Anytransaction specificallyapproved in writinginadvancebythe CFO.

e) Exercise ofstock options under equity-based compensation plans for cash or the delivery of previously
owned Company stock. However, the sale of any shares issued on the exercise of Company-granted
stock options and any cashless exercise of Company-granted stock options are subject to trading
restrictions under this Policy.
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Inall cases,DISCRETIONARYpurchasesor salesof theCompany's securitiesbyyou undertheCompany
plansdescribedabove,includinginter-fundtransfersof,andpayroll contributionincreasesanddecreasesto,arenot
consideredexemptions tothe Policy.

POTENTIAL CRIMINAL AND CIVIL LIABILITYAND/OR DISCIPLINARY ACTION

Asoutlinedbelow,thepenaltiesforinsidertrading,inadditiontothenegativeimpacton the Company'sreputation and
business success,arequitesevere.

Liability for Insider Trading

UnitedStatesFederallawprovidesthatyoumaybesubjecttocivilpenaltiesofupto
$5,000,000,additionalcriminalmoneypenaltiesandupto twenty (20) yearsinjailforengaging
intransactionsintheCompany’ssecuritiesat atimewhen youhaveknowledgeof Material Non-publicinformation
regardingthe Company.

Effective: November 17, 2021

Liability for Tipping

Youmayalsobeliableforimpropertransactionsbyany persontowhomyouhave disclosedMaterialNon-
publicInformationregardingtheCompany ortowhomyouhave made
recommendationsorexpressedopinionsonthebasisofthatinformationasto trading

intheCompany’ssecurities(“tipping”).The SEChasimposedlargepenaltieseven when the disclosingperson did
notprofitfinanciallyfrom the trading.

Possible Disciplinary Actions

IfyouviolatethisPolicy,youwillalsobesubjecttodisciplinary actionby theCompany,
whichmayincludeineligibilityforfutureparticipationintheCompany’sequity- based compensation plans
ortermination of employment.

INDIVIDUAL RESPONSIBILITYOF EACH AFFILIATE TO COMPLYWITH POLICY

Youhavetheindividualresponsibility tocomplywiththisPolicyagainstinsidertrading, regardlessofwhether
theCompany hasrecommendedaTradingWindowtoyouor
anyoneelse.Appropriatejudgmentshouldbeexercisedinconnectionwithany tradingin theCompany's
securities.TheCompany expectsstrictcompliancewiththeforegoing policies by
allpersonssubjecttothisPolicy.Failuretoobservetheguidelinesmay result
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inseriouslegaldifficultiesforyou,aswellastheCompany.A failure tofollowthe letter and spirit of thePolicywould be
consideredamatterof extreme seriousness.

THEFOLLOWING INFORMATIONDESCRIBESADDITIONAL RESTRICTIONSAND REQUIREMENTS THAT
APPLYONLY TO DIRECTORS,EXECUTIVEOFFICERSAND CERTAINAFFILIATESWHO HAVE BEEN
NOTIFIED BY THE CFO:

REPORTINGSHARE OWNERSHIPAND TRANSACTIONS;DISGORGEMENT OF
SHORT-SWING PROFITS

Introduction

AlIDirectors,ExecutiveOfficersandholdersofmore than10%oftheCompany’'sequity —securitiesmustreport tothe
United States Securities and ExchangeCommission(the
“SEC”)alloftheirholdingsofandtransactionsintheCompany’sequitysecuritiesand
mustdisgorgetotheCompanyanyprofitsrealizedfrombuyingandselling(orselling
andbuying)suchsecuritieswithinanysix-monthperiod. PursuanttoSection16ofthe
SecuritiesExchangeActof1934(the*1934Act”), any personwhobecomesaDirector, ExecutiveOfficeror holderof

Effective: November 17, 2021

morethan10%oftheCompany’sequity securitiesis requiredtofileareportofbeneficialownershipwiththe
SECandmust dosowhenever there isa change of beneficialownership. Alldelinquentfilingsmustbe disclosed
inthe Company’sannualgeneralmeeting proxy statement(withthedelinquentindividuals identified

byname),anddelinquent filings can trigger monetaryfinesforthelate filer.

Although the obligation to disclose beneficial ownership of the Company’s equity securities is on the person
required to make such disclosure and not the Company, the failure to timely file the appropriate form with the
SEC reflects poorly on the Company. Therefore, the Company will assist persons with the filing of the required
form.

Beneficial Ownership Statements

Threetypes of reports are required to be filed under Section 16(a) ofthe 1934 Act:

e Form 3: Initial Statement of Beneficial Ownership of Securities. This form indicates a person’s beneficial
ownership of equity securities of the Company (including derivatives securities) and must be filed by
persons who have not previously filed such a statement with the SEC. The requirement to file a Form 3
arises when a person becomes a Director or is appointed an Executive Officer or becomes a 10% equity
holder. Even if a Director or Executive Officer has no direct, indirect or beneficial interest in the
Company'’s equity securities, a Form 3 must be filed informing the SEC of the person’s relationship with
the Company. Form 3 statements must be filed within 10 days after the occurrence of the event which
necessitated the filing of the statement.
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e Form 4: Statement of Changes of Beneficial Ownership of Securities. Once a Form 3 has been filed for a
person, and as long as that person remains a Director, Executive Officer or 10% stockholder (and for up
to six months after a person ceases to be a Director or Executive Officer), a Form 4 must be filed
whenever any of the following takes place: (i) a change in the number of equity securities (including
derivative securities) beneficially owned or (ii) a change in the nature of beneficial ownership as
previously reported to the SEC. Form 4 statements must be filed within two (2) business days of the date
on which the event or transaction occurred which necessitated the filing.

e Form 5: Annual Statement of Beneficial Ownership of Securities. Form 5 must be filed for any person
who has been a Director, Executive Officer or 10% holder for any part of the Company’s fiscal year to
disclose: (i) acquisitions during any six-month period aggregating less than $10,000; (ii) all transactions
that should have been reported in the last fiscal year but were not; and (iii) all exempt transactions,
except in the case of (i), (ii) or (iii) as were reported on a Form 4. If required, a Form 5 must be filed
within 45days after the end of the Company’s fiscal year.

Effective: November 17, 2021

TRADING WINDOW AND ANNUAL CERTIFICATION
Thefollowingstandardsapplyonlyto:
e Directors;

e ExecutiveOfficers(thoseofficerswhoaresubjecttotheprovisionsofSection16of the 1934 Act - namelythe
reportingof beneficialownership onForms 3,4 and5 and prohibition on short-swingprofits); and

e certainAffiliatesoftheCompany whohavebeenseparately notifiedthatthese provisionsapply
tothem.Annually,orwhenothersignificanteventsoccur,the  Affiliatessubjecttothese  standards  willbe
reviewedandindividualswillbe addedor removedfromcoverageasnecessary.Youwillbenotifiedifthereisany
changein yourstatus. Notificationshallbeinwritingvialetterorelectroniccommunication with
evidenceofreceiptbythe notified party.

Trading Window

Certaintimesduringtheyearareparticularly sensitiveperiodsfortransactionsinthe Company’ssecurities.
Thissensitivityisdueto thefactthatDirectors,ExecutiveOfficers andcertainotherAffiliateswill,during thatperiod,often
haveknowledgeofMaterial Non-publicinformation about the expected financial results forthe quarter.

Toassistincomplyingwithinsidertradinglaws,theCompany utilizes a “Trading Window”, whichopens after the
closing of the Nasdag stock marketonthesecondTradingDayfollowing
thedateofpublicdisclosureoftheCompany’sfinancialresultsforaparticular fiscalquarteroryear,andclosesat
thecloseof the Nasdaq stock marketonthetwenty-first TradingDayfollowing thedatethe Company’s
financialresultsare disclosed. AllDirectorsandExecutiveOfficersoftheCompany andeachotherAffiliate identifiedby
theCFOmay notconducttransactionsinvolvingthepurchaseorsaleofthe
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Company’ssecurities(includingtheexerciseofstockoptions)otherthanduringthe Trading Window. Furthermore, the
ability to purchase or sell the Company’s securities within the Trading Window immediately ceases if
MaterialNon-publicinformation arises duringthe Trading Window.
ThepreferredperiodfortradingintheCompany’ssecurities isgenerally thefirsttentradingdaysofeach
TradingWindow, assuming Material Non-public Information has not arisen during that time.

You should inquire of the CFO if you are uncertain whenthe quarterly TradingWindowopensandcloses and,
regardless of the Trading Window, you should notify the CFO of your

Effective: November 17, 2021
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intention to trade in the Company’s securities prior to initiating any
transactions.Youwillbegivenwrittennotice via emailiftheCFOexerciseshisorherauthority — toclosetheTrading
Windowearly, by impositionofaBlack-OutPeriod.Ifatany timetheCFOclosesthe Trading
Windowearly,thisfactshouldnotbedisclosedtothepublic,andyouwillnotbe permitted to
maketradesduringsuchBlack-Out Period.

ThepurposeoftheTrading Windowistohelp establishadiligentefforttoavoid any violationof insider trading
laws.Youshould know,however, that even during the Trading Window,ifyouhaveknowledgeofMaterialNon-

publicinformationconcerning theCompany,youmay not initiate any
transactionsintheCompany’ssecuritiesuntilsuch

informationhasbeenfullydisclosedtothegeneralpublicforatleasttwo TradingDays, whether
ornottheCFOhasrecommendedasuspensionoftrading toyou.Tradingin the
Company’ssecuritiesduringtheTradingWindowshould notbeconsidereda“safe

harbor,”andyoushouldalways use good judgment.Inaddition,atransactionthat may benecessary
orseemijustifiableforindependentreasons(includinganeedtoraise
moneyforapersonalfinancialreason)isneitheranexceptiontothisPolicy nora safeguard againstprosecution for
violation of insider tradinglaws.

Annual Certification

Toensurecompliance withthis Policy,allDirectors andallExecutive Officers (and, if applicable,certain
otherAffiliates who havebeensonotifiedbytheCFO)arerequiredtocertify annuallythatthey havecompliedwiththis
Policyatalltimesfromthedatehereof(orsuchlessertimeasyouhavebeencovered under thePolicy). This certification
shall be obtained in connection with the completion by each Director and Executive Officer of the D&O
guestionnaire circulated for the purpose of preparing the Company’s annual proxy statement.

ADDITIONAL RESTRICTIONS
THEFOLLOWING INFORMATIONDESCRIBESADDITIONAL RESTRICTIONSANDREQUIREMENTSTHAT

APPLYONLYTO DIRECTORS ANDEXECUTIVE OFFICERS.

PRE-CLEARANCE OFTRADESANDPOST-TRADE NOTIFICATION
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The followingstandardsapplyonlyto:

eDirectors,

eExecutiveOfficers(thoseofficerswhoaresubjecttotheprovisionsofSection16of the1934

Effective: November 17, 2021
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Act - namely thereporting ofbeneficialownershiponForm3,4and5 and prohibition on short-swingprofits), and
e Spouses or other persons living in such Directors or Executive Officers’ household or to entities over which
such person exercises control.

Pre-ClearanceofTrades

DirectorsandExecutiveOfficersmay only tradeintheCompany’ssecuritieswhenthe Trading
Windowisopen(andassumingaBlack-OutPeriodhasnotbeenimposed),and thenonly
withthepriorapprovaloftheCompany’sCFO. Tradingsubjecttothepre-clearanceincludesany
purchaseorsalevoluntarilymadeby ordirectedbyyouunderthe Company'sbenefitplans.You must obtain pre-
clearance from the CFO via email to purchase or sell any of the Company’s securities or to exercise any
Company stock options. Normally,theCFOwillapprove,asconsistentwith thisPolicy,any
transactionthatcomplieswiththisPolicy — andapplicablesecuritieslaw and that occurs during anopen
TradingWindow.

The CFOmustadviseyouwithintwo  (2)  businessdaysof receiptofyourpre-clearance  requestwhether
suchrequestisapprovedordisapproved.The dateof receiptofthepre-clearancerequestby
theCFOisconsideredtobethefirstbusinessday.

Post-TradeNotification

DirectorsandExecutive Officers mustreporteachtransactioninsecuritiesof the Company totheCFO via email
withinone (1) businessdayofthetradedate.

Effective: November 17, 2021
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EXCEPTIONFOR TRADING PLANS

Notwithstanding therestrictionsandprohibitions ontradingintheCompany’ssecurities
setforthinthisPolicy,personssubjecttothisPolicyarepermittedtoeffecttransactions
intheCompany’ssecuritiespursuanttoapprovedtradingplansestablishedunderRule 10b5-
lundertheSecuritiesExchangeActof1934,including transactionsduringBlack-OutPeriods. Rule10b5-
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1requiresthatthesetransactionsbemadepursuanttoaplan thatwasestablished while the
personwasnotinpossessionof Material Non-public Information. Inordertocomply
withthisPolicy,theCFOmustreviewandapproveany such trading planpriorto its effectiveness pursuant to
thesametime frame and notificationrequirementsasrequiredforthepre-clearanceoftrades. Insidersseekingto
establishatradingplanshouldcontacttheCompany’sCFO. Rule10b5-1tradingplans
mayonlybeestablishedduringthetradingwindowperiodssetforthinthe“Trading Window"section ofthis
Policy.Ifatradingplan is approvedbytheCompany,it can only bemodified duringthe tradingwindow periods asset
forth herein.

INQUIRIES

PleasedirectyourquestionsastoanyofthemattersdiscussedinthisPolicytotheCFO orif theCFO is unavailable,
theCEO.

INSIDERTRADINGPOLICYQUICKREFERENCE

Coveredindividuals

AllAffiliates,regardlessofposition,aresubjecttothelnsiderTradingPolicy. The CFO will be responsible for monitoring
adherence to thelnsiderTradingPolicy.

Prohibition

Youmay nottradesecuritieswhileinthepossessionofMaterialNon-publicinformation, nor during aBlack-Out Period
ofwhichyou havebeen informed.

Effective: November 17, 2021
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Trading Window, Pre-clearanceofTrades, andPost-tradeNotification

Directors,ExecutiveOfficersandcertainAffiliateswhohavebeennotifiedby theCFO may
tradeintheCompany’ssecuritiesonly duringaTradingWindoweachquarter,as discussedinthelnsiderTradingPolicy
(andonly ifaBlack-OutPeriodisnotthen imposedonthem).DirectorsandExecutiveOfficersmay
tradeintheCompany’s securitiesonly afterobtainingpre-clearanceofthetradefromtheCFOandmustprovide post-
trade notificationtothe CFO. However, noDirector,Executive Officer orAffiliate
oftheCompanymaytradeatanytime,whetherornotduringaTradingWindow,when inpossessionofMaterialNon-
publicinformation,exceptpursuanttoanapprovedRule 10b5-1 plan.

Effective: November 17, 2021
14

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 124/133
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I ‘

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

EXHIBIT 21.1

CONSOLIDATED WATER CO. LTD.

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

The following list includes all of the Registrant’'s wholly-owned subsidiaries, majority-owned subsidiaries and affiliates as of December 31, 2022 December
31, 2023. All subsidiaries of the Registrant appearing in the following table are included in the consolidated financial statements of the Registrant.

Subsidiaries Jurisdiction of Organization
Aguas de Rosarito S.A.P.I. de C.V. (100%) Mexico
Aerex Industries, Inc. (100%) United States of America
Aquilex, Inc. (100%) United States of America
Cayman Water Company Limited (100%) Cayman Islands
Consolidated Water (Bahamas) Limited (90.9%) The Bahamas
Consolidated Water Cooperatief, U.A. (100%) Netherlands
Consolidated Water U.S. Holdings, Inc. (100%) United States of America
DesalCo Limited (100%) Cayman Islands
N.S.C. Agua, S.A. de C.V. (99.9%) Mexico
Ocean Conversion (BVI) Ltd. (Affiliate) The British Virgin Islands
Ocean Conversion (Cayman) Limited (100%) Cayman Islands
PERC Water Corporation (61% (100%) United States of America
Kalaeloa DesalCo LLC (100%) United States of America
Ramey Environmental Compliance, Inc. (100%) United States of America

EXHIBIT 23.1
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm’s Consent

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement of Consolidated Water Co. Ltd. on Form S-8( (File No. 333-187261 and File No.
333-187261) 333-276483) of our report dated March 30, 2023 March 27, 2024,with respect to our audits of the consolidated financial statements of
Consolidated Water Co. Ltd. as of December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 and 2021, 2022 and for each of the years in the two year period then ended,
which report is included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Consolidated Water Co. Ltd. for the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023.
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Isl Marcum LLP

West Palm Beach, Florida
March 30, 202327, 2024

EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

In connection with the Form 10-K of Consolidated Water Co. Ltd. for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof, I, Frederick W. McTaggart, certify, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, that:

1. I have reviewed the Form 10-K of Consolidated Water Co. Ltd. for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the

registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those

entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes

in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially

affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's Board of Directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are

reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal

control over financial reporting.

REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com | Contact Us 126/133
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written R E F I N I T I V I ‘

consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.


https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us

Date: March 30, 2023 March 27, 2024 By: Isl Frederick W. McTaggart
Name: Frederick W. McTaggart
Title:  Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

In connection with the Form 10-K of Consolidated Water Co. Ltd. for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof, |, David W. Sasnett, certify, pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
that:

1. I have reviewed the Form 10-K of Consolidated Water Co. Ltd. for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those

entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes

in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’'s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially

affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's Board of Directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are

reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal

control over financial reporting.
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Date: March 30, 2023 March 27, 2024 By: /sl David W. Sasnett

Name: David W. Sasnett
Title:  Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Form 10-K of Consolidated Water Co. Ltd. for the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Frederick W. McTaggart, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sec. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Company.

Date: March 30, 2023 March 27, 2024 By: /sl Frederick W. McTaggart

Name: Frederick W. McTaggart
Title:  Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

EXHIBIT 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Form 10-K of Consolidated Water Co. Ltd. for the year ended December 31, 2022 December 31, 2023 as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), |, David W. Sasnett, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sec. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Company.

Date: March 30, 2023 March 27, 2024 By: /sl David W. Sasnett

Name: David W. Sasnett
Title:  Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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EXHIBIT 97

CONSOLIDATED WATER CO. LTD.

INCENTIVE COMPENSATION RECOUPMENT POLICY

1. Introduction. The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Consolidated Water Co. Ltd. (the “Company”)
believes that it is in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders to create and maintain a culture that
emphasizes integrity and accountability and that reinforces the Company’s pay-for-performance compensation
philosophy. The Board has therefore adopted this policy which provides for the recoupment of Incentive-Based
Compensation in the event the Company is required to prepare a Restatement resulting from noncompliance with
financial reporting requirements under the federal securities laws (this “Policy”). This Policy is designed to
comply with Section 10D of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations
thereunder (collectively, the “Exchange Act”), and the corresponding listing standards adopted by The NASDAQ
Stock Market (“Nasdaq Requirements”).

2. Recoupment. If the Company is required to prepare a Restatement, the Board shall, unless the Board’s
Compensation Committee (the “Compensation Committee”) or, in the absence of the Compensation
Committee, a majority of the independent directors serving on the Board, determines it to be Impracticable, take
Reasonably Prompt Action to recoup all Recoverable Compensation from any Covered Person. Subject to
applicable law, the Board may seek to recoup Recoverable Compensation by requiring a Covered Person to
repay such amount to the Company; by adding “holdback” or deferral policies to incentive compensation; by
adding post-vesting “holding” or “no transfer” policies to equity awards; by set-off of a Covered Person’s other
compensation; by reducing future compensation; or by such other means or combination of means as the Board,
in its sole discretion, determines to be appropriate. This Policy is in addition to (and not in lieu of) any right of
repayment, forfeiture, or off-set against any Covered Person that may be available under applicable law or
otherwise (whether implemented prior to or after adoption of this Policy). The Board may, in its sole discretion
and in the exercise of its business judgment, determine whether and to what extent additional action is
appropriate to address the circumstances surrounding any Restatement to minimize the likelihood of any
recurrence and to impose such other discipline as it deems appropriate.

3. Administration of Policy. The Board shall have full authority to administer, amend, or terminate this
Policy and intends that this Policy will be applied to the fullest extent of the law. The Board shall, subject to the
provisions of this Policy, make such determinations and interpretations and take such actions in connection with
this Policy as it deems necessary, appropriate or advisable. All determinations and interpretations made by the
Board shall be final, binding and conclusive. The Board may delegate any of its powers under this Policy to the
Compensation Committee of the Board or, subject to the Nasdaq Requirements and the provisions of this Policy,
any subcommittee or delegate thereof. This Policy and all controversies arising from or relating to this Policy shall
be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware, without giving effect to its
conflicts of law principles. It is intended that this Policy be interpreted in a manner that is consistent with the
requirements of Section 10D of the Exchange Act and any applicable rules or standards adopted by the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) and any applicable Nasdag Requirement. For the avoidance
of doubt,

the enforcement of this Policy is not dependent on if or when any applicable restated financial statements are
filed with the SEC.

4. Acknowledgement by Executive Officers. The Board shall provide notice to and seek written
acknowledgement of, and agreement to be bound by, this Policy from each Executive Officer in the form of
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Appendix A (“Acknowledgement”); provided that the failure to provide such notice or obtain such
Acknowledgement shall have no impact on the applicability or enforceability of this Policy.

5. No Indemnification. Notwithstanding the terms of any of the Company’s organizational documents, any
corporate policy or any contract, no Covered Person shall be indemnified by the Company against the loss of any
Recoverable Compensation. Further, the Company shall not enter into any agreement that exempts any
Incentive-Based Compensation that is granted, paid or awarded to a Covered Person from the application of this
Policy or that waives the Company’s right to recovery of any Recoverable Compensation, and this Policy shall
supersede any such agreement (whether entered into before, on or after the Effective Date of this Policy).

6. Disclosures. The Company shall make all disclosures and filings with respect to this Policy and maintain
all documents and records that are required by the applicable rules and forms of the SEC (including, without
limitation, Rule 10D-1 promulgated under the Exchange Act) and any Nasdaq Requirement.

7. Effective Date. This Policy shall be effective as of the date it is adopted by the Board (the “Effective
Date”) and shall apply to Incentive-Based Compensation that is Received on or after October 2, 2023.

8. Amendment. The Board may amend this Policy from time to time in its discretion and shall amend this
Policy as it deems necessary to reflect any amendments or other changes to Section 10D of the Exchange Act or
any Nasdaq Requirement.

9. Definitions. In addition to terms otherwise defined in this Policy, the following terms, when used in this
Policy, shall have the following meanings:

“Applicable Period” means the three completed fiscal years, including any Transition Period, immediately
preceding the earlier of: (i) the date that the Board, a committee of the Board, or the officer or officers of
the Company authorized to take such action if Board action is not required, concludes, or reasonably
should have concluded, that the Company is required to prepare a Restatement or (ii) the date a court,
regulator or other legally authorized body directs the Company to prepare a Restatement.

“Covered Person” means any person who receives Recoverable Compensation.

“Executive Officer” means the Company'’s president, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer
(or if there is no such accounting officer, the controller), any vice-president of the Company in charge of a
principal business unit, division or function (such as sales, administration or finance), any other officer who
performs a policy-making

function, or any other person who performs similar policymaking functions for the Company. Executive
officers of the Company’s parent(s) or subsidiaries are deemed Executive Officers of the Company if they
perform such policy making functions for the Company.

“Financial Reporting Measure” means the measures that are determined and presented in accordance
with the accounting principles used in preparing the Company’s financial statements, and any measures
that are derived wholly or in part from such measures. Stock price and total shareholder return (“TSR”) are
also considered Financial Reporting Measures. A Financial Reporting Measure need not be presented
within the financial statements or included in a filing with the SEC.
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“Impracticable” means, after exercising a normal due process review of all the relevant facts and
circumstances and taking all steps required by Exchange Act Rule 10D-1 and any applicable Nasdaq
Requirement, the Compensation Committee or, in the absence of the Compensation Committee, a
majority of the independent directors serving on the Board, determines that recovery of the Incentive-
Based Compensation is impracticable because: (i) it has determined, after making a reasonable attempt to
recover such Incentive-Based Compensation, documented such reasonable attempt to recover and
provided that documentation to The NASDAQ Stock Market, that the direct expense that the Company
would pay to a third party to assist in recovering the Incentive-Based Compensation would exceed the
amount to be recovered; (ii) it has concluded that the recovery of the Incentive-Based Compensation
would violate home country law adopted prior to November 28, 2022 and has received a legal opinion
from home country counsel stating that the recovery would result in such a violation; or (i) it has
determined that the recovery of Incentive-Based Compensation would likely cause an otherwise tax-
qualified retirement plan, under which benefits are broadly available to the Company’s employees, to fail
to meet the requirements of 26 U.S.C. 401(a)(13) or 26 U.S.C. 411(a) and regulations thereunder.

“Incentive-Based Compensation” means any compensation that is granted, earned or vested based
wholly or in part upon the attainment of a Financial Reporting Measure.

“Reasonably Prompt Action” means that each of the Company, its directors and its officers act in a
manner that is consistent with the exercise of their applicable fiduciary duties to safeguard the assets of
the Company, including the time value of any potential Recoverable Compensation.

“Received’means Incentive-Based Compensation received in the Company’s fiscal period during which
the Financial Reporting Measure specified in the Incentive-Based Compensation award is attained, even if
the payment or grant of the Incentive-Based Compensation occurs after the end of that period.

“Recoverable Compensation” means all Incentive-Based Compensation (calculated on a pre-tax basis)
Received on or after the Effective Date by a person: (i) after beginning service as an Executive Officer; (ii)
who served as an Executive Officer at any time during the performance period for that Incentive-Based
Compensation (whether or not such

Executive Officer is serving at the time the Recoverable Compensation is required to be repaid to the
Company); (iii) while the Company had a class of securities listed on a national securities exchange or
national securities association; and (iv) during the Applicable Period, that exceeded the amount of
Incentive-Based Compensation that otherwise would have been Received had the amount been
determined based on the Financial Reporting Measures, as reflected in the Restatement. With respect to
Incentive-Based Compensation based on stock price or TSR, when the amount of erroneously awarded
compensation is not subject to mathematical recalculation directly from the information in an accounting
restatement, the amount must be based on a reasonable estimate of the effect of the Restatement on the
stock price or TSR upon which the Incentive-Based Compensation was received.

“Restatement” means an accounting restatement of any of the Company’s financial statements due to the
Company’s material noncompliance with any financial reporting requirement under U.S. securities laws,
including any required accounting restatement to correct an error in previously issued financial statements
that is material to the previously issued financial statements, or that would result in a material
misstatement if the error were corrected in the current period or left uncorrected in the current period.
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“Transition Period” means any transition period in the Company’s financial statements that is the result of
a change in the Company’s fiscal year within or immediately following the relevant three completed fiscal
year period; provided, however, a transition period between the last day of the Company’s previous fiscal
year and the first day of its new fiscal year that comprises a period of nine (9) to twelve (12) months shall
be deemed to be a completed fiscal year for purposes of this Policy.

Adopted by the Board on November 15, 2023.

Appendix A

AGREEMENT AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF POLICY FOR THE RECOVERY OF ERRONEOUSLY
AWARDED COMPENSATION

By my signature below, I, as an Executive Officer of Consolidated Water Co. Ltd. (the “Company”), acknowledge
and agree that:

1. | have received and read the attached Incentive Compensation Recoupment Policy (the “Policy”).

2. | am a Covered Person as defined in the Policy.

3. 1 will be bound by all of the terms and conditions of the Policy, Section 10D of the Exchange Act and any
applicable rules or standards adopted by the SEC, and any applicable Nasdagq Requirements both during
and after my employment with the Company, including, without limitation, by promptly repaying or
returning any Recoverable Compensation to the Company as determined in accordance with the Policy

and this Acknowledgement.

Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the Policy.

Signature:

Printed Name:

Date:
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DISCLAIMER

THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES DELTA REPORT™ |S A COMPARISON OF TWO
FINANCIALS PERIODIC REPORTS. THERE MAY BE MATERIAL ERRORS, OMISSIONS, OR INACCURACIES IN THE REPORT
INCLUDING THE TEXT AND THE COMPARISON DATA AND TABLES. IN NO WAY DOES REFINITIV OR THE APPLICABLE COMPANY
ASSUME ANY RESPONSIBILITY FOR ANY INVESTMENT OR OTHER DECISIONS MADE BASED UPON THE INFORMATION PROVIDED
IN THIS REPORT. USERS ARE ADVISED TO REVIEW THE APPLICABLE COMPANY’S ACTUAL SEC FILINGS BEFORE MAKING ANY
INVESTMENT OR OTHER DECISIONS.

©2024, Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Patents Pending.
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